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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF SUFFOLK

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
by Letitia James, Attorney General of the State of
New York,

Plaintiff,
-against-

PURDUE PHARMA L.P., PURDUE PHARMA
INC., THE PURDUE FREDERICK COMPANY,
INC., THE P.F. LABORATORIES, INC., PURDUE : SUPPLEMENTAL SUMMONS
HOLDINGS L.P., ROSEBAY MEDICAL :

COMPANY L.P., THE BEACON COMPANY, PLP

ASSOCIATES HOLDINGS, L.P., DOE ENTITIES

1-10, RICHARD S. SACKLER, JONATHAN D. .

SACKLER, MORTIMER D.A. SACKLER, KATHE

A. SACKLER, ILENE SACKLER LEFCOURT, : Index No.: 400016/2018

DAVID A. SACKLER, BEVERLY SACKLER,
THERESA SACKLER, JOHNSON & JOHNSON,
JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., ORTHO-
MCNEIL-JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.,
JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICA, INC.,
MALLINCKRODT PLC, MALLINCKRODT LLC,
SPECGX LLC, ENDO INTERNATIONAL PLC,
ENDO HEALTH SOLUTIONS INC., ENDO
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., PAR
PHARMACEUTICAL, INC., PAR
PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES, INC., TEVA
PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES LIMITED,
TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.,
CEPHALON, INC., ALLERGAN PLC, ALLERGAN
FINANCE, LLC, ACTAVIS PHARMA, INC.,
ACTAVIS LLC, WATSON LABORATORIES,
INC., MCKESSON CORPORATION, CARDINAL
HEALTH, INC., AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG
CORPORATION, ROCHESTER DRUG
COOPERATIVE, INC.,

Defendants.

TO THE ABOVE NAMED DEFENDANTS:

1 of 269



[FTCED__SUFFOLK_COUNTY CLERK 0372872019 09: 23 AM | NDEX NQ:, 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to answer the attached first amended complaint in
this action and to serve a copy of your answer on the Plaintiff’s attorney within twenty (20) days
after service of this summons, exclusive of the day of service, or within thirty (30) days after
service is complete if this summons is not personally delivered to you within the State of New
York. In case of your failure to appear or answer, judgment will be taken against you by default
for the relief demanded in the complaint. Plaintiff designates Suffolk County as the place for trial.

New York, New York
March 28, 2019

LETITIA JAMES
Attorney General of the State‘,Qf New York
Attomey Z}'Pjgmﬂﬂ e

David E. Nachman

Counsel for Opioids and Impact Litigation
28 Liberty Street

New York, New York 10005

Tel. (212) 416-8390

John Oleske
Senior Enforcement Counsel

Christopher K. Leung
Sara Haviva Mark
Special Counsels

Elizabeth Chesler
Conor Dufty
Carol Hunt
Diane Johnston
Michael D. Reisman
Jennifer Simcovitch
Paulina Stamatelos
Assistant Attorneys General

Of Counsel
Lisa Landau
Chief, Health Care Bureau
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Defendants’ address:

SEE ATTACHED DEFENDANTS RIDER
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DEFENDANTS RIDER

PURDUE PHARMA L.P.,
PURDUE PHARMA INC,,
THE PURDUE FREDERICK COMPANY, INC.

Mark S. Cheffo

Mara Cusker Gonzales

Dechert LLP

Three Bryant Park

1095 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Main: 212-698-3500

Fax: 212-698-3599
Mark.Cheffo@dechert.com
MaraCusker.Gonzalez@dechert.com
Attorneys for Defendants Purdue Pharma L.P., Purdue Pharma Inc.,
and The Purdue Frederick Company, Inc.

MORTIMER D.A. SACKLER
KATHE A. SACKLER

ILENE SACKLER LEFCOURT
THERESA SACKLER

Mary Jo White

Maura Kathleen Monaghan

Debevoise & Plimpton

919 Third Avenue

New York, NY 10022

Tel: +1 212 909 6000

Fax: +1 212 909 6836

Attorneys for Defendants Mortimer D.A. Sackler, Kathe A. Sackler,
llene Sackler Lefcourt, and Theresa Sackler.

RICHARD S. SACKLER
JONATHAN D. SACKLER
DAVID A. SACKLER
BEVERLY SACKLER

Gregory P. Joseph

Mara Leventhal

Joseph Hage Aaronson LLC

485 Lexington Avenue, 30th Floor
New York, New York 10017

Tel: +1212-407-1210

Fax: +1 (212) 407-1299
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Attorneys for Defendants Richard S. Sackler, Jonathan D. Sackler,
David A. Sackler, and Beverly Sackler

JOHNSON & JOHNSON
One Johnson & Johnson Plaza
New Brunswick, NJ 08933

JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.,
1125 Trenton-Harbourton Road
Titusville, NJ 08560

ORTHO-MCNEIL-JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
1125 Trenton-Harbourton Road
Titusville, NJ 08560

JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICA, INC.
1125 Trenton-Harbourton Road
Titusville, NJ 08560

Vincent J. Messina Jr.

SINNREICH KOSAKOFF & MESSINA, LLP
267 Carleton Avenue, Ste. 301

Central Islip, New York 11722

(631) 650-1200

vmessina@skmlaw.net

Charles C. Lifland
O’MELVENY & MYERS LLP
400 S. Hope Street

Los Angeles, CA 90071

(213) 430-6000
clifland@omm.com

Ross Galin

Daniel J. Franklin

O’MELVENY & MYERS LLP

7 Times Square

New York, NY 10036

(212) 326-2000

rgalin@omm.com

dfranklin@omm.com

Attorneys for Defendants Johnson & Johnson, Janssen Pharmaceuticals Inc.,
Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc.
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MALLINCKRODT PLC

3 Lotus Park

The Causeway

Staines-Upon-Thames, Surrey TW18 3AG
United Kingdom

Principal U.S. Office
675 James S. McDonnell Blvd
Hazelwood, MO 63042

MALLINCKRODT LLC
675 James S. McDonnell Blvd
Hazelwood, MO 63042

SPECGX LLC
120 South Central Avenue
Clayton, MO 63105

Amy W. Malone

Nicholas S. Bradley

ROPES & GRAY LLP

1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036-8704
(212) 596-9608
amy.malone@ropesgray.com
nick.bradley@ropesgray.com

Brien T. O’Connor

Andrew J. O’Connor

Ropes & Gray LLP

800 Boylston Street

Boston, MA 02199

(617) 235-4650
brien.o’connor@ropesgray.com
andrew.o’connor@ropesgray.com
Attorneys for Defendants Mallinckrodt LLC
and Specgx LLC

ENDO INTERNATIONAL PLC
Minerva House

First Floor

Simmonscourt Road

Ballsbridge

Dublin, 4 Ireland

U.S. Headquarters
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1400 Atwater Drive
Malvern, PA 19355

ENDO HEALTH SOLUTIONS INC.
1400 Atwater Drive
Malvern, PA 19355

ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
1400 Atwater Drive
Malvern, PA 19355

PAR PHARMACEUTICAL, INC.
One Ram Ridge Road
Chestnut Ridge, NY 10977

PAR PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES, INC.
One Ram Ridge Road
Chestnut Ridge, NY 10977

Ingo W. Sprie, Jr.

ARNOLD & PORTER KAYE SCHOLER LLP
250 West 55th Street

New York, NY 10019-9710

(212) 836-8000

ingo.sprie@apks.com

Sean Morris

ARNOLD & PORTER KAYE SCHOLER LLP

777 S. Figueroa Street 44th Floor

Los Angeles, CA 90017

(213) 243-4000

sean.morris@apks.com

Attorneys for Defendants Endo Health Solutions Inc., Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc.,
Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., and Par Pharmaceutical Companies, Inc.

ALLERGAN PLC

Clonshaugh Business and Technology Park
Coolock, Dublin, D17 E400

Ireland

U.S. Administrative Headquarters
5 Giralda Farms
Madison, NJ 07940

ALLERGAN FINANCE, LLC
5 Giralda Farms
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Madison, NJ 07940

Jennifer G. Levy
KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP
655 Fifteenth Street, NW
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 879-5000
jennifer.levy@kirkland.com

Donna Welch, P.C.

Martin L. Roth

Timothy Knapp

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP

300 North LaSalle

Chicago, Illinois 60654

(312) 862-2000
donna.welch@kirkland.com
martin.roth@kirkland.com
timothy.knapp@kirkland.com
Attorneys for Defendants Allergan Finance LLC f/k/a Actavis, Inc.
f/k/a Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

ACTAYVIS PHARMA, INC.
400 Interpace Parkway
Morris Corporate Center 111
Parsippany, NJ 07054

ACTAVIS LLC
400 Interpace Parkway
Parsippany, NJ 07054

WATSON LABORATORIES, INC.
132 Business Center Drive
Corona, CA 92880-1724

TEVA PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES LIMITED
5 Basel Street

Petach Tikva, 4951033

Israel

North American Headquarters
1090 Horsham Road
North Wales, PA 19454

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.
1090 Horsham Road
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North Wales, PA 19454

CEPHALON, INC.
41 Moores Road
Frazer, PA 19355

Stacey Anne Mahoney

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP

101 Park Avenue

New York, NY 10178-0060 (212) 309-6930
stacey.mahoney@morganlewis.com

Steven A. Reed

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP

1701 Market Street

Philadelphia, PA 19103-2921

(215) 963-5000

steven.reed@morganlewis.com

Attorneys for Defendants Cephalon, Inc., Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.,
Watson Laboratories, Inc., Actavis LLC, and Actavis Pharma, Inc.

MCKESSON CORPORATION
One Post Street
San Francisco, CA, 94104

Neil K. Roman

David A. Luttinger

Shailee Diwanji Sharma

Alexander Setzepfandt

Madison Arent

COVINGTON & BURLING LLP

The New York Times Building

620 Eighth Avenue

New York, New York 10018 (212) 841-1000
nroman(@cov.com

ssharma@cov.com

Attorneys for Defendant McKesson Corporation

CARDINAL HEALTH, INC.
7000 Cardinal Place
Dublin, Ohio 43017

James M. Wicks

Kevin P. Mulry
FARRELL FRITZ, P.C.
400 RXR Plaza
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Uniondale, New York 11556 (516) 227-0700
iwicks@farrellfritz.com
kmulry@farrellfritz.com

Enu Mainigi

F. Lane Heard

Steven M. Pyser

Ashley W. Hardin

WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY LLP
725 Twelfth Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20005

(202) 434-5000
emainigi@wc.com
lheard@wc.com

spyser@wc.com
ahardin@wc.com

Attorneys for Defendant Cardinal Health Inc.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION
1300 Morris Drive
Chesterbrook, PA 19087

Robert A. Nicholas

Shannon E. McClure

REED SMITH LLP

Three Logan Square

1717 Arch Street, Suite 3100
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103
(215) 851-8100
rnicholas@reedsmith.com
smcclure@reedsmith.com

A.L. Emch

JACKSON KELLY PLLC

500 Lee Street East Suite 1600
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
(304) 340-1172
aemch@jacksonkelly.com

Paul E. Asfendis

GIBBONS P.C.

One Pennsylvania Plaza

New York, New York 10119

(212) 613-2000

pasfendis@gibbonslaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation.
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ROCHESTER DRUG COOPERATIVE, INC.
50 Jetview Drive
Rochester, New York 14624

David A. Berger

James R. Schiffer

John S. Craig

David A. Shaiman

ALLEGAERT BERGER & VOGEL LLP
111 Broadway, 20th Floor

New York, New York 10006

(212) 571-0550

dberger@abv.com

jschiffer@abv.com

jeraig@abv.com

dshaiman@abv.com

Attorneys for Defendant Rochester Drug Cooperative, Inc.

THE P.F. LABORATORIES, INC.
700 Union Blvd
Totowa, NJ 07512

PURDUE HOLDINGS L.P.
One Stamford Forum

Stamford, CT 06901

c/o Corporation Service Agent
2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400
Wilmington, DE 19808

ROSEBAY MEDICAL COMPANY, L.P.
C/O NORTH BAY ASSOCIATES

14000 QUAIL SPRINGS PARKWAY #2200
Oklahoma City, OK 73134

THE BEACON COMPANY
One Stamford Forum
Stamford, CT 06901

c/o Corporation Service Agent
251 Little Falls Drive
Wilmington, DE 19808

PLP ASSOCIATES HOLDINGS, L.P.
One Stamford Forum
Stamford, CT 06901
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF SUFFOLK

-—-- --X
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

by Letitia James, Attorney General of the State of

New York,

Plaintiff,
-against-

PURDUE PHARMA L.P., PURDUE PHARMA

INC., THE PURDUE FREDERICK COMPANY,
INC., THE P.F. LABORATORIES, INC., PURDUE : FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
HOLDINGS L.P., ROSEBAY MEDICAL :
COMPANY L.P., THE BEACON COMPANY, PLP
ASSOCIATES HOLDINGS, L.P., DOE ENTITIES
1-10, RICHARD S. SACKLER, JONATHAN D. _
SACKLER, MORTIMER D.A. SACKLER, KATHE
A. SACKLER, ILENE SACKLER LEFCOURT, : Index No.: 400016/2018
DAVID A. SACKLER, BEVERLY SACKLER,
THERESA SACKLER, JOHNSON & JOHNSON,
JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., ORTHO-
MCNEIL-JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.,
JANSSEN PHARMACEUTICA, INC.,
MALLINCKRODT PLC, MALLINCKRODT LLC,
SPECGX LLC, ENDO INTERNATIONAL PLC,
ENDO HEALTH SOLUTIONS INC., ENDO
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., PAR
PHARMACEUTICAL, INC., PAR
PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES, INC., TEVA
PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES LIMITED,
TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.,
CEPHALON, INC., ALLERGAN PLC, ALLERGAN
FINANCE, LLC, ACTAVIS PHARMA, INC.,
ACTAVIS LLC, WATSON LABORATORIES,

INC., MCKESSON CORPORATION, CARDINAL
HEALTH, INC., AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG
CORPORATION, ROCHESTER DRUG
COOPERATIVE, INC.,

Defendants.
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Plaintiff, The People of the State of New York (the “State”), through its attorney, Letitia
James, Attorney General of the State of New York, alleges the following, with personal knowledge
of the actions of the Office of the Attorney General (“OAG”) and upon information and belief as
to the action of others:

INTRODUCTION

1. New York State is in the throes of an opioid' epidemic that has ravaged the lives of its
residents and drained its public coffers for more than two decades. This statewide catastrophe
happened because the Defendants in this case—the drug manufacturers and distributors entrusted
under New York law with critical roles in preventing the misuse and diversion of controlled
substances—deliberately betrayed those duties through a persistent course of fraudulent and illegal
misconduct, in order to profiteer from the plague they knew would be unleashed. Plaintiff brings
this lawsuit to compel these unrepentant culprits to abate the dangers posed by the enduring public
nuisance they generated, enjoin the ongoing threats posed by their continuing misconduct, and hold
them accountable in law and equity for the devastation they have inflicted on the State and its
residents.

2. Each day, more than 130 people in the United States, and about nine who live in New
York, die as a result of opioid-related overdoses. These people are not—and cannot become—just
statistics. They are our family, our friends, our neighbors. They are our fathers and our sons, our
mothers and our daughters. They have real names and their deaths have left real, jagged holes in

the fabric of the communities where they used to live.

! As used herein, “opioid(s)” refers to the entire class of powerful narcotic painkillers derived from opium or that
mimic its effects, including older, mostly non-synthetic drugs like codeine, morphine, and heroin that some sources
separately classify as “opiates,” as well as newer, mostly-synthetic drugs like oxycodone, hydrocodone and fentanyl
that those sources may distinguish as “opioids.”
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3. They are real people, like Saige December Earley, of Cazenovia, New York,
population 2,835. She was prescribed opioids by the dentist who extracted her wisdom teeth in
spring 2017. When the prescription, but not the dependence it had left her with, had ended, she
turned to the streets, and heroin—abandoning her two-year-old son to his grandparents. A year
later, after committing to recovery, Saige returned home, determined to stay sober and care for her
child. She rekindled her passion for dance, music, and art, and reconnected with her mother over
homemade peanut butter cookies and late-night movies. But after a friend died from an overdose,
she relapsed. Knowing she was in crisis, she booked herself into a treatment facility in California.
She never made it. She died in a bathroom stall at the Syracuse airport terminal with a needle in
her arm, and her boarding pass in her hand.

[Saige] needed to run. But she always wanted to return, to make us
laugh, to love her baby, to show us this cruel yet fascinating world
through her eyes. She ran again last weekend....just a little too far
this time. She left a tribe that loved her and that tribe will keep her
memory and spirit alive as we care for her son.

Saige December Earley was 23 years old.>

4. These individual stories add up to a terrible toll. Since 1999, the scourge of opioid

addiction unleashed by the Defendants in this action has taken nearly 400,000 lives:*

2 Saige December Earley Obituary, Syracuse Post Standard, Sept. 19, 2018, available at

http://obits.syracuse.com/obituaries/syracuse/obituary.aspx?n=saige-december-
earley&pid=190265564&thid=22206.

3 Understanding the Epidemic, Ctrs. for Disease Control and Prevention (Dec. 19, 2018),
https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/epidemic/index html (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).

2
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So deep and wide is the swath cut by these corporate wrongdoers that for the first time since the

Second World War, the average life expectancy of an American has now fallen—for three

consecutive years.

The Origin and Explosion of the Opioid Crisis

5. The taproot of the opioid epidemic is easy to identify: OxyContin. In 1996, Purdue

launched its “revolutionary” new opioid drug with a nationwide marketing campaign that relied on

deception and insider payoffs to overcome a long-established medical understanding that opioids

4 See Opioid Overdose Crisis, Nat’l Inst. on Drug Abuse (Rev’d Jan. 2019) (Supporting Data Document, identifying
42,249 opioid related deaths in 2016, and 49,069 such deaths for 2017), https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugs-
abuse/opioids/opioid-overdose-crisis#one (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).

3
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posed a high risk of addiction and abuse, and should only be prescribed for short-term acute pain,
cancer, or end-of-life care. Purdue’s competitors quickly followed suit.

6. Together, these drug manufacturers (the “Manufacturer Defendants™) collaborated to
falsely deny the serious risks of opioid addiction generally, and high-dose opioid prescriptions
specifically. At the same time, they created and promoted the concept of “pseudoaddiction”—a
made-up term designed to re-cast familiar symptoms of addiction as signs that patients needed more
opioid drugs. They falsely claimed that their opioid drugs could be counted on to improve chronic
pain patients’ function and quality of life, and that their extended-release opioid formulations would
provide effective pain relief for 12 hours, when they knew there was no scientific support for those
claims. And they misleadingly suggested that other pain relief methods were riskier than opioids,
while falsely claiming that opioid dependence and withdrawal could be easily managed and
effectively prevented with unproven screening tools and management techniques.

7. Each Manufacturer Defendant spent millions of dollars over the following decade to
push these fraudulent messages. They pushed their own name-brand drugs by “detailing” their
sales representatives to target susceptible doctors with in-person visits, flooding medical
publications with deceptive advertisements, and offering consumers discount cards to entice them
to request treatment with their products. And they collaborated to promote the overall expansion
of the opioid market by sponsoring misleading Continuing Medical Education (“CME”) seminars
and manipulating seemingly independent organizations (“Front Groups”) that the manufacturers
funded and disguised as “unbiased” sources of cutting-edge medical research and information. Both
the Front Groups and CME seminars depended on co-opted doctors—so-called “Key Opinion

Leaders” (“KOLs”)—that the manufacturers recruited and paid.
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8. The scheme was spectacularly successful. From 2000 through 2011, the number of
prescriptions for the Manufacturer Defendants’ opioid drugs more than quadrupled nationwide,
even though there was no scientific basis for any significant increase in opioid treatment as
medically necessary or appropriate. This scheme was particularly effective in New York, where

opioid prescriptions rose ninefold during the same time period.
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9. This first wave of the opioid epidemic could not have crested so high, however, without
the fraud, willful misconduct, and/or gross negligence of the pharmaceutical distributors named as
defendants in this action (the “Distributor Defendants”), who buy controlled substances in bulk
from the Manufacturer Defendants and then sell them to individual pharmacies and other licensed

dispensers.

> ARCOS Retail Drug Summary Reports, Drug Enforcement Admin. Diversion Control Div.,
https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/arcos/retail drug summary (last visited Mar. 25, 2019); Population and Housing
Unit Estimates, U.S. Census Bureau, https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/popest.html (last visited Mar. 25,
2019).
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10. Indeed, both the Manufacturer Defendants and the Distributor Defendants knew that
their internal compliance systems were totally inadequate to provide the anti-diversion monitoring
function that was (and is) legally required of all companies selling controlled substances in New
York. And even though their customers were displaying a continuous parade of red flags indicating
illegal activity, they continued to pour enormous volumes of opioid drugs into those customers’
dispensaries. All the while, they lied to New York regulators, both affirmatively and by omission,
about these and other violations of the New York Controlled Substance Act, N.Y. Public Health
Law (“PHL”) §§ 3300 et seq. (the “NYCSA”), in order to maintain their licenses.

11. While the Manufacturer Defendants may have invented and perpetuated the fraudulent
messaging aimed at doctors and patients, the Distributor Defendants were the ones that jammed
open the floodgates, saturating the State’s pharmacies with the Manufacturer Defendants’ opioids.
This saturation enabled the “pill mill” prescribers who had been stoked by the fraudulent marketing
campaign to have massive prescriptions for their addicted patients filled by the Distributor
Defendants’ pharmacy customers without drawing any meaningful scrutiny.

12. The second wave of the opioid crisis was triggered in August 2010 when Purdue
released a purportedly “abuse deterrent” version of OxyContin, and withdrew the original
formulation from the market. The release of this reformulation, covered by a new patent, allowed
Purdue to keep its highly-profitable and heavily marketed drug “on brand,” ensuring that it could
continue to charge a premium, rather than have prices slip in the face of competition from generic
versions produced by other manufacturers. Other manufacturers immediately followed Purdue’s
lead—again—with similar reformulations of their own opioid products. Notwithstanding the

implicit concession of these reformulations that the first wave of opioid drugs were dangerously
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addictive and subject to misuse, none of the Defendants changed their behavior, except for the
worse.

13. The Manufacturer Defendants did not stop lying about the risks and alleged benefits of
opioids, reform their anti-diversion policies and practices, or tell New York regulators the truth
about their violations of the NYCSA. Instead, they simply added new falsehoods about the
effectiveness of the new formulations to the fraudulent repertoire employed by their sales
representatives, speaker’s programs, and front groups. Meanwhile, the Manufacturer Defendants
lobbied state and federal regulators to mandate the use of their brand-protected “abuse deterrent”
formulations, despite the pills costing nearly twice as much as the original versions.5

14. Meanwhile, the Distributor Defendants continued to turn a blind eye to their obvious
compliance deficiencies while competing with each other to take on high-risk pharmacies in New
York as customers. Indeed, by this time, two of the four Distributor Defendants had weighed down
their already defective compliance systems with acquisitions of smaller, regional companies with
even shoddier safeguards, and whose New York customers exhibited an even higher number of
unresolved warning signs than their existing customer bases.

15. As a result, prescriptions in New York for the Manufacturer Defendants’ opioid drugs
continued to climb, and to be easily filled by the Distributor Defendants’ pharmacy customers, even
as the dangers of opioid misuse became so obvious as to prompt reformulation of those drugs, and
even as the pills themselves became more expensive.

16. To the extent the Manufacturer Defendants’ “abuse deterrent” opioids had an impact,

it was one that was dire, if predictable: driving patients to a cheaper and more available alternative

% Drugmakers Promote Profitable, but Unproven, Opioid Solutions, CBS News, Dec. 15, 2016, available at
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/opioid-epidemic-drugmakers-promote-profitable-but-unproven-solution.

7
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that could be counted on to deliver the fix the manufacturers had hooked them on in the first place—
heroin. Indeed, as many as 80% of all heroin users first became dependent on opioids as a result of
a “legitimate” prescription for the Defendants’ products.” Over the next three years, while the
Defendants all continued to gorge themselves on profits from increasing opioid sales, the more
desperate of their victims, unable to “score” from their original “dealers,” fueled a threefold
increase in heroin-related fatalities among New Yorkers.

17.In 2013, an even more terrifying third wave of the opioid crisis, under which New
Yorkers are still drowning, was set off by an extension of the heroin-substitution trap into which
the Defendants should have known their victims would fall. Specifically, heroin dealers began
profiteering by “cutting” their product with massive increases of inactive adulterants, and
attempting to achieve the same intoxicating and addictive effects by introducing small quantities of
fentanyl, a synthetic opioid that is ten times cheaper but 50 times more powerful then heroin itself.®

18. Opioid users began dying at an unprecedented rate as they overdosed on the
unpredictable, uncontrollable, and undetectable amounts of fentanyl contained in any given batch
of street heroin. This, in turn, led to a flourishing new market for counterfeit opioid pills among
those seeking the relative “safety” of the Defendants’ products—a cruel hoax, given that the

counterfeits are themselves laced with deadly fentanyl. At the same time, more and more patients

7 Christopher M. Jones, Heroin Use and Heroin Use Risk Behaviors Among Nonmedical Users of Prescription Opioid
Pain Relievers—United States, 2002-2004 and 2008-2010, 132 Drug Alcohol Dependence 95-100 (2013); Pradip K.
Mubhuri et al., Associations of Nonmedical Pain Reliever Use and Initiation of Heroin Use in the United States,
CBHSQ Data Review (Aug. 2013), available at
https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/DR006/DR006/nonmedical-pain-reliever-use-2013 htm.

8 Synthetic Opioid Overdose Data, Ctrs. For Disease Control and Prevention (Dec. 19. 2018),
https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/data/fentanyl.html, (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).
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were pushed into this death trap by the Manufacturer Defendants, who increased the prices for their
branded opioid drugs by more than 50% between 2013 and 2016.°

19. This latest surge of the opioid crisis has been the deadliest and most intractable: opioid-
related overdose fatalities in the State have more than doubled since 2013—with a 30-fold increase
in fentanyl-related deaths in New York City'°—even though opioid prescriptions in New York have
been decreasing since that same year, when the state began implementing a Prescription Drug
Monitoring Program (“PDMP”’) that requires prescribers to check a database recording all of their

patients’ other prescriptions for controlled substances:
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11

9 U.S. Food and Drug Admin., FDA Analysis of Long-Term Trends in Prescription Opioid Analgesic Products:
Quantity, Sales, and Price Trends (Mar. 1, 2018), available at
https://www.fda.gov/downloads/AboutFDA/ReportsManualsForms/Reports/UCMS598899.pdf.

10 Cody Colon-Berezin et al., Overdose Deaths Involving Fentanyl and Fentanyl Analogs — New York City, 2000~
2017, 68 Morbidity &  Mortality Wkly. Rep. 3740 (Jan. 18, 2019), available at
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/68/wr/mm6802a3 htm.

' Ctrs. for Disease Control and Prevention Wide-Ranging Online Data for Epidemiologic Research (CDC
WONDER), https://wonder.cdc.gov/ (data accessed Feb. 5, 2019); ARCOS Retail Drug Summary Reports, Drug
Enforcement Admin. Diversion Control Div., https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/arcos/retail drug_summary (last
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20. It is now clear that nobody in the State is safe from Defendants’ depredations. Not the
elderly, who are hospitalized more than five times as often for opioid overuse as they were when
OxyContin exploded onto the market.!> Not our State’s veterans, who are twice as likely to die
from an opioids overdose as those who have not served in the military.!> Not even our families’
newborns, who are now more than four times as likely to suffer from Neonatal Abstinence
Syndrome—forced to endure physical withdrawal from opioids as they struggle to take their first
breaths and open their eyes to the world—than they were just a decade ago.

21. As the enormity of the Defendants’ misconduct has begun to be uncovered through the
course of multiple governmental investigations, they have made cosmetic and inconsequential
changes to their practices to settle those investigations and to deflect public outrage. Nonetheless,
they remain defiant and unaccountable for the immense damage they have done, and indifferent to
their corporate responsibilities moving forward. The Manufacturer Defendants may have curtailed
their deceptive-marketing spree, but they have done nothing to correct the misinformation they
propagated in the medical community, which sparked the crisis in the first place, and is still putting
patients at risk. Likewise, the Distributor Defendants are now paying lip service to their legal duties
under the NYCSA to prevent the diversion of opioids, but their compliance systems remain deeply
flawed in ways that are continuing to enable and perpetuate the oversupply of these deadly and

addictive drugs at pharmacies throughout the State.

visited Mar. 25, 2019); Population and Housing Unit Estimates, U.S. Census Bureau,
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/popest.html (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).

12 Uma Suryadevara et al., Opioid Use in the Elderly, Psychiatric Times, Jan. 30, 2018, available at
https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/special-reports/opioid-use-elderly.

13 Barbara Goldberg, Opioid Abuse Crisis Takes Heavy Toll on U.S. Veterans, Reuters, Nov. 10, 2017, available at
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-veterans-opioids/opioid-abuse-crisis-takes-heavy-toll-on-u-s-veterans-
idUSKBN1DA1B2.

10
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The Danger Still Looming, the Damage Done, and the Remedies Required

22. First and foremost, Plaintiff seeks to protect the State and its residents from the ongoing
threat posed by the public nuisance Defendants have created, and the lawless practices they are
bound to continue if not restrained. The dangers posed by the Defendants’ enduring impact in
warping the perception and availability of opioids will remain embedded in the landscape of the
State until and unless they are compelled to root it out. Indeed, New York already spends hundreds
of millions annually on support, treatment, and recovery programs, residential services, 24/7 urgent
access centers, community coalitions, family support navigators, and overdose-reversing naloxone
kits and training. Yet despite these efforts, the State’s rate of opioid-related deaths continues its

steady climb:!'4

14 See also N.Y. State Office of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Services (OASAS), New York State Epidemiological
Profile: Substance Abuse and Other Mental, Emotional, and Behavioral (MEB) Disorders (Nov. 2018) available at
https://www.oasas.ny.gov/prevention/documents/NYS Epidemiological Profile 12 18.pdf _(noting that opioid
overdose deaths increased statewide by 192.4% from 2007-16); Office of the N.Y. State Comptroller, Prescription
Opioid Abuse and Heroin Addiction in New York State 1-2 (June 2016), available at
https://www.osc.state.ny.us/press/releases/june16/heroin_and opioids.pdf.

11
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23. However, prospective remedies alone will not suffice to work justice here. The State

and its residents have already suffered a staggering toll as a result of the Defendants’ misconduct:

thousands of lives lost, thousands more families destroyed, and communities broken in every part

of the State.

24. From some of these injuries certain measures of economic loss can be distilled,

including, for example: sums spent by the State on fraudulently-induced reimbursements of

improper opioid prescriptions; lost productivity among state workers impacted by the opioid crisis;

and increased public health and public safety expenditures.

25. Other injuries inflicted by the Defendants, though, can only addressed, however

imprecisely, through the imposition of strict liability for the per se statutory penalties the

Defendants knowingly courted by violating their legal duties, or by resorting to the flexibility of

the equitable remedies available to Plaintiff and the Court.

12
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26. Accordingly, the State of New York brings this action to protect its residents, families,
and communities, end this continuing tragedy playing out across the State, and bring accountability
to those responsible for causing this crisis.

27. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks an order: (i) requiring Defendants to endow an abatement
fund with sufficient capital to eliminate the public nuisance they have created; (ii) enjoining
Defendants from marketing or distributing opioids in New York unless they comply with
heightened and independently-monitored safeguards against the recurrence of their fraudulent and
illegal practices; (ii1) compelling Defendants to correct their false and misleading public statements
and omissions concerning those practices; (iv) awarding Plaintiff monetary damages for the full
range of economic injuries Defendants’ misconduct has inflicted on New York State; (v) awarding
Plaintiff statutory penalties for each and every violation of New York’s controlled-substance and
consumer-protection laws by Defendants; (vi) declaring the Defendants’ licenses to manufacture
and/or distribute controlled substances void ab initio on the grounds that those licenses were
improperly procured; (vii) fashioning appropriate equitable remedies, including, without limitation,
disgorgement of all ill-gotten gains and restitution where and when it can practicably be made; (viii)
awarding Plaintiff punitive damages due to the egregious nature of defendants’ fraud, willful
misconduct, and/or gross negligence; and (ix) granting such other relief as the Court may deem just.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

28. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to New Y ork Constitution, Article VI, § 7(a), and
Judiciary Law § 140-b. No claim or substantial question of federal law is alleged.

29. This Court has personal jurisdiction over each defendant pursuant to Civil Practice Law
and Rules §§ 301 and 302. Each Defendant transacts substantial business within the State and has
committed and continues to commit tortious acts within the State; and several own, use, or possess

real property situated within the State.
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30. Venue in this district is proper pursuant to Civil Practice Law and Rules § 505, and the
New York Litigation Coordinating Panel’s Decision and Order, issued July 17, 2017 (NYSCEF
Doc. No. 1, filed July 31, 2017).

PARTIES
Plaintiff

31. Plaintiff, The People of the State of New York, brings this action through its Attorney
General, Letitia James, in its sovereign capacity to protect the interests of the State and its citizens.
This action is brought pursuant to the Attorney General’s common law and statutory authority
including, inter alia, Executive Law § 63 and General Business Law Article 22-A.

Defendants

32. The Defendants in this action are the opioid manufacturers and distributors that largely

fueled the State’s opioid crisis.

A. The Manufacturer Defendants

33. The Manufacturer Defendants are the entities and individuals responsible for

manufacturing and marketing the opioids that fueled the opioid epidemic within the State.
1. Purdue and the Sackler Defendants

34. Defendant Purdue Pharma L.P. is a limited partnership organized under the laws of
Delaware. Its principal place of business is Stamford, Connecticut.

35. Defendant Purdue Pharma Inc. is a New York corporation and is the general partner of,
and ultimately controls, Purdue Pharma L.P. Its principal place of business is Stamford,
Connecticut.

36. Defendant Purdue Holdings L.P. is a Delaware limited partnership and wholly owns

the limited partnership interest in Purdue Pharma L.P.
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37. Defendant The Purdue Frederick Company, Inc. is a New York corporation. Its
principal place of business is Stamford, Connecticut.

38. Defendant The P.F. Laboratories, Inc. (“PF Labs™) is a New Jersey corporation. Its
principal place of business is Totowa, New Jersey.

39. The above-identified Defendants and their DEA registrant subsidiaries and affiliates
are collectively are referred to as “Purdue.”

40. At all relevant times, Purdue, which is a collection of private companies, has been
controlled by members of the extended Sackler family, who are the ultimate intended beneficiaries
of virtually all of Purdue’s profit distributions. The individual Defendants named in this action are
the remaining living Sackler family members who served on the board of Purdue Pharma, Inc. (the

“Purdue board”), which functioned as the nexus of decision-making for all of Purdue. [N

41. Defendant Richard S. Sackler became a member of the Purdue board in 1990 and
became its co-chair in 2003, which he remained until he left the board in 2018. He was also
Purdue’s head of research and development from at least 1990 through 1999, and its president from
1999 through 2003. He resides in New York, Florida, and Texas. He currently holds an active
license to practice medicine issued by the New York State Education Department. He is a trustee
of the Sackler School of Medicine, a director and the vice president of the Raymond and Beverly
Sackler Foundation, and a director and the president and treasurer of the Richard and Beth Sackler
Foundation Inc., all three of which are New Y ork Not-for-Profit Corporations. In September 2017,
through a trust he ultimately controls for the benefit of his children and grandchildren, and with

proceeds from his interests in Purdue, he purchased a condominium on Manhattan’s East Side for
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$3.225 million.

42. Defendant Jonathan D. Sackler was a member of Purdue’s board from 1990 through
2018. He resides in Connecticut. He is a trustee of the Sackler School of Medicine, the president
and CEO of the Raymond and Beverly Sackler Foundation, and the vice president of the Richard
and Beth Sackler Foundation Inc., all three of which are New York Not-for-Profit Corporations.

43. Defendant Mortimer D.A. Sackler has been a member of Purdue’s board since 1993.
He resides in New York. Mortimer is a director and the president of the Mortimer and Jacqueline
Sackler Foundation, and a director and the vice president and treasurer of the Mortimer D. Sackler
Foundation, Inc., both of which are New York Not-for-Profit Corporations.

44. Defendant Kathe A. Sackler was a member of Purdue’s board from 1990 through
2018. She resides in New York and Connecticut, and owns an estate in Suffolk County valued at
approximately $5 million. Kathe is a director and president of the Shack Sackler Foundation, a
director and the vice president and secretary of the Mortimer D. Sackler Foundation Inc., and is a
governor of the New York Academy of Sciences, all three of which are New York Not-for-Profit
Corporations.

45. Defendant Ilene Sackler Lefcourt was a member of Purdue’s board between 1990 and
2018. She resides in New York. She is a director of Columbia University and is the president of
the Sackler Lefcourt Center for Child Development Inc., both of which are New York Not-for-
Profit Corporations.

46. Defendant David A. Sackler was a member of Purdue’s board from 2012 through
2018. He resides in New York. In 2012, he purchased a $6 million apartment on Manhattan’s
East Side with the proceeds from his interests in Purdue.

47. Defendant Beverly Sackler was a member of Purdue’s board from 1993 through 2017.
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She resides in Connecticut. Beverly Sackler serves as a Director and the Secretary and Treasurer
of the Raymond and Beverly Sackler Foundation, a New York Not-for-Profit Corporation.

48. Defendant Theresa Sackler was a member of Purdue’s board from 1993 through 2018.
She resides in New York and the United Kingdom. In 2011, she purchased a multimillion-dollar
apartment on Manhattan’s Fifth Avenue with the proceeds from her interests in Purdue.

49. These individual Defendants used a number of known and unknown entities named as
Defendants herein as vehicles to transfer funds from Purdue directly or indirectly to themselves.
These include:

50. Defendant PLP Associates Holdings L.P., which is a Delaware limited partnership and
a limited partner of Purdue Holdings L.P. Its partners are PLP Associates Holdings Inc. and BR
Holdings Associates L.P.

51. Defendant Rosebay Medical Company L.P., which is a Delaware limited partnership
ultimately owned by trusts for the benefit of one or more of the individual Defendants. Its general
partner is Rosebay Medical Company, Inc., a citizen of Delaware and Connecticut. The Board of
Directors of Rosebay Medical Company, Inc. includes board members Richard S. Sackler, and
Jonathan D. Sackler.

52. Defendant Beacon Company, which is a Delaware general partnership ultimately
owned by trusts for the benefit of members of one or more of the individual Defendants.

53. Defendant Doe Entities 1-10, which are unknown trusts, partnerships, companies,
and/or other legal entities, which are ultimately owned and/or controlled by, and the identities of
which are particularly within the knowledge of, one or more of the individual Defendants.

54. The foregoing individual Defendants are referred to collectively as “the Sacklers.” The

foregoing entities they used as vehicles to transfer funds from Purdue directly or indirectly to
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themselves are referred to as “the Sackler Entities.” Together, the Sacklers and the Sackler Entities
are referred to collectively as the “Sackler Defendants.”
2. Janssen

55. Defendant Johnson & Johnson (“J&J”) is a New Jersey corporation with its principal
place of business in New Brunswick, New Jersey.

56. Defendant Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Janssen Pharmaceuticals”) is a
Pennsylvania corporation with its principal place of business in Titusville, New Jersey. Janssen
Pharmaceuticals is a wholly owned subsidiary of J&J. Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. was formerly
known as Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which in turn was formerly known as
Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc.

57. Defendant Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“OMP”), now known as
Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., is a Pennsylvania corporation with a principal place of business in
Titusville, New Jersey.

58. Defendant Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. (“Janssen Pharmaceutica”), now known as
Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., is a Pennsylvania corporation with its principal place of business in
Titusville, New Jersey.

59. The above-identified defendants and their DEA registrant subsidiaries and affiliates are
referred to collectively as “Janssen.”

3. Mallinckrodt

60. Defendant Mallinckrodt plc is an Irish public limited company, with headquarters in
Staines-Upon-Thames, Surrey, United Kingdom. Within the United States, Mallinckrodt plc
operates under the name Mallinckrodt Pharmaceuticals, and maintains its U.S. headquarters in

Hazelwood, Missouri. Mallinckrodt plc was incorporated in January 2013 for the purpose of
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holding the pharmaceuticals business of Covidien plc, which was fully transferred to Mallinckrodt
plc in June of that year.

61. Shares of Mallinckrodt plc are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol:
MNK). In its most recent Form 10-K filed with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), Mallinckrodt plc stated that its products compete primarily in the U.S.
market, which accounted for almost 90% of the company’s $3.2 billion in net sales during the fiscal
year ended December 28, 2018. Mallinckrodt plc regularly conducts business in New York.

62. Defendant Mallinckrodt LLC is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of
business in Hazelwood, Missouri. Since June 28, 2013, Mallinckrodt LLC has been a wholly owned
subsidiary of Mallinckrodt, plc. Prior to June 28, 2013 Mallinckrodt, LLC was a wholly owned
subsidiary of Covidien pllc.

63. Defendant SpecGx LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with a principal place
of business in Clayton, Missouri. SpecGx was formed on November 14, 2016 as a wholly owned
subsidiary of Mallinckrodt LLC.

64. Mallinckrodt LLC and SpecGx LLC operate an opioids manufacturing facility in
Hobart, New York.

65. The above-identified defendants and their DEA registrant subsidiaries and affiliates are
referred to collectively as “Mallinckrodt.”

4. Endo

66. Defendant Endo International plc is an Irish public limited company, with global
headquarters in Dublin, Ireland and U.S. headquarters in Malvern, Pennsylvania. Endo
International plc operates in the U.S. as Endo Pharmaceuticals.

67. Shares of Endo International plc are traded on NASDAQ (symbol: ENDP). In its most

recent Form 10-K filed with the SEC, Endo International plc stated that its sales and marketing
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activities are primarily based in the U.S., and that its U.S. business segments accounted for more
than 95% of the company’s $2.9 billion in total net revenue during the year ended December 31,
2018. Endo International plc regularly conducts business in New York.

68. Defendant Endo Health Solutions Inc. (“EHS”) is a Delaware corporation with its
principal place of business in Malvern, Pennsylvania. EHS is a wholly owned subsidiary of Endo
International plc.

69. Defendant Endo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“EPI”) is a wholly owned subsidiary of EHS
and is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Malvern, Pennsylvania.

70. Defendant Par Pharmaceutical, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place
of business located in Chestnut Ridge, New York. Par Pharmaceutical, Inc. is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Par Pharmaceutical Companies, Inc. f/k/a Par Pharmaceutical Holdings, Inc.

71. Defendant Par Pharmaceutical Companies, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its
principal place of business located in Chestnut Ridge, New York. Par Pharmaceutical, Inc. and Par
Pharmaceutical Companies, Inc. are referred to collectively “Par Pharmaceutical.”

72. Par Pharmaceutical was acquired by Endo International plc in September 2015 and is
an operating company of Endo International plc.

73. The above-identified defendants and their DEA registrant subsidiaries and affiliates are
referred to collectively as “Endo.”

5. Teva

74. Defendant Teva Pharmaceutical Industries, Limited (“Teva Ltd.”) is a global
pharmaceutical company with headquarters in Petah Tikva, Israel. Shares of Teva Ltd. are traded
on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol: TEVA). In its most recent Form 10-K filed with the

SEC, Teva Ltd. stated that it does business in the United States through its North America Segment,
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which accounted for approximately 50% of the company’s $18.9 billion in net revenue during the
year ended December 31, 2018. Teva Ltd. regularly conducts business in New York.

75. Defendant Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (“Teva USA”) is a Delaware corporation
with its principal place of business in North Wales, Pennsylvania. Teva USA is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Teva Ltd.

76.In August 2016, Teva Ltd. bought Actavis Pharma, Inc. and Actavis LLC from
Allergan plc. Thus, since August 2016, Teva Ltd. has owned the generic opioids business that was
formerly owned by the Allergan entities.

77. Defendant Cephalon, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business
in Frazer, Pennsylvania. In 2011, Teva Ltd. acquired Cephalon, Inc.

78. The above-identified defendants and their DEA registrant subsidiaries and affiliates are
referred to collectively as “Teva.”

6. Allergan

79. Defendant Allergan plc (f/k/a Actavis plc) is a public limited company incorporated in
Ireland with its principal place of business in Dublin, Ireland. Actavis plc acquired Allergan plc in
March 2015, and the combined company changed its name to Allergan plc in June 2015. Prior to
that, Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. acquired Actavis, Inc. in October 2012; the combined company
changed its name to Actavis, Inc. in January 2013 and then to Actavis plc in October 2013.

80. Shares of Allergan plc are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol: AGN).
In its most recent Form 10-K filed with the SEC, Allergan plc stated that it does business in the
U.S. through its US Specialized Therapeutics and US General Medicine segments, which generated
nearly 80 percent of the company’s $15.8 billion in net revenue during the year ended December

31, 2018. Allergan plc regularly conducts business in New York.
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81. Defendant Allergan Finance, LLC (f/k/a Actavis, Inc. f/k/a Watson Pharmaceuticals,
Inc.) is a Nevada limited liability company that exists for the purpose of holding shares of other
companies that manufacture and distribute prescription pharmaceuticals. Its sole member is
Allergan W.C. Holding Inc. f/k/a Actavis W.C. Holding Inc., a Delaware corporation with its
principal place of business in Madison, New Jersey.

82. Defendant Watson Laboratories, Inc. is a Nevada corporation with its principal place
of business in Corona, California.

83. Defendant Actavis Pharma, Inc. (f/k/a Watson Pharma, Inc.) is a Delaware corporation
with its principal place of business in New Jersey.

84. Defendant Actavis LLC (f/k/a Actavis Inc.) is a Delaware limited liability company
with its principal place of business in New Jersey.

85. Until August 2016 when they were sold to Teva, Watson Laboratories, Inc., Actavis
Pharma, Inc., and Actavis LLC were owned by Allergan plc.

86. During the time period described herein and until they were sold to Teva
Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. in August 2016, Watson Laboratories, Inc., Actavis Pharma, Inc.,
and Actavis LLC were part of the same corporate family as Allergan Finance, LLC and sold and
marketed opioids as part of a coordinated strategy to sell and market the branded and generic opioids
of Allergen Finance, LLC, Actavis Pharma, Inc., and Actavis LLC.

87. The above-identified Defendants and their DEA registrant subsidiaries and affiliates
are referred to collectively as “Allergan,” except that references to Allergan do not encompass
Actavis Pharma, Inc. and Actavis LLC after the time of their sale to Teva.

B. The Distributor Defendants

88. The opioid distributors are entities that unlawfully distributed opioids within New Y ork

State, thereby fueling the State’s opioid epidemic.
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1. McKesson

89. Defendant McKesson Corporation (“McKesson”) is a Delaware corporation. Its
principal place of business is San Francisco, California. McKesson distributes pharmaceutical
drugs, including opioids, throughout the United States, including the State of New York.

90. Last year, McKesson reported over $198 billion in annual revenue and was ranked as
the sixth largest company in the United States.

2. Amerisource

91. Defendant AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation is a Delaware corporation. Its
principal place of business is in Chesterbrook, Pennsylvania. Bellco Health Corp. (“Bellco”) is a
pharmaceutical and healthcare distribution company. Bellco is based in North Amityville, New
York, and since October 2007, has operated as a wholly owned subsidiary of AmerisourceBergen
Drug Corporation.

92. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation and Bellco, and their DEA registrant
subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, “Amerisource”), distribute opioids throughout the United
States, including the State of New York.

93. Last year, Amerisource reported over $153 billion in annual revenue and was ranked
as the 12" largest company in the United States.

3. Cardinal

94. Defendant Cardinal Health, Inc. is an Ohio corporation. Its principal place of business
is in Dublin, Ohio. Kinray Inc. (“Kinray”) is a wholesale distributor of branded and generic
pharmaceutical drugs, including opioids. Kinray is based in Whitestone, New York, and since

December 2010, has operated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Cardinal Health Inc.
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95. Cardinal Health Inc. and Kinray, and their DEA registrant subsidiaries and affiliates
(collectively “Cardinal”), distribute opioids throughout the United States, including the State of
New York.

96. Last year, Cardinal reported nearly $130 billion in annual revenue and was ranked as
the fourteenth largest company in the United States.

4. Rochester Drug

97. Rochester Drug Cooperative, Inc. (“Rochester Drug”) is a New York corporation. Its
principal place of business is Rochester, New York.

98. Rochester Drug distributed prescription opioids throughout the United States, including
the State of New York.

99. Rochester Drug is among the ten largest drug wholesalers in the United States, with an
estimated annual revenue of $2 billion.

C. Defendants’ Agents, Successors, and Parent-Subsidiary Relationships

100.  Each action described herein is part of, and in furtherance of, the unlawful conduct
alleged herein, and was authorized, ordered, and agreed to by each Defendant’s officers, agents,
employees, or other representatives who were actively engaged in the management of said
Defendant’s affairs within the course and scope of their duties and employment and with said
Defendant’s actual, apparent, and ostensible authority.

101.  With respect to each parent company Defendant identified above, each parent-
owner:

e Knew of and/or participated in the fraudulent and/or otherwise illegal
conduct of its subsidiaries;

e Exercised complete domination over the acquired-subsidiary company, and
such domination and control over finances, policy, and business practices
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was used to commit the unlawful acts complained of herein, which resulted
in the State’s injury;

Expressly or impliedly assumed the predecessor’s liabilities for the
unlawful acts complained of herein, which resulted in the State’s injury;

Essentially merged itself in substance, if not in form, with the acquired-
subsidiary company;

Is a mere continuation of the acquired-subsidiary company; and/or

Entered into such transaction to fraudulently escape such obligations.
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FACTS

I. Defendants’ Collective Pattern of Misconduct that Sparked, Spread, and Sustained the
Opioid Epidemic in New York

102. Defendants caused this disaster together. One of the Manufacturing Defendants—
Purdue—undoubtedly tipped the first domino. The others quickly went in on the scheme to expand
the opioids market through a predatory campaign of lies, payoffs, and high-pressure sales tactics.
The Distributor Defendants, who were supposed to provide the public with a safeguard against just
such a danger, instead turned a collective blind eye as orders for opioids in New York skyrocketed
up their sales charts. Both groups of Defendants systematically disregarded their duties under State
law to maintain effective compliance functions to prevent the diversion of opioids. Indeed, the
feeding frenzy that characterized Defendants’ race to sell the most opioids was paralleled only by
their seeming competition to see who could accumulate the most violations of the NYCSA by
instituting the weakest compliance policies and the shoddiest practices for enforcing them.

103. To be sure, each Defendant played a unique role in this tragedy, and those specifics
are set forth below in detail in Parts II and III. But to understand the nature and impact of each of
those individual misdeeds, it is necessary to take in the entire picture—how drugs long known to
be dangerous came to be dispensed like candy, and how two related, highly-regulated industries
chose dollars over duties to make that happen.

A. The Original Consensus: Opioids are Powerful Drugs with Narrow Medical Uses
That Pose Dangerously High Risks of Abuse and Dependence

104. From well before the establishment of modern medicine, common-sense experience
had established a widespread understanding that while opioid drugs could serve a useful and
important role, they were also dangerous and highly addictive. The Roman physician Galen

prescribed an opium drink to ease the pain of the frail and sickly Marcus Aurelius, but soon came
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to recognize that the emperor had become “habituated” to the drug.!> The Yongzheng Emperor of
China banned the import and sale of opium for non-medicinal use in 1729 after receiving reports
that people “become corrupted by smoking it until their lives collapse, their families; livelihood
vanishes, and nothing is left but trouble.”'® His grandson, the Qianlong Emperor, banned opium
outright in 1799, and their successors fought two costly and unsuccessful wars against the British
Empire just to keep the drug out of China.

105. In this country, the dangers of opiate drugs were apparent enough by 1908 for
President Theodore Roosevelt to appoint an Opium Commissioner of the United States, who stated
that opium was “the most pernicious drug known to humanity.”'” In 1914, Congress banned the
non-medicinal use of opium, and in 1924 it banned heroin entirely. When national drug laws were
modernized in the Controlled Substances Act of 1970, a five-tier system of Schedules to rank the
dangerousness of pharmaceuticals was established. Schedule I drugs were banned entirely. Opiate
drugs were placed in Schedule II, indicating a “high potential for abuse” that could “lead to severe
psychological or physical dependence.”

106. By that time, nearly 50 years ago, the specific chemical processes that create the
risks inherent in opioid use had been discovered by researchers. Since then, there has been no
dispute that opioids have a unique ability to attach to special receptors in the brain and spine that
trigger a temporary state of euphoria. When the effect wears off, the desire to bring it back—by
taking the drug again—inevitably sets in. But repeated use of opioids leads to tolerance: the need

to take ever higher doses to achieve the same euphoric effect, as the body defensively produces

15 Africa, T., The Opium Addiction of Marcus Aurelius, 22 J. Hist. Ideas 97-102 (1961).
16 Frank Dikotter et al., Narcotic Culture: A History of Drugs in China 33-36 (2004).
17 Edward Marshall, Uncle Sam is the Worst Drug Fiend in the World, N.Y. Times, Mar. 12, 1911.
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more and more of a stimulating chemical called noradrenaline to counteract the sedating effects of
the opioids. Once tolerance sets in, physical withdrawal and dependence come with it, because
when the opioids leave the body, the excess noradrenaline remains, causing jitters, anxiety, muscle
cramps, and diarrhea.'

107.  As a result of this powerful combination of physical and psychoactive reactions,
anyone who uses opioids, even for a short time, may develop opioid use disorder, commonly known
as addiction.!” Opioid use disorder is a condition in which the brain literally changes—prefrontal
regulatory circuits are impaired, and normal reward and emotional response mechanisms skewed—
making it extraordinarily difficult for the people it affects to voluntarily reduce their drug-taking
behavior, despite knowing the potentially catastrophic consequences.?’

108.  Until the mid-1990’s, awareness of these proven risks of opioid use among the
established medical and scientific communities kept the prescription of opioids tightly restricted to
a relatively narrow population of patients for whom the benefits were deemed to outweigh the
dangers, such as people battling cancer or advanced HIV, or in end-of-life care. But that was about

to change, when the company that made the gold-standard drug for these niche uses faced the

expiration of its patent, with grim consequences for New Yorkers and the nation.

18 See Thomas R. Kosten & Tony P. George, The Neurobiology of Opioid Dependence: Implications for Treatment,
Science & Practice Perspectives 13-20 (July 2002), available at
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2851054/.

Y How Opioid Addiction Occurs, Mayo Clinic (Feb. 16, 2018), https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-
conditions/prescription-drug-abuse/in-depth/how-opioid-addiction-occurs/art-20360372 (last visited Mar. 25, 2019);
Nora D. Volkow & Thomas McLellan, Opioid Abuse in Chronic Pain — Misconceptions and Mitigation Strategies,
374 New Engl. J. Med. 1253 (2016), available at https://www nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMral507771 (chart 1).

20N. D. Volkow et al., Neurobiologic Advances from the Brain Disease Model of Addiction, 374 New Eng. J. Med. 363
(2016), available at https://www ncbi.nlm nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6135257.
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B. Lighting the Fire of an Epidemic: A Small Drug Manufacturer Bets on Expanding
the Market for Opioids to Save its Corporate Future

109.  Over most of its history, Purdue was a successful but relatively small player in the
pharmaceutical industry, focusing mainly on over-the-counter products. In the 1980’s, though, the
company was able to break into the prescription market with its release of MS Contin. This
controlled-release formulation of morphine quickly became the default option for cancer patients
eligible for opioid treatments. For over a decade thereafter, MS Contin was the engine that drove
unprecedented growth for Purdue and a financial windfall for its owners, the Sacklers. But by the
late 1980°s, Purdue faced what seemed to be a cliff-edge for their fortunes—the MS Contin patent
was set to expire—and so a plan was hatched to save the company’s future.

110.  Purdue knew that once its much larger multinational competitors could sell generic
versions of MS Contin, it would lose most of its space in the market for treating cancer patients.
One way to deal with that was “going laterally with MS Contin to non-cancer pain indications”:
convincing doctors to prescribe the drug for patients for whom opioids were traditionally thought

21

of as inappropriate, a sign of things to come.”" But by mid-1990, Purdue’s chief scientist was

warning its then head of research and development, and future president, Richard Sackler, that “MS
Contin may eventually face such serious generic competition,” even if the market could be

29 ¢¢

expanded, that to avoid “crushing all of the analgesic eggs,” “other controlled-release opioids must

be considered.”??

2! Harriet Ryan et al., ‘You Want a Description of Hell?” OxyContin’s 12-Hour Problem, Los Angeles Times, May 5,
2016, available at http://www.latimes.com/projects/oxycontin-part]  (linking to Purdue memo at
http://documents.latimes.com/purdues-need-new-painkiller-1990).

2 1d.
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111.  The solution Purdue and the Sacklers settled on was to develop a controlled-release
formulation of the synthetic opioid oxycodone, despite the fact that “relatively little [was] known
about the clinical pharmacology” of that drug.?*> Once the company patented this new “OxyContin”
formulation, the branded drug could be “positioned against numerous analgesics in non-cancer
painful indications including chronic non-malignant pain” and thereby avoid the consequences
when generic competition arrived “to (as previously discussed) crush all of the MS Contin eggs.”**

112.  Butdeveloping and patenting OxyContin would be the easy part. Purdue still faced
the challenge of reversing hundreds of years of common-sense experience, and decades of
established scientific research, professional ethics, and government regulation, which by that point

was more or less safely containing the dangers posed by the over-prescription of opioids.

C. Through the Looking Glass: The Manufacturer Defendants’ Campaign to Reverse
the Perception of Opioids

113.  Leading up to the release of OxyContin in 1996, Purdue began surreptitiously
backing an emerging movement among some palliative-care doctors to de-stigmatize the use of
opioids in a wider variety of treatment settings. When the drug became an instant blockbuster, the
other Manufacturer Defendants, who were racing to develop their own branded reformulations of
opioids, eagerly jumped on board. Together, they quickly developed a massive bandwagon of
fraudulent marketing and promotion aimed at convincing doctors and other health-care providers
authorized to write prescriptions (“HCPs”) that up was down—that opioids were actually safe,
effective, and non-addictive enough to prescribe in virtually any situation to virtually any patient

in any kind of pain.

B d.
2 1d.
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114. To make HCPs feel comfortable prescribing dangerously high dosages of opioids,
the Manufacturer Defendants repeatedly invoked an overarching myth of an “epidemic” of
untreated pain in America in which as many as 100 million adults were allegedly suffering silently.
The truth is that individuals with severe chronic pain—who deserve the safe and effective treatment
that can be accomplished in most cases without opioids—are far fewer in number? and represent
principally a profit center for the opioid industry. But this lie was just the tip of the iceberg in the
complex web of deceit that was to come.

115.  Over the following two decades, the Manufacturer Defendants developed a three-
part playbook for their fraudulent scheme: (i) conjure up no fewer than ten separate categories of
deceptive statements about the use of opioids; (ii) use those lies in high-frequency “detailing” sales
calls to susceptible HCPs, advertisements, and discount card programs to promote their branded
opioid formulations; and (iii) spread those lies throughout the health-care community by using co-
opted, paid-off doctors (the KOLs) to secretly sponsor phony CMEs and Front Groups that broadly
targeted unwitting HCP’s and even the most vulnerable patient populations.

116. The Manufacturer Defendants have collectively spent billions of dollars on this
fraudulent marketing campaign over the last two decades. In 2000, the Manufacturer Defendants’
combined annual spending on opioids marketing was $91 million. By 2011, that figure had climbed
to almost $300 million annually, including $142 million by Janssen and $110 million by Purdue.
Included in these figures were payments directly to individual prescribers in New York: from

August 2013 through December 2015 alone, they collectively paid more than $3.5 million to almost

25 Cindy Steinberg, Nat’l Dir. of Policy & Advocacy, U.S. Pain Found., Prepared Testimony for Senate HELP
Committee Hearing on “Managing Pain During the Opioid Crisis” (Feb. 12, 2019) available at
https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Steinberg.pdf (citing 50 million people).
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3,400 New York HCPs.2® Among the Manufacturer Defendants, Purdue was the top payer, with
payments to almost 2,000 providers totaling over $600,000, followed by Teva with payments to
more than 400 providers totaling over $335,000, and Janssen with payments to almost 500 providers
totaling more than $200,000.%

D. The Manufacturer Defendants’ Catalog of Deception

117.  The theme of the Manufacturer Defendants’ false and misleading statements was
simple and consistent: downplaying the well-established risks of opioids, in particular addiction
and overdose death, while overstating, beyond the limits of any scientific support, their supposed
benefits. None of the these claims were credible, and the Manufacturer Defendants knew it. But
they each promoted (and never retracted) some or all of the following false and misleading claims
to New York HCP’s for nearly twenty years.

1. Misrepresentation #1: The Risk of Addiction from Chronic Opioid
Therapy is Low

118.  According to the 2016 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Guideline for
Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain (the “CDC Guideline), which simply confirmed earlier
scientific findings, up to 26% of people who are prescribed opioids become addicted.”® The rate is

even worse—up to 40%—among chronic pain patients treated with the drugs.

26 Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Open Payments Data, https://openpaymentsdata.cms.gov (last visited Mar.
25, 2019); New York State Health Foundation, Follow the Money: Pharmaceutical Manufacturer Payments and
Opioid Prescribing Patterns in New York State (June 2018), available at https://nyshealthfoundation.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/06/following-the-money-pharmaceutical-payments-opioid-prescribing-june-2018.pdf.

27 Id.; Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Open Payments Data, https://openpaymentsdata.cms.gov (last visited
Mar. 25, 2019).

28 Deborah Dowell et al., CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain — United States, 2016, 65
Morbidity & Mortality Wkly. Rep. at 10 (Mar. 2016), available at
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/rr/pdfs/rr6501el.pdf (hereinafter “CDC Guideline™); Caleb Banta-Green et
al., Opioid Use Behaviors, Mental Health and Pain—Development of a Typology of Chronic Pain Patients, 104 Drug
Alcohol Dependence 34-42 (Sept. 2009); Joseph Boscarino et al., Risk Factors for Drug Dependence Among Out-
Patients on Opioid Therapy in a Large US Health-Care System, 105 Addiction 177682 (Oct. 2010); Bhushan Bhamb
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119. To upend this hard reality, the Manufacturer Defendants turned to a one-paragraph
letter to the editor from Dr. Hershel Jick and Jane Porter published in the New England Journal of
Medicine (“NEJM”) in 1980 (the “Porter/Jick letter”’), which concluded that “the development of
addiction is rare in medical patients with no history of addiction.”?

ADDICTION RARE IN PATIENTS TREATED
WITH NARCOTICS

To the Editor; Recently, we examined our current files to deter-
mine the incidence of narcotic addiction in 39,946 hospitalized
medical patients' who were monitored consecutively. Although
there were 11,882 patients who received at least one narcotic prep-
aration, there were only four cases of reasonably well documented
addiction in patients who had no history of addiction. The addic-
tion was considered major in only one instance. The drugs im-
plicated were meperidine in two patients,’ Percodan in one, and
hydromorphone in ene. We conclude that despite widespread use of
narcotic drugs in hospitals, the development of addiction is rare in-
medical patients with no history of addiction.

Jane PortER

Hersuer Jick, M.D.

Beston Collaborative Drug

Surveillance Program

Waltham, MA 02154 Boston University Medical Center

I. Jick H, Miettinen OS5, Shapiro 5, Lewis GP, Siskind Y, Slone D.
Comprehensive drug surveillance, JAMA, 1970; 213:1455-60,

2. Miller RR, Jick H. Clinical effects of meperidine in hospitalized medical
patients. J Clin Pharmacol. 1978; 18:180-8.

The letter—which was not peer reviewed—drew this conclusion from a review of the records of
patients who were given small, short-term doses of opioids to treat acute pain in the controlled

1_30

setting of an academic hospital.”” Dr. Jick later noted that he wrote a letter because the data were

not robust enough to be published as a study.!

et al., Substance Use Disorders in a Primary Care Sample Receiving Daily Opioid Therapy, J. Pain 573-82 (July
2007).

2 Jane Porter & Herschel Jick, Addiction Rare in Patients Treated with Narcotics, 302 New Eng. J. Med. 123 (1980);
Pamela Leung, 4 1980 Letter on the Risk of Opioid Addiction, 376 New Eng. J. Med. 2194 (2017), available at
http://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJM198001103020221.

30 Harrison Jacobs, This One-Paragraph Letter may have Launched the Opioid Epidemic, Business Insider, May 26,
2016, available at https://www.businessinsider.com/porter-and-jick-letter-launched-the-opioid-epidemic-2016-5.

31 Barry Meier, Pain Killer: An Empire of Deceit and the Origin of America’s Opioid Epidemic 174 (2d Ed. 2018).
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120. The Manufacturer Defendants nevertheless extensively relied on this letter in
promotional and educational materials to support the lie that opioids posed a low risk of addiction.*
“But that’s not in any shape or form what we suggested,” Dr. Jick later lamented.**

121.  The enormous impact of how the Defendants “grossly misrepresented” the

Porter/Jick letter was documented in another letter to NEJM:

[W]e found that a five-sentence letter published in the Journal
in 1980 was heavily and uncritically cited as evidence that
addiction was rare with long-term opioid therapy. We believe
that this citation pattern contributed to the North American
opioid crisis by helping to shape a narrative that allayed
prescribers’ concerns about the risk of addiction associated
with long-term opioid therapy . . .3

“It’s difficult to overstate the role of this letter,” said Dr. David Juurlink of the University of
Toronto, who led the analysis. “It was the key bit of literature that helped the opiate
9935

manufacturers convince front-line doctors that addiction is not a concern.

2. Misrepresentation #2: Signs of Addictive Behavior are
“Pseudoaddiction,” Potentially Requiring More Opioids

122.  The Manufacturer Defendants instructed patients and prescribers that signs of
addiction are actually indications of untreated pain, and that the appropriate response was to
prescribe even more opioids. Dr. David Haddox, who later became a senior medical director for
Purdue, published a study in 1989 inventing the term “pseudoaddiction,” which he characterized as

“the 1atrogenic syndrome of abnormal behavior developing as a direct consequence of inadequate

32 Porter & Jick, supra note 29.
3 Taylor Haney & Andrea Hsu, Doctor Who Wrote 1980 Letter on Painkillers, NPR, June 16, 2017, available at

https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2017/06/16/53306003 1/doctor-who-wrote-1980-letter-on-painkillers-
regrets-that-it-fed-the-opioid-crisi.

34 Meier, supra note 31, at 174.

35 Porter & Jick, supra note 29.
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pain management.”*® In other words, patients on prescription opioids who exhibited classic signs
of addiction—for example, asking for more and higher doses of opioids, self-escalating their doses,
or claiming to have lost prescriptions in order to get more opioids—were not addicted, but rather
simply suffering from undertreatment of their pain.

123.  According to this hypothesis, which has never been scientifically validated, drug-
seeking behaviors consistent with addiction in many cases represent “legitimate” efforts to obtain
more opioids for adequate treatment of pain—thus the term “pseudoaddiction.” Opioid
manufacturers, in disseminating the pseudoaddiction myth, told providers that patients may exhibit
drug-seeking behaviors because “opioids are frequently prescribed in doses that are inadequate.”

124.  The concept of “pseudoaddiction” shows how research performed by the
seemingly-independent KOLs was misused. A 2015 investigative review found that while
pseudoaddiction was discussed in 224 medical-journal articles in prior years, only 18 of those
articles discussed its validity, including four articles supporting this fictitious diagnosis that were
funded by pharmaceutical companies.>’” The remaining 200+ articles stand as a testament to the
effectiveness of this particular lie, in that they all cited the concept of “pseudoaddiction” “as a
matter of routine acceptance” despite no empirical evidence supporting the theory.*®

125. The CDC Guideline has never recommended giving more opioids to patients

showing signs of addiction. Even Dr. Lynn Webster, a KOL discussed below, admitted that

36 David E. Weissman & J. David Haddox, Opioid Pseudoaddiction—an latrogenic Syndrome, 36 Pain 363-66 (Mar.
1989), available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2710565 (“latrogenic” describes a condition induced by
medical treatment).

37 Marion S. Green & R. Andrew Chambers, Pseudoaddiction: Fact or Fiction? An Investigation of the Medical
Literature, Current Addiction Reps. 310-317 (2015).

38 Id.; Of the 22 articles in the combined group that disclosed funding from drugmakers, the authors identified Purdue
as a sponsor in nine.
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pseudoaddiction “is already something we are debunking as a concept” and became “too much of
an excuse to give patients more medication. It led us down a path that caused harm.”>’

3. Misrepresentation #3: The Risk of Addiction Can Be Easily Identified
and Managed

126.  While continuing to maintain that most patients are at low risk for addiction, the
Manufacturer Defendants asserted that for the susceptible few, HCPs could effectively identify and
manage the risk. They promoted screening tools, like questionnaires, that try to identify patients
with addiction risks (such as personal or family histories of substance use, mental illness, or trauma)
to make HCPs feel like they knew which small number of patients they had to closely monitor,
thereby making them more comfortable prescribing them to everyone else.

127.  One prominent KOL who received millions of dollars from the Manufacturer
Defendants, Dr. Lynn Webster,* developed the Opioid Risk Tool (“ORT”) screening test, a five-
question self-reported patient questionnaire that the Manufacturer Defendants deceptively
represented could accurately predict the risk of addiction.*!

128.  But there is no reliable scientific evidence that doctors can depend on the screening
tools currently available to materially limit the risk of addiction. There is also no reliable scientific
evidence that high-risk patients identified through screening can take opioids long-term without

triggering addiction, even with enhanced monitoring. And there is no reliable scientific evidence

3 John Fauber, Chronic Pain Fuels Boom in Opioids, MedPage Today, Feb. 19, 2012, available at
https://www.medpagetoday.com/neurology/painmanagement/31254.

40 Open Payments Data, supra note 26.

41 L. Webster & R. Webster, Predicting Aberrant Behaviors in Opioid-Treated Patients: Preliminary Validation of
the Opioid Risk Tool, Pain Medicine 432-442 (Nov. 2005), available at
https://academic.oup.com/painmedicine/article/6/6/432/1853982.
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that patients who are not identified through such screening can take opioids long-term without
significant danger of addiction.*?

4. Misrepresentation #4: Opioid Withdrawal Can Be Avoided by Tapering

129. In an effort to downplay the risk and impact of addiction, the Manufacturer
Defendants claimed that physical dependence is totally separate from addiction, and that the
symptoms of opioid withdrawal can be easily addressed by gradually tapering patients’ doses as
they are taken off the drugs.*> But there was no scientific support for this claim, and tapering
(essentially “cutting down,” but still using the same drug) has never been recommended or
recognized by any legitimate medical or addiction professionals as a responsible or effective way
to help those who have developed an opiate use disorder overcome the physical consequences of
withdrawal.

5. Misrepresentation #5: Opioid Doses Can Be Increased without Limits or
Greater Risks

130. The Manufacturer Defendants instructed HCPs that they could safely increase
patients’ opioid doses without risk in order to achieve pain relief, deceptively omitting warnings of
known, increased adverse effects that occur at higher doses, and the spiral of problems caused by
tolerance to the drugs.

131. For example, a 2011 study reported that dosages of opioids (expressed in morphine

milligram equivalents, or “MMEs”) of 100 MME or more were associated with dramatic increases

42 See Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, The Effectiveness and Risks of Long-Term Opioid Treatment of
Chronic Pain 1, 21 (Sept. 2014), available at https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/chronic-pain-
opioid-treatment_research.pdf.

43 Is There a Difference Between Physical Dependence and Addiction?, Nat’l Institute on Drug Abuse (Jan. 2018),
https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/principles-drug-addiction-treatment-research-based-guide-third-
edition/frequently-asked-questions/there-difference-between-physical-dependence (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).
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in overdose rates.** A study of veterans from 2004 to 2009 found the rate of overdose deaths is
directly related to maximum daily dose of opioids, with a mean fatal dose of 98 MME.** Other
studies show that among patients who receive an initial ten-day opioid prescription, one in five will
still be on opioids after one year.*® Almost half of those who receive an initial 30-day supply of
opioids will still be on them after a year.*’

132. The CDC Guideline states that due to lack of evidence of benefits of opioids for
chronic non-cancer pain beyond three months*® and the “increased risk for serious harms related to
long-term opioid therapy that appears to be dose-dependent,”* HCPs should limit opioid
prescribing to three months (unless benefits outweigh harms) and “avoid increasing doses” above
90 MME.*®

6. Misrepresentation #6: Long-Term Opioid Use Improves Functioning

133.  Despite substantial evidence showing that opioids do not improve functioning and
worsen health, the Manufacturer Defendants consistently and misleadingly promoted opioids as
capable of improving patients’ ability to function at home and work and overall quality of life,

because they viewed these claims as a critical part of their marketing strategies. To recalibrate the

4 Amy S. Bohnert et al., Association Between Opioid Prescribing Patterns and Opioid Overdose-Related Deaths, 305
J. Am. Med. Ass’n 1315-21 (2011).

4 Amy S. Bohnert et al., A Detailed Exploration Into the Association of Prescribed Opioid Dosage and Overdose
Deaths Among Patients with Chronic Pain, 54 Med. Care 435 (May 2016), available at http://journals.lww.com/lww-
medicalcare/Abstract/publishahead/A_Detailed Exploration_Into _the Association 0f.98952.aspx (In a national
sample of Veterans Health Administration patients with chronic pain who were prescribed opioids, mean prescribed
opioid dosage among patients who died from opioid overdose was 98 MME (median 60 MME) compared with mean
prescribed opioid dosage of 48 MME (median 25 MME) among patients not experiencing fatal overdose).

46 Anuj Shah et al., Characteristics of Initial Prescription Episodes and Likelihood of Long-Term Opioid Use —
United States, 2006-2015, 65 Morbidity & Mortality Wkly. Rep. 265 (Mar. 2017), available at
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/66/wr/mm6610al htm (Figure 1).

71d.

4 CDC Guideline, supra note 28, at 2.

YId. at19.

0 Id. at 16.
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risk-benefit analysis for opioids, the Manufacturer Defendants falsely touted nonexistent benefits
of opioid treatment in order to overcome its known dangers.

134. A 2006 study-of-studies found that opioids did not produce improvement in
functional outcomes over other non-addicting treatments. The few longer-term studies of opioid
use had “consistently poor results,” and “several studies have showed that opioids for chronic pain

31 along with general health, mental health, and social

may actually worsen pain and functioning . . .
function. Over time, even high doses of potent opioids often fail to control pain, and patients
exposed to such doses are unable to function normally.

135. A 2008 study published in the journal Spine showed that patients prescribed opioids
long-term suffered addiction that made them more likely to be disabled and unable to work.>
Another study demonstrated that injured workers who received a prescription opioid for more than
seven days during the first six weeks after the injury were 2.2 times more likely to remain on work
disability a year later than workers with similar injuries who received no opioids at all.*?

136. A 2012 study published in the Journal of Pain, which followed 68,000 women over

three years, found that patients who received opioid treatment were less likely to have improvement

in pain, and had worsened function.

3! Thomas R. Frieden & Debra Houry, Reducing the Risks of Relief — The CDC Opioid- Prescribing Guideline, 374
New Eng. J. Med. 1501, 1503 (2016).

32 Jeffrey Dersh et al., Prescription Opioid Dependence is Associated with Poorer Outcomes in Disabling Spinal
Disorders, 33 Spine 2219-27 (2008).

53 Gary Franklin et al., Early Opioid Prescription and Subsequent Disability Among Workers with Back Injuries: the
Disability Risk Identification Study Cohort, 33 Spine 199, 201-02 (2008).
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137. In 2014, the U.S. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality concluded that
“[e]vidence on long-term opioid therapy for chronic pain is very limited but suggests an increased
risk of serious harms that appears to be dose-dependent.”>*

138. In 2016, the CDC concluded that “there is no good evidence that opioids improve
pain or function with long-term use,”*> and that “[w]hile benefits for pain relief, function and quality
of life with long-term opioid use for chronic pain are uncertain, risks associated with long-term
opioid use are clearer and significant.”>® According to the CDC, “for the vast majority of patients,
the known, serious, and too-often-fatal risks far outweigh the unproven and transient benefits [of
opioids for chronic pain].”’

139. The CDC also stated that “[n]o evidence shows a long-term benefit of opioids in
pain and function versus no opioids for chronic pain with outcomes examined at least 1 year later
(with most placebo-controlled randomized trials <6 weeks in duration),” while “[e]xtensive
evidence shows the possible harms of opioids (including opioid use disorder, overdose, and motor
vehicle injury).”>®

140. The Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) has rejected as false and misleading
claims that opioids improve patients’ function and quality of life if they are not supported by
substantial evidence or clinical experience. For example, in 2008, the FDA warned King

Pharmaceuticals that its statements about Avinza (morphine sulfate ER) were false and misleading

because its claims that “patients who are treated with the drug experience an improvement in their

3 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, supra note 41, at ix.
35 CDC Guideline, supra note 28, at 20.

$ Id. at 2, 18.

37 Frieden & Houry, supra note 51, at 1503.

8 CDC Guideline, supra note 28, at 15.
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overall function, social function, and ability to perform daily activities” were not demonstrated by
substantial evidence or substantial clinical experience.>

141. In 2010, the FDA warned Allergan that its claims that its opioid Kadian (morphine
ER) improved functioning were false and misleading:

[W]e are not aware of substantial evidence or substantial clinical
experience demonstrating that the magnitude of the effect the drug
has in alleviating pain, taken together with any drug-related side
effects patients may experience (such as the common adverse events
of drowsiness, dizziness, constipation and nausea), results in an
overall positive impact on a patient’s work, physical and mental
functioning, daily activities, or enjoyment of life. In addition, we
are not aware of any studies demonstrating that the level of pain
reduction experienced by patients on Kadian therapy corresponds
with a positive impact on the outcomes claimed.®°

7. Misrepresentation #7: Alternative Forms of Pain Relief Pose Greater
Risks than Opioids

142. In their marketing, the Manufacturer Defendants consistently omitted known risks
of chronic opioid therapy and emphasized or exaggerated risks of competing products so that
prescribers and patients would favor opioids over other therapies such as acetaminophen or
nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (“NSAIDs”).

143. In addition to failing to disclose in promotional materials the risks of addiction,

overdose, and death, the Manufacturer Defendants routinely ignored the risks of hyperalgesia, a

%9 Warning Letter from Thomas W. Abrams, Dir., Div. of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Comm’n, Dep’t of Health
& Human Servs., to Brian A. Markison, Chairman, President, and Chief Exec. Officer, King Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Mar. 24, 2008), available at http://wayback.archive-
it.org/7993/20170112064025/http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatorylnformation/En
forcementActivitiesbyFDA/WarningLettersandNoticeofViolationLetterstoPharmaceutical Companies/ucm054134.pd
f.

0 Warning Letter from Thomas W. Abrams, Dir., Div. of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Comm’n, Dep’t of Health
& Human Servs.,, to Doug Boothe, Chief Exec. Officer, Actavis U.S. (Feb. 18 2010), available at
http://wayback.archive-
it.org/7993/20170112063027/http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatorylnformation/Enforcement
ActivitiesbyFDA/WarningLettersandNoticeofViolationLetterstoPharmaceutical Companies/ucm259240 htm.
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“known serious risk associated with chronic opioid analgesic therapy in which the patient becomes
more sensitive to certain painful stimuli over time;”®! hormonal dysfunction;*? decline in immune
function; mental clouding, confusion, and dizziness; increased falls and fractures in the elderly;®*
neonatal abstinence syndrome; and potentially fatal interactions with alcohol or with
benzodiazepines, which are used to treat anxiety and may be co-prescribed with opioids,
particularly to veterans suffering from pain.%*

144.  As a result of the Manufacturer Defendants’ deceptive promotion of opioids over
safer and more effective drugs, opioid prescriptions increased even as the percentage of patients
visiting a doctor for pain remained constant. A study of 7.8 million doctor visits between 2000 and
2010 found that opioid prescriptions increased from 11.3% to 19.6% of visits, as NSAID and
acetaminophen prescriptions fell from 38% to 29%, driven primarily by the decline in NSAID
prescribing.®®

145. A 2018 study designed to make head-to-head comparisons between opioids and
other kinds of pain medications showed that “[t]here was no significant difference in pain-related
function between the 2 groups”—those whose pain was treated with opioids and those whose pain

was treated with non-opioids, including acetaminophen and NSAIDs like ibuprofen. The study

6 Letter from Janet Woodcock, M.D., Dir., Ctr. For Drug Eval. & Res., to Andrew Kolodny, M.D., Pres. Physicians
for Responsible Opioid Prescribing, Re Docket No. FDA-2012-P-0818 (Sept. 10, 2013).

2 Harry W. Daniell, Hypogonadism in Men Consuming Sustained-Action Oral Opioids, 3 J. Pain 377-84 (2001).

63 See Bernhard M. Kuschel et al., The Risk of Fall Injury in Relation to Commonly Prescribed Medications Among
Older People — a Swedish Case-Control Study, 25 Eur. J. Pub. H. 527 (July 2014).

4 Karen H. Seal et al., Association of Mental Health Disorders With Prescription Opioids and High- Risk Opioids in
US Veterans of Iraq and Afghanistan, 307 J. Am. Med. Ass’n 940-47 (2012).

5 M. Daubresse et al., Ambulatory Diagnosis and Treatment of Nonmalignant Pain in the United States, 2000-2010),
51 Med. Care 870-878 (2013). For back pain alone, the percentage of patients prescribed opioids increased from 19%
to 29% between 1999 and 2010, even as the use of NSAIDs or acetaminophen declined from 39.9% to 24.5% of these
visits; and referrals to physical therapy remained steady. See also John Mafi et al., Worsening Trends in the
Management and Treatment of Back Pain, 173 J. Am. Med. Ass’n Internal Med. 1573, 1573 (2013).

42

60 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

concluded that “[t]reatment with opioids was not superior to treatment with nonopioid medications
for improving pain-related function over 12 months.”%

8. Misrepresentation #8: Extended-Release Drugs Provide Twelve or More
Hours of Pain Relief

146. The Manufacturer Defendants misled doctors and patients about the original selling
point of their “revolutionary” extended-release (“ER”) opioids, making the knowingly false claim
that such drugs would provide 12 or more hours of pain relief for most patients. This claim provided
the basis for the Manufacturer Defendants’ patents and their efforts to differentiate themselves from
competitors, and facilitated their false claims that ER drugs have a more even, stable release
mechanism that avoids peaks and valleys, and therefore the rush that fosters misuse and addiction.

147. The active ingredient in the Manufacturer Defendants’ ER opioids does not enter
the body at a linear rate. OxyContin, for example, works by releasing a greater proportion of
oxycodone into the body upon administration, and the release gradually tapers. The reduced release
of the drug over time means that the oxycodone no longer provides the same level of pain relief.
As a result, in many patients, OxyContin does not last for the twelve hours promised.

148.  AnER pill releases an initial rush of nearly half of the opioid dosage, which triggers
a powerful psychological response—Ilike an immediate release opioid. Consequently, there is less
of the drug at the end of the 12 hours, which precipitates withdrawal symptoms, a phenomenon

known as “end of dose” failure.

% Erin E. Krebs et al., Effect of Opioid vs Nonopioid Medications on Pain-Related Function in Patients With Chronic
Back Pain or Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis Pain: The SPACE Randomized Clinical Trial, 319 J. Am. Med. Ass’n. 8§72-
82 (2018), available at https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2673971.
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149.  End-of-dose failure can render ER opioids even more dangerous than IR opioids
because patients begin to experience withdrawal symptoms, followed by a euphoric rush with their
next dose—a cycle that fuels a craving for more ER opioids. For this reason, Dr. Theodore Cicero,
a neuropharmacologist at the Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, has called
OxyContin’s 12-hour dosing “the perfect recipe for addiction.”®” Many patients will exacerbate
this cycle by taking their next dose ahead of schedule or resorting to a rescue dose of another opioid,
increasing the overall amount of opioids they are taking.

150. The Manufacturer Defendants’ refusal to disclose the prevalence of end-of-dose
failure meant that prescribers were misinformed about the advantages of their ER drugs in a manner
that preserved their competitive advantage and profits, at the expense of patients, who were placed
at greater risk of overdose, addiction, and other adverse effects.

9. Misrepresentation #9: Newly-Developed but More Expensive
Formulations of Opioids Successfully Deter Abuse

151. In 2010, the FDA approved a reformulated version of OxyContin, which was the
first opioid that was allowed to make claims that it was designed to help discourage misuse.®® The
FDA noted that the new version was “intended to prevent the opioid medication from being cut,
broken, chewed, crushed or dissolved to release more medication,” but that “it still can be abused

or misused by simply ingesting larger doses than are recommended.”®

7 Harriet Ryan, supra note 21.
%8 Press Release, U.S. Food & Drug Administration, FDA Approves New Formulation for OxyContin (Apr. 5,

2010), available at https://wayback.archive-
it.org/7993/20170112130258/http:/www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm207480.htm.
®rd.
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152.  The CDC Guideline, however, confirms that “[n]o studies” support the notion that
“abuse-deterrent technologies [are] a risk mitigation strategy for deterring or preventing abuse,”
noting that the technologies “do not prevent opioid abuse through oral intake, the most common
route of opioid abuse, and can still be abused by non-oral routes.”’® CDC staff could not find “any
evidence showing the updated opioids [abuse deterrent opioids] actually reduce rates of addiction,
overdoses, or death.””!

153.  The Manufacturer Defendants marketed “abuse-deterrent formulation” (“ADF”)
opioids—whether or not they had FDA approval to do so—as safer to prescribe than traditional
opioids. Their false and misleading marketing of the benefits of ADF opioids falsely reassured
prescribers that prescribing such opioids was not risky, thereby exacerbating the opioid epidemic.

10. Misrepresentation #10: The Manufacturer Defendants Worked Diligently
to Detect and Prevent Diversion of Opioids

154.  After the diversion of opioids increased dramatically in the 2000’s, each of the
Manufacturer Defendants extensively advertised their efforts to monitor and report abuse and
diversion of their products, to convey that they were socially responsible companies. These
communications, designed to create a false sense of security, were misleading, because, as
explained below, none of the Manufacturer Defendants had an effective suspicious order
monitoring program, as required by law.

E. The Manufacturer Defendants’ Deceptive Marketing Directly Supported Sales of
their Branded Formulations

155.  The Manufacturer Defendants’ branded marketing efforts relied on three primary

channels for promoting their false and deceptive claims concerning opioids: (a) “detailing” visits

70 CDC Guideline, supra note 28, at 22 (emphasis added).
7! Matthew Perrone et al., Drugmakers Push Profitable, but Unproven, Opioid Solution, Public Integrity, Dec. 15,
2016, available at https://publicintegrity.org/state-politics/drugmakers-push-profitable-but-unproven-opioid-solution/.

45

63 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

to HCPs by each manufacturer’s sales representatives; (b) advertisements placed in medical
journals aimed at prescribers; and (¢) discount cards aimed at consumers. And while these efforts
were explicitly in support of the Manufacturer Defendants’ branded drugs, they inevitably impacted
perceptions of the generic versions of those drugs they knew HCPs would frequently prescribe in
their place.

1. Detailing

156. Each Manufacturer Defendant aggressively detailed New York HCPs, typically
promoting their branded opioids but often touting the benefits of opioids generally. Between 2000
and 2014, their combined detailing expenditures more than doubled to $168 million.

157. The Manufacturer Defendants trained their sales representatives to disseminate to
HCPs the false and misleading claims described above. Each manufacturer analyzed prescription
drug sales data (e.g., from IMS Health Holdings, Inc., today known as IQVIA), which contained
details regarding the drugs prescribed by HCPs and the pharmacies that dispensed those drugs,”* to
track the prescribing practices of individual HCPs in order to select them for detailing.
Manufacturers could have—but did not—use this data to identify inappropriate prescribing and
potential diversion.

158. From 2008 through present, the Manufacturer Defendants’ sales representatives
have visited New York HCPs more than one million times. While Purdue implemented the most
pervasive opioids detailing program, the other Manufacturer Defendants were not far behind,

collectively making nearly 600,000 opioid-related sales visits to New York HCPs from 2008

2 Jeremy A. Greene, Pharmaceutical Marketing Research and the Prescribing Physician, 146 Annals of Internal
Med. 742 (2007), available at https://annals.org/aim/fullarticle/734723/pharmaceutical-marketing-research-
prescribing-physician.
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through the present. Janssen led the pack with Jilij visits promoting Nucynta, followed by
Endo with nearly 165,000 visits promoting Opana, Mallinckrodt with more than |Jjjjvisits
promoting Exalgo and Xartemis, Teva with ] visits promoting Fentora, and Allergan with
nearly 3,000 visits promoting Kadian. Each Manufacturer Defendant has paid bonuses to its sales
representatives based on prescriptions written by those HCPs, and has made extensive payments to
those HCPs in the form of speakers’ fees, lunches, and dinners.

159. A study published in the Journal of the American Medical Association in 2018
concluded that even small payments of $10 from opioid manufacturers can influence HCPs to
prescribe opioids, and that “receipt of any opioid-related payments from industry in 2014 was
associated with 9.3% ... more opioid claims in 2015 compared with physicians who received no
such payments [].””* Another 2018 study that focused on New York HCPs concluded that
“[o]pioid-related payments may lead to an increase in opioid prescribing, based on comparisons
with a matched group of similar physicians who did not receive any opioid-related payments.”’*

160. Detailing can have deadly results. A study published in January 2019 in J4MA
Network Open concluded that “across US counties, marketing of opioid products to physicians was
associated with increased opioid prescribing and, subsequently, with elevated mortality from
975

overdoses.

2. Advertisements

161. To promote the purported benefits of its branded opioids, each Manufacturer

Defendant placed advertisements in medical journals and popular magazines promoting the use of

3 Scott E. Hadland et al., Association of Pharmaceutical Industry Marketing of Opioid Products to Physicians With
Subsequent Opioid Prescribing, 178 J. Am. Med. Ass’n Internal Med. 861, 862 (June 2018), available at
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamainternalmedicine/article-abstract/2681059.

74 NYS Health Foundation, supra note 26, at 2.

5 Scott E. Hadland, supra note 73, at 861.
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opioids. Such advertisements, among other things, deceptively omitted or downplayed the risk of
addiction and overstated the benefits of opioids for chronic pain.

162. The manufacturers aggressively promoted their opioids through such branded
advertising, such that by 2011, the manufacturers’ collective spend on such advertising reached $14
million—an amount triple the size of their collective advertising ten years earlier in 2001.

3. Discount Cards

163. The Manufacturer Defendants recognized that one of the largest obstacles to
consumers starting and remaining on their branded opioids, including by switching from a
competitor’s drug, was out-of-pocket cost. To overcome this barrier, they each advertised to
consumers and distributed widely—including on their public websites—co-pay discount cards,
which often enabled consumers to receive a “starter” dose of addictive narcotics at low cost or for
free. For example, in 2012, Janssen planned to distribute 1.5 million in savings cards worth $25
each. Disregarding the consequences of the opioids epidemic they created, the Manufacturer
Defendants continue to advertise opioids discount cards directly to consumers, sometimes working
with distributors. For example, Purdue’s savings program for OxyContin is currently administered

by McKesson:

Indication/Important
Safety Information

R-EIL-EESNMB% Savings Program Si rt Materials

Up to $70 in Potential Savings

Card Activation

eVoucherRx™ Eligible patients can save up to $70 on each prescription with the

Program OxyContin Savings Card

= Helpful Information If you have a valid prescription for OxyContin®, please call 1-855-227-0303 to speak to a
¥ McKesson call center representative about signing up for the savings program. Patients must
aterials to help you

understand and manage meet eligibility requirements. Other restrictions may apply.
your treatment

Learn More > After paying the first $45, save up to $70 on your first prescription by providing the
pharmacist with the OxyContin Savings Card.
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F. The Manufacturer Defendants’ Surreptitious Campaign to Infect the Wider
Community of HCPs and Patients with their Lies

164. Each Manufacturer Defendant also spent hundreds of millions of dollars on
unbranded advertising in order to create the appearance that unbiased and impartial medical
information supported the widespread prescription of opioids, as a cover for their fraudulent
misrepresentations aimed at both HCPs and patients. This unbranded advertising took the form of:

e Continuing Medical Education (CME), aimed at unwary HCPs;

e Key Opinion Leaders (KOLs), who were recruited and trained to: deliver
skewed CMEs and other deceptive scripted talks; author misleading studies;
and serve on the boards and committees of the Front Groups; and

e Front Groups designed to appear as neutral and credible professional
societies and patient advocacy groups that developed educational materials
and treatment guidelines supporting the use of opioids for long-term
treatment of chronic pain.

165. The Manufacturer Defendants also co-opted reputable health care organizations to
promote opioid prescribing and aimed their deceptive marketing at vulnerable populations,
including the elderly and veterans. All of these efforts were designed to present a misleading view

of how and when opioids could be safely and effectively used.

1. Continuing Medical Education Programs
166. The Manufacturer Defendants aggressively distributed their false and deceptive
messaging through in-person and online CMEs, which should represent the “body of knowledge
and skills generally recognized and accepted by the profession as within the basic medical

sciences, the discipline of clinical medicine, and the provision of health care to the public.”’®

76 American Med. Ass’n & Accreditation Council for Continuing Med. Education, Glossary of Terms and Definitions,
“Continuing Medical Education (CME)” (April 2017), available at: https://www.ama-assn.org/sites/ama-
assn.org/files/corp/media-browser/public/physicians/cme/ama-accme-glossary-terms.pdf.
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167. Instead, the Manufacturer Defendants sponsored thousands of CMEs that they
manipulated to promote their false and deceptive claims downplaying the risks and touting
unproven benefits of their opioid drugs. As with all of their promotional efforts, the Manufacturer
Defendants continually measured the effect of CMEs on HCPs’ views on opioids, and the
absorption of specific messages, providing direct evidence of the effectiveness of their scheme in
misleading the HCPs who attended.

2. Key Opinion Leaders

168. The Manufacturer Defendants extensively cultivated and paid a select circle of
KOLs, including Drs. Russell Portenoy, Lynn Webster, and Perry Fine, to advocate for the
widespread prescription of opioids.

169.  The Manufacturer Defendants directed these KOLs to write, consult on, edit, and
lend their names to books and articles, and to give speeches and CMEs supportive of opioid therapy.
They served on committees that developed treatment guidelines that strongly encouraged the use
of opioids, and on boards of pro-opioid advocacy groups and professional societies that developed
and presented deceptive CMEs.

170. As the KOLs began publishing seemingly independent and “scientific” papers
supporting the Manufacturer Defendants’ false and misleading claims, the companies then poured
enormous funds and resources into their marketing machines, which widely cited and promoted
the KOLs’ work to drive prescriptions of opioids.

a) Dr. Russell Portenoy

171.  Dr. Russell Portenoy was a top KOL and spokesperson for several Manufacturer
Defendants, including Purdue, Teva, Endo, and Janssen.
172.  Dr. Portenoy sat as a director on the board of two Front Groups, the American Pain

Foundation (“APF”), and was also president of the American Pain Society (“APS”). Dr. Portenoy
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was also a chairman of the Department of Pain Medicine and Palliative Care at Beth Israel Medical
Center in New York, and co-authored roughly 100 articles on pain and related issues.

173.  Dr. Portenoy was a key figure in destigmatizing opioid use, touting their purported
benefits and minimizing their risks in all marketing channels, from medical literature to an
appearance on Good Morning America, falsely claiming that less than 1% of patients would become
addicted to opioids.

174.  Starting in 1997, Dr. Portenoy received research support, consulting fees, and
honoraria from several manufacturers. In 2009, for example, Purdue contributed [l to Il
I v New York for the
I [» turn, Dr. Portenoy played a critical role in amplifying Purdue’s fraudulent claims about
the risks and benefits of long-term opioid use for managing chronic pain.

175. Dr. Portenoy also frequently appeared in the media to promote opioids by
dramatically understating the risk of addiction. In 2010, for example, he appeared on the nationally
televised Good Morning America show, to discuss the long-term use of opioids to treat chronic pain
and to falsely claim the following: 7’

Addiction, when treating pain, is distinctly uncommon. If a person
does not have a history, a personal history, of substance misuse, and
does not have a history in the family of substance misuse, and does

not have a very major psychiatric disorder, most doctors can feel
very assured that that person is not going to become addicted.

176.  Dr. Portenoy also repeatedly emphasized to physicians and the public that opioids
posed a low risk of addiction, relying exclusively on the 1980 Porter/Jick letter discussed above.

In his own words:

77 Good Morning America (ABC News television broadcast Aug. 30, 2010).
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I gave so many lectures to primary care audiences in which the
Porter and Jick article was just one piece of data that I would then
cite, and I would cite six, seven, maybe ten different avenues of
thought or avenues of evidence, none of which represented real
evidence, and yet what I was trying to do was to create a narrative
so that the primary care audience would look at this information in
[total] and feel more comfortable about opioids in a way they hadn’t
before. In essence, this was education to destigmatize [opioids],
and because the primary goal was to destigmatize, we often left
evidence behind.™®

177. Dr. Portenoy later admitted that he had misrepresented the risks and benefits of
opioid treatment, noting that he “gave innumerable lectures in the late 1980s and 90s about
addiction that weren’t true,” and that “[d]ata about the effectiveness of opioids does not exist.””
He further admitted: “Did I teach about pain management, specifically about opioid therapy, in a
way that reflects misinformation? Well, ... I guess I did.” Dr. Portenoy also later rescinded his

promotion of opioids as “pseudoscience.”

b) Dr. Lynn Webster

178.  Another important KOL was Dr. Lynn Webster, who received millions of dollars
from the Manufacturer Defendants® and authored numerous CMEs sponsored by Teva, Endo, and
Purdue.

179.  Among his other pro-opioid activities, Dr. Webster is a member of the board and
past president of the Front Group the American Academy of Pain Medicine (“AAPM”) and is senior
editor of Pain Medicine, a journal that published Endo’s special advertising supplements touting

Opana ER.

8 Interview of Russell Portenoy by Physicians for Responsible Opioid Prescribing, 2:07-2:51, (YouTube Oct. 30,
2011), available at https://www.youtube.com/watch?time continue=2&v=DgyuBWNO9D4w (last visited Mar. 25,
2019) (emphasis added).

7 Thomas Catan & Evan Perez, A Pain-Drug Champion Has Second Thoughts, Wall St. J., Dec. 17, 2012.

80 Open Payments Data, supra note 26.
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180. Dr. Webster has been the leading national proponent of “pseudoaddiction.” As
described in his co-authored book, Avoiding Opioid Abuse While Managing Pain (2007), a doctor’s
“first response” when facing signs of “aberrant” behavior should “in most cases” to increase the
amount of opioids prescribed.

181. In 2010, the DEA raided Dr. Webster’s Salt Lake City pain clinic following an
investigation for overprescribing opioids after 20 patients had overdosed and died.

¢) Dr. Perry Fine

182. The Manufacturer Defendants also relied extensively on Dr. Perry Fine, whose
KOL activities have included serving on Purdue’s advisory board, providing medical consulting for
Janssen, participating in CME activities for Endo, and authoring seemingly “independent”
publications for Teva. Dr. Fine also co-chaired the AAPM/APS Guideline Panel, served as the
AAPM’s treasurer (2007—10) and president (2011-13), and on APF’s Board of Directors.

183. Dr. Fine has campaigned extensively against legislation restricting high-dose
opioid prescriptions for non-cancer patients. One of the many examples of the dangerous and
deceptive statements by KOLs is in 4 Clinical Guide to Opioid Analgesia, co-written by Drs. Fine
and Portenoy, which downplays risks of opioid treatment such as respiratory depression and
addiction: “At clinically appropriate doses . . . respiratory rate typically does not decline. Tolerance

to the respiratory effects usually develops quickly, and doses can be steadily increased without

risk.”8!

81 Perry G. Fine & Russell K. Portenoy, 4 Clinical Guide to Opioid Analgesia 20, 34 (2004), available at
http://www.thblack.com/links/RSD/OpioidHandbook.pdf.
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184. Pro-opioid KOLs often failed to disclose their financial ties to the Manufacturer
Defendants. For example, in 2011, after Dr. Fine and fellow KOL Dr. Scott Fishman published a
letter in the Journal of the American Medical Association (“JAMA”) called “Reducing Opioid
Abuse and Diversion,” which emphasized the importance of maintaining patient access to opioids,*?
the editors of JAMA found that both had provided incomplete financial disclosures and required
them to submit corrections listing all of their ties to the opioids industry.®?

3. Front Groups
185. In addition to relying on CMEs and KOLs, the Manufacturer Defendants used,
funded, and directed numerous Front Groups, which often had directors who were undisclosed

8 Under the guise of neutrality, the Front

KOLs, to promote their false and misleading claims.
Groups deepened the Manufacturer Defendants’ ability to convey to HCPs, patients, and

policymakers that pro-opioid messaging was independent and patient-centered rather than driven

by profits, as was the case.®

82 Perry G. Fine & Scott M. Fishman, Reducing Opioid Abuse and Diversion, 306 J. Am. Med. Ass’n 381 (July 2011),
available at: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/articleabstract/1104144?redirect=true.

8 Perry G. Fine, Incomplete Financial Disclosures in a Letter on Reducing Opioid Abuse and Diversion, 306 J. Am.
Med.  Ass’n 1445 (Sept. 2011),  available  at  https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-
abstract/1104464?redirect=true; Scott M. Fishman, Incomplete Financial Disclosures in: Reducing Opioid Abuse and
Diversion, 306 J. Am. Med. Ass’n 1446 (Oct. 2011), available at:
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/1104453.

8 U.S. Senate Homeland Security & Governmental Affairs Committee, Fueling an Epidemic: Exposing the
Financial Ties Between Opioid Manufacturers and Third Party Advocacy Groups 3 (February 12, 2018),
https://www.hsdl.org/?abstract&did=808171 (“Fueling an Epidemic”).

8 The extensive bond between opioid manufacturers and Front Groups was revealed in the U.S. Senate 2017 report
Fueling an Epidemic: Exposing the Financial Ties Between Opioid Manufacturers and Third Party Advocacy Groups,
which was “the first comprehensive snapshot of the financial connections between opioid manufacturers and advocacy
groups and professional societies operating in the area of opioids policy.” The report found that the opioid
manufacturers, including Manufacturer Defendants Purdue and Janssen, contributed millions of dollars to various
Front Groups and individuals associated therewith; these groups “‘play a significant role in shaping health policy
debates, setting national guidelines for patient treatment, raising disease awareness, and educating the public.”” As
the Senate report found, the Front Groups “amplified or issued messages that reinforce industry efforts to promote
opioid prescription and use, including guidelines and policies minimizing the risk of addiction and promoting opioids
for chronic pain.” They also “lobbied to change laws directed at curbing opioid use, strongly criticized landmark CDC
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186.

The groups described below are among those that the Manufacturer Defendants

deployed to fuel the epidemic within New York State:

187.

a) American Pain Foundation

One of the most prominent Front Groups, the American Pain Foundation (“APF”),

held itself out as an independent patient advocacy organization, but from its founding in 1997 to

its abrupt demise in 2012, APF was a shill for the opioids industry. In 2010, 90 percent of its

funding came from the industry, including from each of the Manufacturer Defendants; during its

last five years, APF received more than $10 million in funding from opioid manufacturers alone.

188.

APF was controlled by the Manufacturer Defendants, as demonstrated by:

Stocking its board of directors with doctors who were on opioid manufacturers’
payrolls either as consultants or as speakers at medical events;

Submitting grant proposals for projects that had been suggested by the
manufacturers—for example, in 2001, Purdue told APF that the basis of a grant
to the organization was Purdue’s desire to “strategically align its investments in
nonprofit organizations that share [its] business interests”;

Distributing opioid manufacturers’ publications, which were rife with
misrepresentations regarding the risks, benefits, and superiority of opioids;

Engaging in a multimedia campaign to “educate” patients about their “right” to
opioid pain treatment; and

Developing the National Initiative on Pain Control (“NIPC”), which operated a
facially unaffiliated website, www.painknowledge.com. NIPC promoted itself as
an education initiative led by purported experts in the pain management field and
published unaccredited prescriber education programs. Manufacturers such as
Endo, however, substantially controlled NIPC by funding NIPC projects,
developing, specifying, and reviewing its content, and distributing NIPC
materials.

guidelines on opioid prescribing, and challenged legal efforts to hold physicians and industry executives responsible
for overprescription and misbranding.”
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189. APF’s materials and programs were available nationally and reached many New
Yorkers, as intended. For example, APF distributed 17,200 copies of a guide for consumers
sponsored by Purdue and Teva, entitled Treatment Options: A Guide for People Living with Pain
(“Treatment Options”). This guide, which is still available online, misleadingly downplays the risk
of addiction from opioids, stating that physical dependence, which is a symptom of addiction, “does
NOT mean you are addicted,” and suggests that only persons who already have “addictive disease”
have misused opioids. The guide also deceptively states that “[d]espite the great benefits of opioids,
they are often under-used.”

190.  Treatment Options falsely stated that some opioids have “no ceiling dose as there
is with the NSAIDs” and therefore are more appropriate for treatment of pain, and attributed 10,000
to 20,000 annual deaths to NSAID overdose, even though the actual figure is closer to 3,200 per
year.%¢ The guide also misleadingly suggested that “opioid agreements” between patients and
prescribers would “ensure that [the patient] take[s] the opioid as prescribed.”

191.  Among its other industry-funded projects, APF published Exit Wounds, a 2009
book written by Derek McGinnis, a disabled veteran employed by APF, with “assistance” from
APF staff. The book made numerous misrepresentations about the risk of addiction associated
with opioids, describing the drugs as “underused” and the “gold standard of pain medications.” It
misleadingly downplayed physical tolerance as “simply a psychological process that doesn’t
occur for all people or with all medications,” and implied that only those who abuse opioids or

use them recreationally become addicted. Even more egregiously, Exit Wounds claimed that

8 Robert E. Tarone et al., Nonselective Nonaspirin Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs and Gastrointestinal
Bleeding: Relative and Absolute Risk Estimates From Recent Epidemiologic Studies, 11 Am. J. Therapeutics 17, 21
(2004).
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“[l1]Jong experience with opioids shows that people who are not predisposed to addiction are
unlikely to become addicted to opioid pain medications.”

192.  Exit Wounds also failed to disclose the risks of fatal interactions between opioids
and anti-anxiety medicines known as benzodiazepines, which are commonly prescribed to
veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. According to a VA Office of Inspector General
Report, 96.4% of veterans who were prescribed opioid drugs long-term were also prescribed
benzodiazepines, despite the increased danger of respiratory depression when the two drugs are
taken together.®’

193.  Exit Wounds also exaggerated the side effects of NSAIDs, such as stomach ulcers
and gastrointestinal bleeding, while understating the significantly more serious side effects
associated with opioids, which include nausea, vomiting, constipation, mental clouding, and, of
course addiction, overdose, and death.

194. APF also published 4 Policymaker’s Guide to Understanding Pain & lIts
Management, which among other misleading statements, characterized as a “myth” the idea that
“[c]hildren can easily become addicted to pain medications,” because “[l]ess than 1 percent of
children treated with opioids become addicted.” This publication also falsely asserted that pain is
undertreated due to “misconceptions about opioid addiction.”

195. In May 2012, the U.S. Senate Finance Committee began investigating APF’s ties
to opioid manufacturers. Immediately thereafter, the manufacturers cut off funding for APF,

which shortly thereafter folded, it claimed, “due to irreparable economic circumstances.”

87 Dep’t of Veterans Affairs Office of Inspector General, Review of Pain Management Services in Veterans Health
Administration Facilities at iv (Sept. 27, 2018), available at https://www.va.gov/oig/pubs/VAOIG-16-00538-282.pdf.
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b) American Academy of Pain Medicine and the American Pain
Society

196. The American Academy of Pain Medicine (“AAPM”) and the American Pain
Society (“APS”) are professional medical societies that received substantial funding from the
Manufacturer Defendants, in particular from 2009 to 2013, which allowed the manufacturers to
control the groups’ projects and messaging. For example:

a. In 1997, AAPM issued a “consensus” statement (which is still accessible today)
that endorsed opioids to treat chronic pain and claimed that the risk that patients
would become addicted to opioids was low. In fact, however, the “consensus”
was stacked with undisclosed KOLs, including the statement committee’s chair,
Dr. J. David Haddox, who was at the time a paid speaker for Purdue (and later
became a Purdue executive), and the committee’s sole consultant, Dr. Russell
Portenoy, was also a spokesperson for Purdue;

b. AAPM’s past presidents, including Dr. Haddox (1998), Dr. Scott Fishman,
(2005), Dr. Perry G. Fine (2011) and Dr. Lynn R. Webster (2013), each had
deep connections to the Manufacturer Defendants. Dr. Fishman, for example,
also served as a KOL for several manufacturers, and stated that he would place
the group “at the forefront” of teaching that “the risks of addiction are ... small
and can be managed”;

c. Atone AAPM conference, 37 of the roughly 40 sessions related to opioids; and

d. AAPM, which received more than $2.2 million in funding from opioid
manufacturers, maintained a corporate relations council, whose members—
including each of the Manufacturer Defendants—paid $25,000 per year (on top
of other funding) to participate in private meetings.

197.  In 2009, with the prompting, assistance, involvement, and funding of the
manufacturers, the AAPM and APS jointly issued guidelines for chronic opioid therapy (the
“2009 AAPM/APS Guidelines”).

198.  The 2009 AAPM/APS Guidelines are supposed to serve the noble purpose of
educating physicians about “best practices,” especially for practitioners who are not already
knowledgeable about pain management. But, in fact, the Guidelines promote the Manufacturer

Defendants’ deceptive messages by distorting the risks and benefits of using opioids to treat
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chronic pain, despite acknowledging that “[r]eliable evidence on methods to accurately assess
the potential benefits of [chronic opioid therapy] is limited.”

199.  When the 2009 AAPM/APS Guidelines were released, 14 of the 21 panel
members who drafted the guidelines received financial support from the Manufacturer
Defendants. Other panel members further suggested that the guidelines might be biased in
many important respects, including the high presumptive maximum dose of opioids, lack of
suggested mandatory urine toxicology testing, and claims of a low risk of addiction.

200. Despite these red flags, the 2009 AAPM/APS Guidelines have been a
particularly effective tool of deception for the Manufacturer Defendants, influencing not only
treating physicians, but also the scientific literature on opioids. The Manufacturer Defendants’
sales representatives have discussed the Guidelines with HCPs during sales calls; the CDC has
recognized that treatment guidelines can “change prescribing practices.” The Guidelines have
been cited hundreds of times in academic literature and reprinted in the Journal of Pain, in
addition to being posted online. In addition, the Manufacturer Defendants, in particular Endo,
widely promoted the Guidelines in New York without disclosing the companies’ involvement in
the development of the Guidelines or their financial backing of the authors.

¢) Academy of Integrative Pain Management

201. The Academy of Integrative Pain Management (“AIPM” and formerly known as
the American Academy of Pain Management) was a highly influential pro-opioid group. Between
2012 and 2017, Manufacturer Defendants Purdue and Janssen gave more than $1.2 million to the
AIPM. In 2016, seven of AIPM’s nine corporate council members listed on its website were
opioid makers.

202.  AIPM’s leaders provided Manufacturer Defendant-friendly testimony on opioid-

related issues, issued action alerts to its network, and gave presentations to HCPs, regulators,
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legislators, patient advocacy organizations, and consumers. In 2008, AIPM’s executive director
urged the FDA to consider the risk of under-treating pain as far more urgent and serious than the
calamity of increasing opioid diversion, abuse, and addiction.

203. AIPM led the Pain Action Alliance to Implement a National Strategy (“PAINS”)
program, which published a state policy report card that downgraded a state for regulating
overprescribing of opioids and a brief denying its role in creating the opioid epidemic.

204.  Purdue, Janssen and Endo funded a medical education guide, Opioid Prescribing:
Clinical Tools and Risk Management Strategies (“Opioid Prescribing”), which was authored by
three members of the board of directors of AIPM, one of whom served as a paid consultant to
Janssen. The guide, which was made available to members of AIPM at no charge, was intended
to reach primary care physicians and other health care professionals, and large portions of the
guide remain available online.

205. Opioid Prescribing minimizes risks associated with opioid addiction, teaching
prescribers, for example, that “fear of addiction and abuse prevents physicians from properly
prescribing opioids, particularly for those with a substance abuse history who could benefit from
opioids[.]” The guide deceptively instructs HCPs to give patients who present symptoms of
“pseudoaddiction” more pain treatment—in other words, higher or more frequent dosages of
opioids—because “[w]hen pain is treated appropriately, aggressive drug-seeking behavior
ceases.” Opioid Prescribing tells HCPs that patients who use opioids to “cope with stress [or]
relieve anxiety,” or even patients who “use opioids to get high, but ... not in a compulsive way,”
are not exhibiting signs of addiction, but rather are displaying “other forms of aberrant drug use.”
Opioid Prescribing further provides that even “behaviors that suggest abuse,” such as

“unscheduled visits, multiple telephone calls to the clinic, unsanctioned dose escalations,
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obtaining opioids from more than one source, selling prescription drugs, and forging
prescriptions,” may not be signs of addiction, but rather “may only reflect ... having pain that is
undertreated.”

206. AIPM abruptly ceased operations in January 2019.

d) The Alliance for Patient Access

207. The Manufacturer Defendants have also communicated their misleading
messaging through the Alliance for Patient Access (“AfPA”). Founded in 2006, AfPA claims to
be a “patient advocacy” organization that is “dedicated to ensuring patient access to approved
therapies,” but in fact is the creation of a Washington, D.C. lobbying firm that does the bidding
of drug companies.

208. The Manufacturer Defendants fund AfPA — and its board members — promoting,
among other things, the distribution of an issue brief titled “Prescription Pain Medication:
Preserving Patient Access While Curbing Abuse,” which features Mallinckrodt KOL Dr. Srinivas
Nalamachu and criticizes prescription drug monitoring programs and regulation of pill mills
because these measures may restrict access to opioids.

e) The U.S. Pain Foundation

209. The U.S. Pain Foundation (“USPF’) is another Front Group with systematic
connections and interpersonal relationships with the Manufacturer Defendants. As one of the largest
recipients of contributions from the Manufacturer Defendants, it collected nearly $3 million in
payments between 2012 and 2015 alone. USPF has been a critical component of the Manufacturer
Defendants’ lobbying efforts to block limits on overprescribing.

210. USPF has made numerous misleading statements regarding opioids. For
example, USPF overstated the ability of opioids to allow patients to function normally, and

suggested—in a website page devoted to veterans, and available to all New Yorkers—that
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prescribing limits are problematic, and that because unrelieved chronic pain is a risk factor for
suicide, “cautioning initiation of opioid therapy for those with suicide ideation may do more harm
than good.”

211. Manifesting the same types of fiscal improprieties as other Front Groups, in 2018,
USPF, which claimed to be the leading advocacy group representing chronic pain patients,
terminated its CEO due to misuse of funds and other “financial irregularities.”

f) American Geriatrics Society

212. The Manufacturer Defendants also used Front Groups—in particular the
American Geriatrics Society (“AGS”), to which they provided substantial financial support—to
target their deceptive marketing at the vulnerable elderly. Members of the AGS Board of Directors
were on the Manufacturer Defendants’ payrolls as either consultants or speakers at medical
events. Representatives of the Manufacturer Defendants suggested activities, lobbying efforts,
and publications to AGS, which then submitted grant proposals seeking to fund these activities
and publications, knowing that they would receive support.

213.  AGS contracted with Purdue, Janssen, and Endo to disseminate guidelines
regarding the use of opioids for chronic pain in 2002 (The Management of Persistent Pain in
Older Persons) and 2009 (Pharmacological Management of Persistent Pain in Older Persons,
hereinafter “2009 AGS Guidelines”).

214.  The 2009 AGS Guidelines misleadingly recommended that “[a]ll patients with
moderate to severe pain . . . should be considered for opioid therapy,” and that “the risks [of
addiction] are exceedingly low in older patients with no current or past history of substance

abuse.” These recommendations are not supported by reliable scientific evidence.
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g) The Pain Care Forum

215. The PCF is a coalition of opioid manufacturers (including all of the Manufacturer
Defendants), distributors, and trade groups, as well as Front Groups, which lobbies on issues that
might impact the opioid industry’s bottom line. It was co-founded in 2005 by a lobbyist for
Purdue and an individual who served as president, executive director, and CEO of the APF
between 2003 and 2011.

216. Through the PCF, the Manufacturer Defendants have deployed extensive
resources to resist efforts by New York and other states to adopt measures that would have
mitigated the opioid epidemic, such as common-sense restrictions on opioid prescribing and
related practices.®® As part of these efforts, the Manufacturer Defendants spent over $880 million
on lobbying and campaign contributions targeting federal and state officials, including in New
York, during the period 2006 to 2015 alone.®’

217. PCF members were actively involved in crafting a 2011 Institute of Medicine
report that misleadingly estimated that 100 million Americans (roughly 40 percent of adults)
suffer from chronic pain. To this day, the figure supports the Manufacturer Defendants’ rallying
cry that the U.S. faces an epidemic of untreated pain.

h) The American Chronic Pain Association

218. The Manufacturer Defendants also fund and control the American Chronic Pain

Association (“ACPA”), yet another self-proclaimed “patient advocacy” organization to which

88 Geoff Mulvihill, et al., Drugmakers fought state opioid limits amid crisis, Associated Press, Sept. 18,2016, available
at https://apnews.com/86e948d183d14091a80f5c3bfb429c68/drugmakers-fought-state-opioid-limits-amid-crisis.
Members of the Purdue-created Pain Care Forum employed over 200 lobbyists in New York State in 2013 through
2015 — the most in any state — and made over $3.7 million in campaign contributions between 2006 and 2015 — the
second-highest sum of any state—according to data obtained by the Associated Press. See
http://data.ap.org/projects/2016/cpi_ap opioids/indexcpiap html.

8 Id.
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they have given substantial funding—both to the entity and its advisory board members. The
ACPA website deceptively downplays the risk of addiction, stating that physical dependence “is
not at all the same” as addiction.

4. The Manufacturer Defendants Spread their Misleading Messages
through Reputable Organizations

a) The Joint Commission

219. The Manufacturer Defendants have manipulated reputable organizations such as
the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (the “Joint Commission™) to
further advance their unlawful marketing of opioids. The Joint Commission certifies over 21,000
health care organizations and is the nation’s oldest and largest health care standards-setting and
accrediting body.

220. In 2000, Purdue sponsored a book through the Joint Commission that falsely
asserted “there is no evidence that addiction is a significant issue when persons are given opioids
for pain control.” It also labeled doctors’ concerns about addiction “inaccurate and exaggerated.”
Dr. David W. Baker, the Joint Commission’s executive vice president for health care quality
evaluation, has acknowledged that “[t]he Joint Commission was one of the dozens of individual
authors and organizations that developed educational materials for pain management that
propagated this erroneous information.”

221. In 2001, due to the influence of the Manufacturer Defendants, the Joint
Commission introduced standards for health care organizations to improve their care for patients
with pain, designating pain as the “fifth vital sign.” The standards, Pain: Current Understanding
of Assessment, Management and Treatments, required systemic assessment of pain in all patients

using quantitative measures of pain, as dictated by the Front Group APS.
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222.  As a result of the Manufacturer Defendants’ efforts to manipulate the standard of
care, many health care organizations risked loss of their Joint Commission accreditation if they did
not incorporate the “fifth vital sign” standard and reduce patients’ subjective experience of pain.
Prescribing opioids thus went from rare to routine.

b) The Federation of State Medical Boards

223.  Purdue, Endo, and Teva also worked through the Federation of State Medical
Boards (“FSMB?”), a national trade organization representing various state medical boards.

224. In 2007, FSMB nationally disseminated a publication called Responsible Opioid
Prescribing, and in 2012 it published a second edition entitled Responsible Opioid Prescribing: A
Clinician’s Guide. These publications were widely distributed through legitimate channels: first to
state medical boards, and then to practicing physicians.

225. These publications misleadingly recommended powerful opioids as a first choice
for chronic pain, underplayed the risk of addiction from those drugs, and reiterated the misleading
concept of “pseudoaddiction” as an alternative explanation for drug-seeking behaviors or abuse.

226. The publications acknowledge funding from Purdue and other organizations, but
readers would have no way to know that the publications’ contents were reliant on materials
sponsored by Purdue, that Purdue paid a $50,000 grant to support their publication and contributed
$100,000 for distribution, and that they were written by a Purdue KOL, Dr. Scott Fishman, with

extensive input from Purdue’s senior medical director at the time, Dr. Haddox. Indeed, Dr. Haddox

was personally invested, stating in an email to Purdue’s [ AR
e
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5. The Manufacturer Defendants Targeted Their Surreptitious Campaign
at Vulnerable Populations

227. The Manufacturer Defendants specifically targeted their marketing at two
vulnerable populations—the elderly and veterans.

228.  Elderly patients taking opioids have been found to be exposed to elevated fracture
risks, a greater risk for hospitalizations, and increased vulnerability to adverse drug effects and
interactions, such as respiratory depression, which occurs more frequently in elderly patients.

229. The Manufacturer Defendants promoted the notion—without adequate scientific
foundation—that the elderly are particularly unlikely to become addicted to opioids. As described
above, the AGS 2009 Guidelines, for example, which Purdue, Endo, and Janssen publicized,
described the risk of addiction as “exceedingly low in older patients with no current or past history
of substance abuse” (emphasis added). As another example, an Endo-sponsored CME put on by
NIPC, Persistent Pain in the Older Adult, taught that prescribing opioids to older patients carried
“possibly less potential for abuse than in younger patients.” Contrary to these assertions, however,
a 2010 study examining overdoses among long-term opioid users found that patients 65 or older
were among those with the largest number of serious overdoses.

230. A study showed that veterans returning from Iraq and Afghanistan who were
prescribed opioids have a higher incidence of adverse clinical outcomes, such as overdoses and

self-inflicted and accidental injuries.”® A 2008 survey showed that prescription drug misuse among

N Irag and Afghanistan Veterans: National Findings from VA Residential Treatment Programs,

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3661276/pdf/nihms468727.pdf (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).
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military personnel doubled from 2002 to 2005, and then nearly tripled again over the next three
years.”! Veterans are twice as likely as non-veterans to die from an opioid overdose.”?

231. The Manufacturer Defendants deliberately targeted veterans with deceptive
marketing. For example, as detailed above, Exit Woundls, sponsored by Purdue, Endo, and Janssen,
was rife with misrepresentations about the risk of addiction from opioids.

232.  Opioid prescriptions have dramatically increased for veterans and the elderly.
Since 2007, prescriptions for the elderly have grown at twice the rate of prescriptions for adults
between the ages of 40 and 59. And in 2009, military doctors wrote 3.8 million prescriptions for

narcotic pain pills—four times as many as they did in 2001.

G. The Distributors Accelerated the Damaging Flood of Opioids into New York State
by Persistently Violating their Legal Duties

233.  While the Manufacturer Defendants created the initial surge in demand for opioids,
and maintained it with their ongoing fraudulent conduct, the explosion in opioid overuse in New
York could not have been perpetuated and expanded over the past decade to such devastating effect
without the misconduct of the Distributor Defendants.

234. None of them fulfilled their duties under the New York Controlled Substances Act
(“NYCSA”) to create effective policies to guard against the oversupply of opioids to pharmacies,
thereby enabling and expanding their widespread diversion.

235. Indeed, while each Distributor Defendant nominally implemented at least some

form of written anti-diversion policy, they all failed to address one or more critical weaknesses or

o1 Substance Abuse among the Military, Veterans, and their Families, Nat’l Institute on Drug Abuse (April 2011),
http://www.drugs.indiana.edu/repository/veterans.pdf (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).

92 Accidental Poisoning Mortality Among Patients in the Department of Veterans Affairs Health System,

Bohnert AS, Ilgen MA, Galea S, McCarthy JF, Blow FC (April 2011),
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21407033 (last visited Mar. 25, 2019).
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gaps in the diversion pipeline under their supervision. Even if the policies had been strictly
enforced, therefore, they could not have been effective in stopping the flow of improperly-
distributed opioids.

236. For example, none of the Distributor Defendants’ written policies adequately
addressed the risk of using sales personnel to communicate with, and provide accurate compliance-
related information from, their pharmacy customers. Indeed, their written policies sometimes
actually exacerbated that problem. For example, salespeople would warn customers that they were
approaching their monthly threshold limits for ordering certain categories of controlled substances,
putting them in a position to assist their customers in evading compliance reviews that would have
otherwise occurred by manipulating the timing and volume of their orders.

237. Likewise, none of the Distributor Defendants enacted policies that adequately
safeguarded against customers receiving unjustifiable increases in their monthly threshold
allowance for opioid product orders. Instead, those policies directed compliance staff to rely
principally on information provided by the customers themselves in order to justify such increases,
and rarely mandated independent investigation before a threshold allowance for opioids could be
increased.

238. Most consequentially, none of the Distributor Defendants enacted policies that
required customers to be suspended from ordering controlled substances, or terminated entirely,
after those customers had displayed consistent (and even years-long) patterns of making suspicious
orders that exceeded their established threshold limits.

239.  This broad failure of the Distributor Defendants to fulfill their explicit statutory

duties to create effective anti-diversion policies was then compounded in each case by a common
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pattern of practical failures, which represented separate violations of the NYCSA’s requirement
that they maintain effective anti-diversion policies.

240.  First, the Distributor Defendants routinely failed to staff their compliance functions
with qualified personnel, and failed to provide those compliance employees and their sales
representatives with appropriate training. Even front-line compliance functions, such as approving
threshold increases, detecting, blocking, and reporting suspicious orders, and terminating and/or
suspending customers, were often assigned to operations, sales and administrative employees who
had no experience with regulatory compliance of any kind.

241.  Second, none of the Distributor Defendants had a consistent practice of conducting
appropriate due diligence of either prospective new customers or their existing customers. New
customers were routinely onboarded despite the acknowledged presence of unresolved red flags,
and none of the Distributor Defendants ensured that additional investigations were conducted when
existing customers made suspicious orders, even when compliance staff flagged those orders as
suspicious, blocked them, and reported them to the State.

242. Indeed, the Distributor Defendants routinely allowed their customers to make
multiple suspicious orders within the same month, week, or even year, without conducting any
additional due diligence of those customers. Even where customers had to be blocked from
ordering opioids in excess of their monthly threshold allowance multiple times within that month,
the Distributor Defendants would allow those customers to resume ordering opioids the next month,
at the same volume levels as before, without requiring any follow up investigation.

243.  And none of the Distributor Defendants conducted periodic, unexpected due-
diligence audits of their customers, even among the easily identifiable and relatively small groups

of pharmacies that consistently ordered the highest volumes of opioids. Instead, these pharmacies
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could go for years without the Distributor Defendants updating their knowledge of those customers’
prescriber base, customer traffic patterns, and other relevant store conditions. Even when those
pharmacies were scrutinized, the customer was often warned in advance.

244.  Third, the Distributor Defendants routinely failed to detect, block and report their
customers’ suspicious orders for opioids.

245.  While the Distributor Defendants’ policies nominally allowed for compliance staff
to identify any order as suspicious based on factors such as the non-exhaustive criteria identified
by the NYCSA, as a matter of practice, only orders that exceeded a customer’s monthly threshold
limit for a particular category of controlled substances would actually trigger a compliance review.
As a result, untold numbers of opioid orders that should have been reviewed due to their unusual
size or frequency, or their departure from the customers’ normal ordering patterns, were never even
checked to determine whether they were suspicious.

246. Because the Distributor Defendants routinely allowed their customers to obtain
information about the monthly threshold limits governing their orders of opioid products, orders
customers made within the limits after being enabled to “game” them were improperly excluded
from compliance review, when they all should have been checked to see whether the customers
were deliberately structuring their orders to evade scrutiny.

247. Even as to orders that exceeded customers’ monthly thresholds, the Distributor
Defendants, over varying time periods, routinely failed to accurately identify those orders as
suspicious. Instead, they released those orders for delivery based on perfunctory and unverified
information provided by the customer, or for no documented reason at all.

248. Moreover, even when the Distributor Defendants did identify orders as suspicious

and did block them from delivery to customers, they routinely failed to report those suspicious
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orders to the State, sometimes going months or years without reporting any at all. When they did
make suspicious-order reports, the reports were routinely incomplete, for example, by failing to
identify all of the relevant suspicious orders for a customer, even when they were made within the
same month, week, or even day.

249.  Fourth, the Distributor Defendants failed to act to suspend customers from ordering
controlled substances, let alone terminate their accounts, even after compliance staff had blocked
and reported dozens, or even hundreds, of suspicious orders from those customers. In the relatively
rare instances where a customer had been terminated or suspended, the Distributor Defendants
allowed them to reinstate their accounts, or open accounts under new business names, without
investigating and resolving the issues that had led to the initial termination or suspension.

250.  Fifth, none of the Defendant Distributors systematically stored, organized, and
made accessible for reference information about their customers or their owners, pharmacists, and
top prescribers, in order to allow for meaningful future compliance efforts.

251. The Defendant Distributors did not require compliance staff to obtain customers’
prescriber information, and some actually changed their policies to forbid such inquiries, willfully
blinding themselves to one of the most important indicators of diversion.

252.  While compliance staff and/or third-party investigators retained by the Defendant
Distributors would sometimes flag prescribers as suspicious in the course of conducting due
diligence of a pharmacy, that information was not stored or shared in any useable format. As a
result, when the same suspicious prescriber appeared among another pharmacy’s top prescribers,
the compliance staff handling that subsequent due diligence investigation would have no way of
knowing about this risk that had already been identified, unless they had personally handled the

earlier investigation, and happened to remember the prescriber’s name.
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253. Similarly, they made no effort to collect and compare information about pharmacies
that made high-volume orders of opioids, had been flagged for making suspicious orders, or had
been suspended or terminated for suspicious or illegal practices. As a result, compliance staff had
no way of knowing that a pharmacy they were investigating shared ordering patterns or top
prescribers with another risky, suspicious, and/or previously disciplined customer.

254.  Sixth, the Distributor Defendants failed to promptly report compliance violations to
the State. Indeed, even when they actually detected failures in their compliance systems, they made
no effort to report those known incidents. More broadly, due to the combination of systematic
failures riddling their compliance systems described above, none of the Distributor Defendants had
the competence to effectively detect their own violations.

255. For example, if any of the relevant Distributor Defendants had conducted periodic
audits of their own records of customers’ orders, those customers’ patterns of ordering in excess of
their monthly threshold allowance for opioid products, the number of times those orders were
released without justification, and the number of times those orders were blocked as suspicious
without being reported to government agencies and/or triggering additional investigations,
suspensions, or terminations, they would have each been obliged to report hundreds, if not
thousands, of NYCSA violations at a time.

256. In short, the Distributor Defendants deliberately lied to the State, both expressly
and by omission, year in and year out, about the effectiveness of their compliance systems and the
incidence of NYCSA violations, so that they could fraudulently maintain their licenses to continue

doing business in New York.
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II. Specific Misconduct of Each of the Manufacturer Defendants

A, Purdue

257. Purdue manufactured, marketed, sold, and/or distributed in the following opioid

drugs in New York:
Product Name Chemical Name
OxyContin Oxycodone hydrochloride, extended release
MS Contin Morphine sulfate, extended-release
Butrans Buprenorphine transdermal system
Hysingla ER Hydrocodone bitartrate, extended release
Targiniq ER Oxycodone hydrochloride and naloxone hydrochloride, extended-
release
Dilaudid Hydromorphone hydrochloride
Dilaudid-HP Hydromorphone hydrochloride, high potency
Palladone Hydromorphone hydrochloride, extended-release
Ryzolt Tramadol hydrochloride, extended-release

258. The market for long-term use of opioids to manage chronic pain conditions, such
as lower back pain and osteoarthritis, did not exist until Purdue worked relentlessly to change
prescribing norms to generate a financial windfall through its new product, OxyContin, a timed-
release formulation of oxycodone.

259. Employing a range of misleading and deceptive practices, Purdue worked towards
completely transforming providers’ and the public’s perceptions about the safety of long-term

opioid use in general and the risk profile of OxyContin in particular.

1. The Sacklers Set the Stage for Aggressive Opioid Marketing

260. The foundation for OxyContin’s success was laid by the Sackler family well before
OxyContin was even developed, and the Sacklers continued to play a key role in bringing it to

market, promoting its commercial success, and causing its devastating effects.
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a) The Sacklers and the Integration of Advertising and Medicine

261.  Arthur Sackler was a psychiatrist turned “ad man”: he worked both as a psychiatrist
at Creedmoor State Hospital in New York and as the president of the William Douglas McAdams
advertising agency. Using his unique insight into the medical profession, he became a pioneer of
pharmaceutical advertising in the 1950’s and 60’s by understanding, and exploiting, the power of
recommendations from fellow physicians.

262. In striving to make Pfizer (with its blockbuster drug, Valium) a household name
among physicians, Arthur Sackler recognized that “selling new drugs requires a seduction of not
just the patient but the doctor who writes the prescription.”®* This “seduction” meant disseminating
pharmaceutical messaging to the masses under the guise of science and truth through such tactics
as underwriting scientific studies to be published as seemingly neutral articles in medical journals,

3

paying prominent physicians to endorse products, marketing illness as “under treated,” and
providing physician “education” in the form of seminars and continuing medical education courses.

263. Allen Frances, the former chair of psychiatry at Duke University School of
Medicine, stated that “‘[m]ost of the questionable practices that propelled the pharmaceutical
industry into the scourge it is today can be attributed to Arthur Sackler.””®* And yet it is his
playbook that Purdue—and, ultimately, many other opioid manufacturers—employed and

perfected to market opioids to the masses.

b) The Sacklers and the Development of OxyContin

264. In 1952, the Sackler brothers—Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond—purchased a

small patent-medicine company called the Purdue Frederick Company (“PF Co.”). The company,

93 Patrick Radden Keefe, New Yorker, The Family that Built an Empire on Pain, Oct. 30, 2017.
% Id.
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originally formed and incorporated in New York (up until May 2004, when it was merged into PF
Labs), sold a range of products. Raymond was the head executive of the family’s U.S. business
while Mortimer ran the U.K. side of the business.

265. Then in the 1980s, PF Co. and its associated companies entered the opioid business.
The Sackler Families, through a U.K. affiliate, acquired a Scottish drug producer that had developed
a sustained-release technology suitable for morphine. PF Co. marketed this extended-release
morphine as MS Contin, which quickly became a best seller, principally for managing cancer and
end-of-life pain.

266. With MS Contin’s patent expiration looming, however, the Sackler Families
searched for a drug to replace it. Around that time, Richard Sackler, Raymond Sackler’s son,
became more involved in the management of the families’ businesses. Richard had grand ambitions
for the family business; according to a long-time Purdue sales representative, Richard really wanted
Purdue to be big—“I mean really big.”®> Richard believed Purdue should develop another use for
its “Contin” timed-release system.

267. In 1990, Purdue’s vice president of clinical research, Robert Kaiko, sent a memo to
Richard and other executives recommending that the company work on a pill containing
oxycodone. ° Accordingly, Purdue developed “OxyContin”—a pure oxycodone in a time-release
formula similar to MS Contin, more potent than morphine, and available in doses far in excess of

other prescription opioids.

9 Christopher Glazek, The Secretive Family Making Billions From The Opioid Crisis, Esquire Magazine, Oct. 16,
2017 (quoting Purdue sales representative Shelby Sherman) (emphasis in original).
% Harriet Ryan, supra note 21, Purdue memo.
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268. With Richard Sackler leading the charge, Purdue launched its blockbuster drug
OxyContin in 1996 with the explicit strategy of positioning it as an opioid that physicians could
responsibly prescribe to address a broad spectrum of pain relief, in contrast to existing (and,
paradoxically, less potent) opioids on the market, which had the “stigma” of only being appropriate
for cancer and end-of-life pain.

269. This strategy was devised from Purdue’s experience with MS Contin and ||

-
N A marketing
memo sent to Purdue’s top sales executives in March 1995 recommended that if Purdue could show
-
|

270. To achieve that marketing goal and avoid the “stigma” attached to less potent
opioids, Purdue persuaded the assigned FDA examiner, over internal objections within the FDA, to
approve a label stating: “Delayed absorption as provided by OxyContin tablets, is believed to reduce
the abuse liability of a drug.”

271. The basis for this reduced abuse liability claim was entirely theoretical and not
based on any actual research, data, or empirical scientific support, and the FDA ultimately pulled
this language from OxyContin’s label in 2001.

272. Nonetheless, as set forth in detail below, Purdue made reduced risk of addiction
and abuse the cornerstone of its marketing efforts.

273. At the OxyContin launch party, Richard Sackler asked the audience to imagine a

series of natural disasters: an earthquake, a volcanic eruption, a hurricane, and a blizzard. He said:
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“the launch of OxyContin Tablets will be followed by a blizzard of prescriptions that will bury the
competition. The prescription blizzard will be so deep, dense, and white....”

2. Purdue Deployed Multiple Marketing Tactics to Deliberately and
Insidiously Distort the Risks and Benefits of Long-Term Opioid Use

274. To sell its new extended-release opioid, OxyContin, Purdue developed an
aggressive marketing scheme to fundamentally change opioid prescribing norms by using
seemingly independent practitioners and medical societies, as well as an army of sales
representatives and unbranded “patient advocacy” websites, to distort the risks and benefits of long-
term opioid use.

a) Key Opinion Leaders and Front Groups Developed and
Disseminated Materials Containing Purdue’s Misleading Messages

275. A critical component of Purdue’s deceptive marketing scheme was using KOLs and
Front Groups to infiltrate the medical community.
276. Purdue paid New York physicians significant sums to act as speakers, KOLs, and/or

consultants. For example, from August through December 2013, Purdue paid a single New York

physician [ N [ 2014, Purdue paid that same physician
I < another New York physician

277. Another crucial, and complementary, marketing channel for Purdue was Front
Groups over whose publications Purdue exercised editorial input and control. From 2006 to 2016,
Purdue provided more than | A v ch
of which was directed to various Front Groups in exchange for seemingly independent and credible
“education” efforts about opioids. This included grants of |Jjiiil] to AAPM and over N
to APS—the organizations that issued the highly beneficial guidelines on opioid prescribing.

278.  Purdue particularly dominated APF, described above, with grants totaling over JJjj

I APF understood that it was expected to disseminate Purdue’s misleading messaging in
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exchange for this funding: in 2010 APF reported to Purdue that it reached more than 38.9 million
people “with key messages about pain and overcoming barriers to treatment through print,
television, radio, and online placements as a part of Purdue’s local market media outreach grant.”
APF’s work on behalf of Purdue grew into an official consulting relationship in 2011, allowing
Purdue to continue funding APF’s operations in exchange for APF promoting Purdue’s marketing
initiatives.

279. Purdue spared no expense in getting its message to New York prescribers and the

public through seemingly legitimate sources. From 2007 through 2016, Purdue paid |

I i New York State alone.
This included |_——
-
—

b} Purdue Directly Disseminated these “Independent” Findings to
Health Care Providers through its Army of Sales Representatives
and Unbranded Websites

280. Purdue compounded the effect of the deceptive “educational” materials generated
by KOLs and Front Groups by directly disseminating them through hundreds of sales
representatives deployed around the country to promote Purdue’s products directly to providers.

281. Sales representatives were Purdue’s most effective means of communicating its
misleading messaging, and Purdue relied on them heavily in New York. By 2017, Purdue had [jjj
sales representatives targeting New York prescribers and pharmacies, making a total of JJjjjiij sales
calls to ] vnique providers. Purdue’s sales calls steadily increased from 2007 to 2011 and then

stayed at an incredible rate—from between i to Il Visits per year:
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282. From 2006 through 2017, Purdue sales representatives visited New York

prescribers and pharmacists nearly [N/ es:
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283.  This relentless marketing included a combined total of thousands of visits to dozens

of HCPs who were indicted for or convicted of illegal prescribing.

284. Purdue exerted significant control over sales representatives’ communications with
providers through these sales calls. For example, Purdue required its detailers to use only sales
aides that were reviewed, approved, and supplied by Purdue, in addition to conducting national and
regional sales trainings and routinely sending guidance memos to the entire sales force.

285. Through these detailers” m-person sales calls, armed with Purdue-approved
messaging and materials, Purdue distorted the benefits and risks of ER opioids. As a sales

kb

representative told a reporter: “We were directed to lie. Why mince words about 1t? ....
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286. Purdue strategically directed its detailers to focus their misleading messaging on
two key targets: primary care providers and heavy opioid prescribers. First, Purdue targeted
primary care physicians and others unfamiliar with pain management—including “physicians still
in training”—to position OxyContin as the drug they could “start with and stay with” to manage
their patients’ pain relief, even if they did not previously manage patients’ pain.

287.  This strategy is reflected in Purdue sales representatives’ call notes. In 2008, il

288. For its second target, Purdue analyzed vast data sets to identify the highest volume
opioid prescribers so detailers could repeatedly visit them to encourage switching to Purdue’s
opioid products and “titrate” to higher doses.

289. This questionable detailing practice also emerges from call notes. For example,

I [his facility had a long history with Purdue—in 2011, the facility’s

clinical research director entered into a contract with Purdue to be a “consultant.”

290. To ensure the success of its detailing strategy, Purdue dangled financial incentives
to drive its sales force to increase opioid prescriptions, giving sales representatives the ability to earn
bonuses of tens of thousands of dollars, and possibly more, depending on the volume of prescriptions
they could generate. In 2001, annual bonuses for sales representatives averaged $71,500 and
reached as high as nearly $240,000.

291. To take just one quarter as an example: in the third quarter of 2010, detailers could

receive up to four different bonuses based on oxycodone and Ryzolt prescriptions in a single
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quarter. This included a bonus of up to $12,500 for increased retail prescriptions of brand or
generic oxycodone. Another bonus was based on the volume of generic or brand ER opioids
prescribed at each dosage to incentivize driving up prescribing at all strengths.

292.  Purdue knew that its detailing visits were effective at changing prescriber behavior.
Its business plan emphasized that “OxyContin is promotionally sensitive, specifically with the
higher doses, and recent research findings reinforce the value of sales calls.”

293.  Purdue also disseminated its misleading materials directly to patients and
physicians through its unbranded pain management advocacy websites, www.inthefaceofpain.com
and www.partnersagainstpain.com, which were aimed at raising general awareness of untreated
pain.

¢) Purdue Broadly Disseminated False and Deceptive Information
about the Risks and Benefits of Opioids for Chronic Pain

294. Through its combination of Front Groups and KOLs to generate Purdue-approved
content and its army of financially-incented detailers to bring that messaging to targeted providers,
Purdue created an ecosystem for disseminating its key misrepresentations about opioids, all
intended to distort prescribers’ understanding of the risks and benefits of starting their patients on
opioids as a long-term treatment for chronic pain.

295. At the time it made each misrepresentation, Purdue knew it was spreading
information that, at best, had no factual foundation, and, at worst, was deliberately distorting or
directly contrary to existing data and information. Indeed, the goal of Purdue’s elaborate and
expensive marketing scheme was to overcome the existing scientific consensus that opioids were

highly addictive and thus were generally not appropriate for treating chronic pain.
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i.  Purdue’s False and Deceptive “Superiority” Claims

296. Purdue deceptively highlighted the risks of high doses of acetaminophen and
NSAIDs by marketing that opioids, unlike those medications, have “no ceiling dose” and are thus
safer pain management options.

297. Directly and through its various Front Groups, Purdue promoted the message that
NSAIDs and Tylenol have “life-threatening” side effects, while opioids are “the gold standard of
pain medications.” For example, Purdue sponsored a nationally-available CME, edited in part by
KOL Dr. Russell Portenoy, that deceptively instructed physicians that NSAIDs and other drugs, but

not opioids, are unsafe at high doses.

298, As late as 2016, G
I
I
E—

299. Even while it was promoting these misrepresentations, Purdue knew its opioids
were not safer alternatives. A 2011 Purdue sales training acknowledged that the company “cannot
represent or suggest” that its drugs are “safer” or “more effective” or make “any other sort of
comparative claim.”

ii.  Purdue Falsely Claimed Opioids Improved Function and
Quality of Life

300. Purdue also promoted its opioid products by falsely claiming that they improve
patients’ function and “quality of life.” Purdue’s direct marketing materials and sales
representatives repeatedly claimed that opioids would help patients regain functionality and make

it easier for them to conduct everyday tasks like walking, working, and exercising.
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301. For example, call notes from 2006 reflect that sales representatives repeatedly il

-
-
-
I Similarly, a 2008 call note
reflects the detailer’s follow up topic with a provider is to ||
|

302. Not only was there no evidentiary basis for these claims, as described above, but
Purdue’s internal documents admit tha G
|

ili.  Purdue’s Deceptive Claim that OxyContin Provided
Twelve Hours of Pain Relief

303.  Although OxyContin is approved by the FDA for 12 hour dosing, Purdue knew that
many patients, and possibly most, did not receive a full 12 hours of continuous pain relief when
taking OxyContin and that patients started experiencing not just pain, but also withdrawal
symptoms, before the time for their next dose.

304. Nonetheless, Purdue made 12-hour dosing one of its core marketing messages,
routinely promoting that OxyContin provided a full 12 hours of pain relief.

305. To support its claim that OxyContin provides patients with a “smoother” 12
continuous hours of pain relief, unlike its competitors that cause “peaks” of euphoria and “troughs”

of insufficient pain relief, Purdue used “Peak and Trough” graphs:
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306. In fact, however, extended-release oxycodone does not enter the body on a linear
rate, as reflected in Purdue’s marketing graphs; rather, OxyContin releases a greater proportion of
oxycodone into the body upon administration, and the release gradually tapers.

307. Purdue’s own research on OxyContin found a recurrence of post-surgical pain well
before 12 hours, and more than of the half of the study participants given OxyContin re-medicated
before 12 hours. In 2008, the FDA found that a “substantial number” of chronic pain patients taking
OxyContin experience “end-of-dose failure” with little or no pain relief at the end of the dosing
period.”’

308. Purdue expressly told the FDA that 12-hour dosing “represents a significant
competitive advantage of OxyContin over other products.”

iv.  Purdue Concealed the Link Between Long-Term Use of
Opioids and Abuse and Addiction

309. One of Purdue’s key hurdles when launching OxyContin was overcoming the

medical community’s entrenched views about opioids’ significant risk of addiction.

97 Letter from Janet Woodcock, MD., Dir., Ctr. for Drug Eval. and Research, to Connecticut Attorney General Richard
Blumenthal 5 (Sept. 9, 2008), available at https://www.scribd.com/document/328752805/Blumenthal-Cp-Woodcock.
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310. Rather than truthfully market its opioid products based on the known risks of
addiction and abuse, Purdue began inundating the medical community, both directly and through
its KOLs and Front Groups, with misleading information to deceptively conceal the link between
long-term opioid use and addiction. Purdue recognized that physicians wanted “pain relief for these
patients without addicting them to an opioid,” and positioned its products accordingly.

311. For example, in its 1998 promotional video, I Got My Life Back, Purdue claimed
the rate of addiction “is much less than 1%.” Purdue mailed thousands of doctors this promotional
video, where a physician asserts:

There’s no question that our best, strongest pain medicines are the opioids. But

these are the same drugs that have a reputation for causing addiction and other

terrible things. Now, in fact, the rate of addiction amongst pain patients who are

treated by doctors is much less than one percent. They don’t wear out, they go on

working, they do not have serious medical side effects.

312. Purdue even trained its sales representatives to deceive doctors that the risk of
addiction was “less than one percent.”

313.  Even while promoting these misrepresentations, Purdue knew that patients who
used opioids as prescribed were at risk of developing an addiction. As early as 1996, Purdue’s
leadership began receiving anecdotal reports that the time-release mechanism used in both
OxyContin and MS Contin was being subverted easily by crushing and other straightforward
methods. By 1998, Purdue knew of findings reported in a medical journal concerning MS Contin
abuse and street value—a 2,059 percent markup.

314. By 1999, the company and its sales staff were receiving widespread reports from
the field that OxyContin was being widely diverted and abused. Purdue itself funded a study in

1999 that found 13% of patients who used OxyContin to treat headaches developed “addictive

behavior.”
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315. A 1999 internal email to a senior executive about abuse and diversion of MS Contin

and OxyContin reflects Purdue’s familiarity with the issues, || N R

316. Prescribers in New York also reported their abuse and diversion concerns to

Purdue’s detailers. For example, one detailer in New York wrote in 2008 |

]
I other salcs
representative was told
N

v.  Purdue Misrepresented the Extent to which Addiction Risk
Can Be Managed

317. To downplay concerns over addiction even further, Purdue disseminated Front
Group-branded addiction management “tools” that Purdue claimed could be used to manage the
risk of addiction, despite lacking evidence the tools were at effective for achieving that goal.

318.  For example, Purdue distributed APF’s Treatment Options guide, which as noted
above, touted “opioid agreements.” Purdue’s detailers also provided New York prescribers a
Partners Against Pain “Pain Management Kit” that contained several “drug abuse screening tools,”
including the “Opioid Risk Tool.” Purdue actively disseminated these materials to misleadingly
give providers a false sense of security that they could safely start a course of opioids with patients

and effectively manage those with a high risk of addiction.
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vi.  Purdue Falsely Claimed that Opioid Withdrawal Is Easily
Managed

319. Purdue also sought to allay fears of opioid addiction and tolerance by claiming that
patients’ opioid dependence could be managed by tapering the dosage while intentionally

downplaying the severe withdrawal symptoms associated with such tapering.

320.  For example, I
-
|
-
I [his is contrary to providers’ actual experience—for example, one New York
sales representative was tol
-
|

d) Purdue Misrepresented or Omitted the Greater Dangers Posed by
Higher Doses of Opioids

321. Once patients started on opioids, Purdue then pushed health care providers to
increase the dosages prescribed while omitting the increased risk, particularly regarding overdoses.

Purdue trained its detailers to reassure prescribers that there was no ceiling on the amount of

OxyContin a patient could be prescribed, even though it was aware || NN

322. Purdue emphasized to its sales representatives the importance of increasing dosages
(“titration”), and even provided a guide to help the sales force “practice verbalizing the titration

message” to get patients on higher doses of opioids.
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323. Purdue’s strategy to increase doses relied heavily on the in-person sales calls. An
internal analysis “found that there is greater loss in the 60mg and 80mg strengths (compared to
other strengths) when we don’t make primary sales calls or stop making primary sales calls.”

324. Purdue carefully analyzed how much of its profit depended on higher doses of
opioids, internally reporting on the financial consequences of a shift in lower dosing: “[a] small
shift of roughly 15K prescriptions from 20mg or 15mg down to 10mg has a $2MM impact.” When
the U.S. Centers for Disease Control warned against the highest and most dangerous doses of
opioids, |
|

e) Purdue Promoted the False Notion of “Pseudoaddiction” to
Encourage Increased Prescribing to Patients Presenting with Signs
of Opiate Addiction

325. Finally, to deflect providers’ concerns that individuals prescribed OxyContin were
engaging in drug-seeking behavior consistent with addiction, Purdue promoted the fictional
condition of “pseudoaddiction.”

326. For example, Purdue widely distributed an unbranded pamphlet developed as part
of'its “Partners Against Pain” initiative, Clinical Issues in Opioid Prescribing, which urged doctors
to look for symptoms of “pseudoaddiction’:

[Pseudoaddiction is a] term which has been used to describe patient behaviors that

may occur when pain is undertreated. Patients with unrelieved pain may become

focused on obtaining medications, may “clock watch,” and may otherwise seem

inappropriately “drug-seeking.” Even such behaviors as illicit drug use and
deception can occur in the patient’s efforts to obtain relief. Pseudoaddiction can be

distinguished from true addiction in that the behaviors resolve when the pain is
effectively treated.

327. This pamphlet was distributed |G
I Purduce was directly involved in its development, including providing direct
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input from Dr. Haddox. |
-

328. Purdue’s other widely-distributed materials similarly encouraged physicians to
interpret signs of addiction as under-treatment of pain and urged them to treat pain “aggressively”
despite indications of addiction. One pamphlet warned that “[m]isunderstanding of addiction and
mislabeling of patients as addicts results in unnecessary withholding of opioid medications.”” A
later edition of that same brochure claimed: “The term pseudoaddiction has emerged in the literature
to describe the inaccurate interpretation of [drug-seeking] behaviors in patients who have pain that
has not been effectively treated.”

329. Purdue’s efforts worked: for example, one NY Nurse Practitioner told a Purdue

detailr |
-
I

3. Purdue Continued its Deceptive Marketing Campaign Even After
Pleading Guilty to Misbranding OxyContin

330. In 2007, Purdue’s illegal and deceptive behavior finally caught up with it, and both
the company and individual executives pleaded guilty to a federal felony based on its marketing
practices. Yet even this did not stop Purdue’s fraudulent and deceptive marketing of opioids.

a) Purdue’s 2007 Guilty Plea

331. In May 2007, the Purdue board voted to have the Purdue Frederick Company, Inc.
(“PFC”) plead guilty to misbranding OxyContin, a felony under the federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C.A. §§ 331(a), 332(a)(2). These intentional violations of the law happened

while Richard Sackler was CEO, Jonathan, Kathe, and Mortimer were vice presidents, and Richard,
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Jonathan, Kathe, Mortimer, Ilene, Beverly and Theresa Sackler were all on the board. PFC paid
approximately $600 million in sanctions, and the individual defendants paid over $34 million.

332. The plea agreement plainly stated: “Purdue is pleading guilty as described above
because Purdue is in fact guilty.”

333. Purdue specifically admitted that its supervisors and employees, “with the intent to
defraud or mislead, marketed and promoted OxyContin as less addictive, less subject to abuse and
diversion, and less likely to cause tolerance and withdrawal than other pain medications.”

334. Purdue admitted that this deceptive marketing and advertising occurred through
misstatements by its own trained sales representatives who mischaracterized the risks of OxyContin
addiction and abuse.

335. Purdue also entered into a Corporate Integrity Agreement with the Office of
Inspector General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) to ensure
compliance with relevant federal laws. This Agreement required Purdue to establish and maintain
a Corporate Compliance Program, which would include a compliance officer who would report to
Purdue’s board and a Compliance Committee.

336. The Sackler Defendants specifically promised to comply with rules that prohibit
deception about Purdue opioids. Defendants Richard, Ilene, Jonathan, Kathe, and Mortimer Sackler
each certified in writing to the government that he or she had read and understood the rules and
would obey them. But as set forth below, they continued to direct Purdue’s illegal and deceptive
marketing schemes.

b) Purdue’s Post-2007 Opioid Marketing Practices

337. As a result of the 2007 felony convictions, the Purdue Frederick Company
effectively went out of business. The Sacklers continued their opioid business in two other

companies: Purdue Pharma Inc. and Purdue Pharma L.P.
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338. Through these companies, Purdue continued its deceptive marketing, largely
through more surreptitious means, fraudulently concealing its non-compliance and continued
deception until recent renewed scrutiny revealed its elaborate efforts to avoid detection.

339. In the past few years, Purdue, often through its Front Groups, continued to mislead
the public, influence public policy and public opinion, and resist efforts to place reasonable
restrictions on opioid prescription activity that might have reduced the scale of the crisis.

340. In February 2018, the Senate publication Fueling an Epidemic revealed that Purdue
had been the single largest funder of organizations that served as Front Groups or that otherwise
advanced Purdue’s interests, spending over $4.15 million between January 2012 and March 2017
on twelve different organizations that were examined by the Senate committee.”® Indeed, Purdue’s
quarterly spending notably decreased from 2000 to 2007, as Purdue came under investigation by
the Department of Justice, but then spiked to above $25 million in 2011 (for a total of $110 million
that year), and continued to rise through fiscal year 2015.

341.  Much of this funding went to organizations that, with Purdue’s knowledge and in
many cases Purdue’s prior approval, minimized the risk of addiction and made other misleading
statements set forth herein. Many of the payments from Purdue to these Front Groups were not
adequately disclosed by Purdue or by the Front Groups themselves.

342. Purdue has worked directly and through its Front Groups, in some cases secretly,
to defeat or delay measures aimed at mitigating the spiraling public health crisis, such as measures
to create accountability for overprescribing physicians, and issuance of the CDC Guideline that

could result in reduced prescribing.

% Fueling an Epidemic, supra note 84, at 4-5.
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343.  As noted above, Purdue is a key force behind the Pain Care Forum, which has
attempted to block efforts by New York and other states to adopt common-sense measures to
alleviate the opioids epidemic. The organization is led by a Purdue lobbyist who uses a Purdue
corporate email account to influence federal and state legislation and regulatory activities.

344. Sales representatives also touted the tamper-resistant properties of a reformulated
version of OxyContin that began to be marketed in 2010, even though Purdue knew from its
surveillance of online forums used by drug abusers that “abusers are accepting the change [in
formulation] and working to overcome the tamper-resistant properties of the new formulation of
OxyContin,” and even though it was aware that oral ingestion—for which tamper resistance had no
effect—was the most frequent method of abuse.

345. Moreover, Purdue paid for and promoted articles that stated or implied that its
tamper-resistant drugs were safe, even while it was aware of the ease with which they could be
abused through oral ingestion and other means. In 2014, for example, Purdue placed three articles
in The Atlantic magazine as sponsored content, including one article by a physician that
misleadingly called the tamper-resistant formulations (the most prominent of which was made by
Purdue) “newer, safer alternatives” that were worth using despite their “higher price tag,” and
encouraged non-expert “physicians [to] embrace these additional choices, rather than decide to
leave opioid prescribing[.]” Reports obtained from Purdue reflect that this promotional effort
generated over 88,000 page views on The Atlantic’s website.

4. Purdue Failed to Prevent Diversion of OxyContin

346. In 2015, the OAG entered into an Assurance of Discontinuance (“AOD”) with
Purdue that narrowly focused on Purdue’s failure to identify instances of possible abuse, diversion,

or inappropriate prescribing through detailing visits. Purdue pledged to strengthen its oversight of
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its sales representatives and bolster its identification of and response to signs of abuse, diversion,
or inappropriate prescribing by removing prescribers from its sales call lists.

347. However, Purdue continued to aggressively promote its drugs without adequate
safeguards against abuse and diversion. Up until Purdue stopped detailing in February 2018, it
typically flagged a prescriber as potentially problematic only when it learned that the prescriber
was arrested or the subject of an active investigation or disciplinary proceeding. Purdue declined
to use available data sources to more robustly target problematic prescribers.

348. Purdue even continued to make sales calls to doctors previously disciplined for
inappropriate prescribing.

5. As the Owners of Purdue, Members of Purdue’s Board and Former
Officers of the Company, the Sacklers had Actual Knowledge of,

Sanctioned, and Participated in Purdue’s Deceptive, Misleading, and
Otherwise Illegal Practices

349. Purdue’s deliberate actions to mislead prescribers and the public about the risks and
benefits of long-term opioid treatment were orchestrated by the Sacklers from the launch of
OxyContin through the present. Purdue is not a publicly traded company, but rather a family
business: it is completely Sackler-owned and Sackler-led. The Sacklers were directly involved in
developing and sanctioning Purdue’s deceptive and illegal activities, and they each participated in
its decisions to mislead New York providers, patients, government authorities, and insurers to
normalize opioid prescribing and generate a financial windfall for themselves.

350. The Sacklers control Purdue. Each of them took seats on the board of Purdue
Pharma Inc. and many served as officers of Purdue entities. Together, they always controlled the
directorate that gave them total power over Purdue and its officers and other employees, and they
frequently exercised that power in person at Purdue headquarters, some working there on a daily

basis.
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Purdue Board of Directors
(1990-2018)
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other marketing employees would not disclose to New York providers and patients the truth about
Purdue’s opioids. They each intended and directed Purdue staff to reinforce these misleading
messages throughout New York, including by sending deceptive publications to New York doctors
and deceptively promoting Purdue opioids at CME events in New York State. And they each knew
and intended that patients, prescribers, pharmacists, and msurers in New York would rely on
Purdue’s deceptive sales campaign to request, prescribe, dispense, and reimburse claims for

Purdue’s opioids.
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a) The Sacklers Run Purdue; Purdue’s Officers and Staff Report to
the Sacklers.

352. The Sacklers—Defendants Richard, Ilene, Jonathan, Kathe, Theresa, Beverly and
Mortimer Sackler—took seats on the Board from Purdue Pharma Inc.’s inception in 1990. David
Sackler joined the Board in July 2012.

353. Richard Sackler played an active and central role in the management of Purdue. He
is named as an inventor on dozens of patents relating to oxycodone and other paid medications,
including patents issued as late as 2016. Most of these patents were assigned to Purdue. He began
working for Purdue as assistant to the president in the 1970s. He later served as vice president of
marketing and sales. In the early 1990’s he became senior vice president, which was the position
he held at the time OxyContin was launched in 1996. In 1999, he became president/CEO, and he
served in that position until 2003.

354. Richard Sackler resigned as President in 2003 but he continued to serve as co-chair
of the Purdue board. He was actively involved in the invention, development, marketing,
promotion, and sale of Purdue’s opioids, including OxyContin. And he saw to it that Purdue
launched OxyContin with an unprecedented marketing campaign causing OxyContin to generate a
billion dollars in sales within five years of its introduction in the pain management market. For
example, in 1998, Richard Sackler instructed Purdue’s executives that OxyContin tablets provide
more than merely “therapeutic” value and instead “enhance personal performance.”

355. Defendant Jonathan Sackler served as a vice president of Purdue during the period
of development, launch, promotion, and marketing of OxyContin. He resigned that officer position
in or after 2003, but he continued to serve on the board of Purdue.

356. Defendant Mortimer D. A. Sackler also served as a vice president of Purdue during

the period of development, launch, promotion, and marketing of OxyContin. He resigned that
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position in or after 2003, but he continued to serve on the board of Purdue.

357. Defendant Kathe Sackler also served as a vice president of Purdue during the period
of development, launch, promotion, and marketing of OxyContin. She resigned that position in or
after 2003, but continued to serve on the board of Purdue .

358. Defendant Ilene Sackler served as a vice president of Purdue during the period of
development, launch, promotion, and marketing of OxyContin. Like Richard, Jonathan, Mortimer,
and Kathe, Ilene resigned that position in or after 2003, but continued to serve on the board of
Purdue.

359. Defendant David A. Sackler served as a member of Purdue’s board between 2012
and 2018.

360. Defendant Beverly Sackler served on Purdue’s board between 1993 and 2017.
During the relevant time period, she also served as a trustee of one or more trusts that beneficially
own and control Purdue.

361. Defendant Theresa Sackler served as a member of Purdue’s board between 1993
and 2017.

362. Through their positions as the owners, directors, and officers of Purdue, the Sacklers
had oversight and control over the unlawful sales and marketing described in this complaint.

b) The Sacklers Had Knowledge of OxyContin’s Risk of Abuse and
Addiction as Early as 1999

363. From the beginning, the Sacklers were behind Purdue’s decision to deceive doctors
and patients about opioids’ risk of abuse and addiction. In 1997, Richard Sackler, Kathe Sackler,
and other Purdue executives determined that doctors had the crucial misconception that OxyContin
was weaker than morphine, which led them to prescribe OxyContin much more often, even as a

substitute for Tylenol.
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364. The Sacklers who were involved in running the family business knew since at least
the summer of 1999 that prescription opioids lead to addiction, and specifically that OxyContin
could be, and was, abused. In summer 1999, a Purdue sales representative wrote to the president
of Purdue reporting widespread abuse of OxyContin. “We have in fact picked up references to
abuse of our opioid products on the internet,” Purdue Pharma’s general counsel, Howard R. Udell,
wrote in early 1999 to another company official.

365. In January 2001, Richard Sackler received an email from a Purdue sales
representative describing a community meeting at a local high school that organized by mothers
whose children overdosed on OxyContin and died. The sales representative wrote: “Statements
were made that OxyContin sales were at the expense of dead children and the only difference
between heroin and OxyContin is that you can get OxyContin from a doctor.”

366. In February 2001, a federal prosecutor reported 59 deaths from OxyContin in a
single state. Defendant Richard Sackler wrote to Purdue executives: “This is not too bad. It could
have been far worse.”

367. In 2007, Richard Sackler applied for a patent to treat opioid addiction. He finally
received it in January 2018 and assigned it to Rhodes, a different company controlled by the Sackler
family, instead of Purdue. Richard’s patent application says opioids are addictive. The application
calls the people who become addicted to opioids “junkies” and asks for a monopoly on a method
of treating addiction.

368. At no point during the relevant time period did the Sacklers receive information
showing that prescription opioid abuse had abated.

369. Instead, in 2010, staff gave the Sacklers the following map, correlating the location

of dangerous prescribers with reports of oxycodone poisonings, burglaries and robberies:

98

116 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

We are examining the spatial relationship between different aspects of the
abuse environment ILLUSTRATIVE

Poison Control oxycodone exposure call density, Region Zero prescribers, and pharmacy theft

Burglary
© Robbery

A Region Zero

13
SOURCE: AAPCC, PPLP, RxPatrol

370. In March 2013, staff reported to the Sacklers on the devastation caused by
prescription opioids. Staff told the Sacklers that drug overdose deaths had more than tripled since
1990—the period during which Purdue had made OxyContin the best-selling painkiller. They told
the Sacklers that tens of thousands of deaths were only the “tip of the iceberg,” and that, for every
death, there were more than a hundred people suffering from prescription opioid dependence or

abuse.

371.  Just two months later, at a May 2013 board meeting, staff reported to the Sacklers
that they were successfully pushing opioid savings cards through direct mail and email to get
patients to “remain on therapy longer.”
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i.  The Sacklers Intentionally Blamed Individuals Instead of
Directing Purdue to Address The Risk its Opioid Products
Created

372. In February 2001, Richard Sackler dictated Purdue’s strategy for responding to the
increasing evidence of abuse of prescription opioids and addiction to Purdue’s opioids: blame and
stigmatize their own victims. Richard Sackler wrote in an email: “we have to hammer on the

abusers in every way possible. They are the culprits and the problem. They are reckless criminals.”

373.

374.

375. When Time magazine published an article about OxyContin deaths in New
England, Purdue employees told Richard Sackler they were concerned. Richard responded with a
message to his staff. He wrote that Time’s coverage of people who lost their lives to OxyContin

was not “balanced,” and the deaths were the fault of “the drug addicts,” instead of Purdue.
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ii.  The Sacklers’ Efforts Directing Purdue to Develop,
Market, and Sell Addiction Treatments Demonstrates their
Full Knowledge of the Extent of Opioids’ Addictive
Qualities

376. The Sacklers’ full understanding of opioids’ abuse and addiction risk is underscored
by their willingness to research, quantify and ultimately monetize opioid abuse and addiction by
pursuing the development of medications to treat the addiction their own opioids caused.

377. Defendants Kathe Sackler, Richard Sackler, and Purdue’s staff determined that
millions of people who became addicted to opioids were the Sackler Families’ next business
opportunity. A slide titlcd G
I stotcs: It is an attractive market. Large unmet need for vulnerable,
underserved and stigmatized patient population suffering from substance abuse, dependence and
addiction.”

378. In September 2014, Kathe Sackler participated in a call about Project Tango—a
plan for Purdue to expand into the business of selling drugs to treat opioid addiction. In their
internal documents, defendant Kathe Sackler and staff memorialized what Purdue publicly denied
for decades: “Pain treatment and addiction are naturally linked.” They illustrated this point, and

the business opportunity it presented, with a funnel beginning with pain treatment and leading to

opioid addiction treatment:
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Purdue should consider expansion across
the pain and addiction spectrum

Pain treatment and addiction are
naturally linked

Pain treatment

ADF reduces
the likelihood
of abuse of

products

Opioid addiction
treatment

There is an opportunity to expand our
offering as an end-to-end pain provider

379. The same presentation also provided: “[Opioid addiction] can happen to any-one—
from a 50 year old woman with chronic lower back pain to a 18 year old boy with a sports injury,
from the very wealthy to the very poor.”

380. Defendant Kathe Sackler and Purdue’s Project Tango team reviewed findings that
the “market” of people addicted to opioids had doubled from 2009 to 2014. Kathe and the staff
found that the national catastrophe they caused provided an excellent compound annual growth rate
(“CAGR”): “Opioid addiction (other than heroin) has grown by ~20% CAGR from 2000 to 2010.”

381. Defendant Kathe Sackler ordered staff’s “immediate attention, verification, and
assessment” of reports of children requiring hospitalization after swallowing buprenorphine as a
film that melts in your mouth, and staff assured Kathe that children were overdosing on pills like
OxyContin, not films, “which is a positive for Tango.”

382. In February 2015, staff presented Kathe Sackler’s work on Project Tango to
Purdue’s board. The plan was for a joint venture controlled by the Sacklers to sell the addiction
medication suboxone and would result in the Sacklers’ acquisition of the “market lead[] in the

addiction medicine space.”
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383. During the presentation, the Tango team mapped how patients could get addicted
to opioids through prescription opioid analgesics such as Purdue’s OxyContin or herom, and then
become consumers of the new company’s suboxone. The team noted the opportunity to capture
customers: even after patients were done buying suboxone the first time, 40-60% would relapse and
need it again.

384. In June 2016, the Sacklers met to discuss a revised version of Project Tango and
considered a scheme to sell the overdose antidote NARCAN. At this meeting, the Sacklers and the
Purdue board calculated that the need for NARCAN to reverse overdoses could provide a growing

source of revenue, tripling from 2016 to 2018.

Narcan could provide $24M in net sales to Purdue

Net non risk-adjusted sales - US
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385. The Sacklers identified patients on Purdue’s prescription opioids as the target
market for NARCAN. Their plan called for studying “long-term seript users” to “better understand
target end-patients” for NARCAN. The Sacklers planned to “leverage the current Purdue sales
force” to “drive direct promotion to targeted opioid prescribers” and determined that Purdue could
profit from government efforts to use NARCAN to save lives.

386. In December 2016, Richard, Jonathan and Mortimer Sackler had a call with staff
regarding yet another version of Project Tango to discuss acquiring a company that treated opioid

addiction with implantable drug pumps. The business was a “strategic fit,” because Purdue sold
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opioids and the new business treated the “strategically adjacent indication of opioid dependence.”

387.

¢) The Sacklers Had Knowledge of, and Actively Participated in,
Purdue’s Illegal and Deceptive Marketing of Opioids

Despite having full knowledge of opioids’ risk of addiction, abuse, and diversion,

the Sacklers, as the owners of Purdue involved with each and every material decision relating to

the development and sale of Purdue’s opioids, were actively involved in marketing Purdue’s opioids

in a way that deceptively minimized those risks and overstated the benefits.

388.

389.

For example, the Sacklers oversaw:

Purdue’s research, including research that contradicted its marketing. Purdue’s
board received reports about studies of Purdue opioids in “opioid-naive” patients
and patients with osteoarthritis, down to the details of the strategy behind the
studies and the enrollment of the first patients.

Purdue’s improper response to signs of abuse and diversion by high-prescribing
doctors.

Purdue’s strategy to pay high prescribers to promote Purdue’s opioids. A report for
the Purdue board listed the exact number of conferences and dinner meetings, with
attendance figures and the board was told the amounts paid to certain doctors, and
they received detailed reports on the Return on Investment that Purdue gained from
paying doctors to promote its drugs.

Purdue’s strategy to push patients to higher doses of opioids which are more
dangerous, more addictive, and more profitable. The Board routinely received
reports on Purdue’s efforts to push patients to higher doses and to use higher doses
of opioids to keep patients on drugs for longer periods of time. These internal
communications only increased as Purdue’s market share for its opioids declined.

Purdue’s push to steer patients away from safer alternatives. They tracked the
company’s effort to emphasize “the true risk and cost consequence of
acetaminophen-related liver toxicity.”

The Sacklers focused their attention on the sales force, directing both the messaging

and their tactics and closely monitoring compliance with their directives and the results. The

Sacklers tracked the exact number of sales representatives and the exact number of visits they made

to urge doctors to prescribe Purdue opioids. They knew which drugs were promoted; how many
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visits sales representatives averaged per workday; how much each visit cost Purdue. They knew
the company’s plan for sales visits in each upcoming quarter and approved specific plans to hire
new sales representatives, hire and promote new District and Regional managers, and create sales
“territories” in which representatives would target doctors. The Sacklers knew how many visits
sales representatives averaged per workday and required their sales representatives to average 7.5
prescribers per day. As with the daily visits per representative, the Sacklers tracked the total number
of sales visits per quarter until at least 2014.

390. The Sacklers made key decisions relating to Purdue’s sales representatives. For
example, they considered and approved hiring more sales representatives. They decided to approve
sales representatives’ compensation, and they even voted to gift sales representatives laptops.

391. The Sacklers oversaw the tactics that sales representatives used to push their
opioids. For example, a Purdue board report analyzed a Purdue initiative to use iPads during sales
visits, which increased the average length of the sales meeting with the doctor ||
I

392.  The Sacklers even monitored sales representatives’ emails. Purdue held thousands
of face-to-face sales meetings with doctors, but the company prohibited its sales representatives
from writing emails to doctors, which could create evidence of Purdue’s misconduct. When Purdue
found that some sales representatives had emailed doctors, the company conducted an
“investigation” and reported to the board that sales representatives had been disciplined and that
their emails would be discussed at the board meeting.

393. Even after Purdue’s 2007 guilty plea and the Corporate Integrity Agreement
binding Purdue’s directors, the Sacklers maintained their control over Purdue’s deceptive sales

campaign. Richard Sackler even went into the field to supervise representatives face to face.
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394. The Sacklers directed Purdue to hire hundreds of sales representatives to carry out
their deceptive sales campaign subsequent to the 2007 guilty plea. Complying with those orders,
Purdue staff reported to the Sacklers in January 2011 that a key initiative in Q4 2010 had been the
expansion of the sales force. But in 2012, Richard Sackler complained that |
|

395. In November 2012, the Sacklers voted to set Purdue’s budget for Sales and
Promotion for 2013 at $312,563,000.

396. Further demonstrating how intimately involved the Sackler Defendants were in
decisions concerning the sales force: in February 2012, during a lengthy exchange between some
Sackler individual Defendants and Purdue’s officers, Defendant Mortimer Sackler suggested that
Purdue reschedule its January annual sales meeting to February so that sales representatives “get
back to work for January and back in front of doctors who enter the new year refreshed...”.
Mortimer also suggested that representatives take “three full weeks” to “visit all their doctors while
they are still fresh from the winter break.” Mortimer posed these questions despite Purdue’s robust
sales during that time period. In response to this exchange defendant Richard Sackler suggested
the annual meeting be canceled altogether.

397. In October 2013, Mortimer Sackler pressed for more information on dosing and
“the breakdown of OxyContin market share by strength.” Staff told the Sacklers that “the high dose
prescriptions are declining,” and “there are fewer patients titrating to the higher strengths from the
lower ones.” In response to the Sacklers’ questions, staff explained that sales of the highest doses
were not keeping up with the Sacklers’ expectations because some pharmacies had implemented
“good faith dispensing” policies to double-check prescriptions that looked illegal and some

prescribers were under pressure from the Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”). Staff
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promised to increase the budget for promoting OxyContin by $50,000,000, and get sales
representatives to generate more prescriptions with a new initiative to be presented to the Sacklers
the following week.

398. In 2013, staff reported to the Sacklers that net sales for 2013 had been $377 million
less than budgeted. Staff again reported that Purdue was losing hundreds of millions of dollars in
expected profits because prescribers were shifting away from higher doses of Purdue opioids and
including fewer pills per prescription. Staff told the Sacklers that a “Key Initiative” was to get
patients to “stay on therapy longer.” The Sacklers agreed.

399. In July and again in August, September, and October 2014, staff warned the
Sacklers that two of the greatest risks to Purdue’s business were “[c]ontinued pressure against
higher doses of opioids,” and “[c]ontinued pressure against long term use of opioids.” Staff told
the Sacklers that Purdue’s best opportunity to resist that pressure was by sending sales
representatives to visit prescribers; and, specifically, by targeting the most susceptible doctors, who
could be convinced to be prolific prescribers, and visiting them many times.

400. The Sacklers knew that Purdue’s marketing had an immense effect in driving opioid
prescriptions. According to Purdue’s analysis in February 2014, its sales and marketing tactics
generated an additional 560,036 prescriptions of OxyContin in 2012 and 2013.

d) The Sacklers Were Actively Involved in Concealing Ongoing
Wrongdoing

401. Purdue and the Sacklers disguised their own roles in the deceptive marketing of
chronic opioid therapy by funding and working through patient advocacy and professional Front
Groups and KOLs. They purposefully hid behind these individuals and organizations to avoid
regulatory scrutiny and to prevent doctors and the public from discounting their messages

402. Purdue and the Sacklers generated and sanctioned the deceptive content used by
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the KOLs and professional Front Groups.

403. In 2013, Purdue abolished the detailed Quarterly Reports that had created a paper
trail of targets for sales visits and been emailed among the Board and staff. For 2014, Purdue
decided to limit many of its official board reports to numbers and graphs, and relay other
information orally. The Sacklers continued to demand information about sales tactics, and their
control of Purdue’s deceptive marketing did not change.

e¢) The Sacklers Continue to Profit from their Deceptive and Illegal

Practices Marketing Opioids Through a New Family-Owned
Company to Manufacture Generic Opioids

404. While Purdue was under investigation by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for its opioid
marketing practices, the Sacklers formed a new company to enter the generic opioid business:
Rhodes. According to a former senior manager at Purdue, “Rhodes was set up as a ‘landing pad’
for the Sackler family in 2007, to prepare for the possibility that they would need to start afresh
following the crisis then engulfing OxyContin.”

405. Rhodes Pharmaceuticals L.P. is a Delaware limited partnership, and Rhodes
Technologies is a Delaware general partnership, and each are 100% owned by Coventry
Technologies L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, which is ultimately owned by the same various
trusts for the benefit of members of the Sacklers. The general partner of Rhodes Pharma is Rhodes
Pharmaceuticals Inc., and the managing general partner of Rhodes Tech is Rhodes Technologies
Inc. Together, these entities are referred to as “Rhodes.” In 2009, Rhodes began selling generic

opioids and further enriched the Sacklers.

406. I January 2008 |G
-
-

-
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407.

408. Purdue and the Sacklers oversaw and approved all Rhodes-related activity. The
Sacklers received the agendas for Rhodes Pharma and Rhodes Tech board of directors’ meetings in
addition to Rhodes’ financial statements and financial results. Some of the individual Sackler
Defendants served on Rhodes’ committees. For example, in 2015, Theresa Sackler (Chairperson),
Kathe Sackler, and Jonathan Sackler served on Rhodes’ Governance committee. And in 2017,
Rhodes’ Business Development Committee included individual Sackler Defendants Kathe Sackler,
Jonathan Sackler, Mortimer Sackler, and David Sackler. In 2018, defendant Richard Sackler was
listed on Rhodes’ patent for a drug to treat opioid addiction and further profit from the opioid crisis
the Sackler Families created. Rhodes relied on Purdue for compliance; for example, in 2018,
Rhodes’ Compliance Committee discussed the suspicious ordering system and statistics for 2018
as provided by Purdue. Rhodes also made distributions to defendants Rosebay Medical L.P. and
the Beacon Company in the millions, for the benefit of the Sackler Families.

409.  According to the Financial Times, in 2016, Rhodes had a substantially larger share

of prescriptions in the U.S. prescription opioid market than Purdue.”® Purdue has often argued that

% David Crow, How Purdue’s ‘One-Two’ Punch Fueled the Market for Opioids, Financial Times, Sept. 9, 2018,
available at https://www.ft.com/content/8e64ec9c-b133-11e8-8d14-6f049d06439¢.

109

127 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

it is a relatively small producer of opioids in the United States. However, when combined with
Rhodes, the Sacklers control up to six percent of the United States opioid market. By 2018, the two
companies owned by the Sacklers, Rhodes and Purdue, ranked seventh in terms of market share for
opioids when combined.'?
410. Whereas the Sacklers have reduced Purdue’s operations and size, Rhodes continues
to grow and sell opioids for the benefit of the Sackler families.
f) The Sacklers and their Families Enriched Themselves Through

Illegal and Deceptive Actions at the Expense of Plaintiff and other
Future Creditors

411. The Sacklers caused Purdue and other associated companies that they beneficially
owned and controlled to distribute to the Sackler Families billions of dollars in connection with the
sale of Purdue’s opioids.

412.  From the 2007 convictions to 2018, the Sacklers voted to pay their families
hundreds of millions of dollars each year, reflecting both the Sacklers’ personal incentives to sell
as many opioids as possible, as well as the extent of their control over the Purdue board and Purdue.

413. By 2014, the Sacklers knew that state attorneys general were investigating Purdue,
commencing actions against the company, and that settlements and/or judgments against Purdue
would become a cost of doing business for Purdue. Despite this knowledge, the Sackler Defendants
continued to vote to have Purdue pay the Sackler Families significant distributions, and send money
to offshore companies. And Purdue continued to forecast hundreds of millions of distributions of

Purdue’s profits to the Sackler Families.

100 Amy Baxter, Billionaire Drugmaker Granted Patent for Opioid Addiction, Health Exec, Sept. 10, 2018, available
at
https://www.healthexec.com/topics/healthcare-economics/billionaire-drugmaker-granted-patent-addiction.
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_ Purdue later agreed to pay Kentucky $24 million over the course of eight years

in a settlement announced in late 2015.

415. The Kentucky Attorney General’s lawsuit was discussed by Purdue’s sales staff
who exchanged news reports of a lawsuit accusing Purdue of deceptive marketing in Kentucky.
The report quoted Purdue’s own attorney and chief financial officer stating that the company faced
claims of more than a billion dollars that “would have a crippling effect on Purdue’s operations and
jeopardize Purdue’s long-term viability.” The same news reports regarding the 2015 Kentucky
settlement, disposing of Kentucky’s 2007 suit, noted that similar litigation “against Purdue and
other opioid makers” would subject Purdue to the “billions” faced by “Big Tobacco in the 1990s.”

416. In May 2019, Purdue was scheduled to face trial in Oklahoma in an action
commenced by Oklahoma’s Attorney General. In October 2019, Purdue will face trial in federal
court in Cleveland, Ohio in the National Prescription Opiate Litigation, which includes 1,500
counties, and municipalities, hospitals, and others. To date, trial dates have been set in at least
seven states against Purdue including California, Washington, South Carolina, New Jersey, Alaska,
and Missouri. These cases, commenced by state attorneys general in 2017 and 2018, represent the
culmination of investigations started years earlier during the second wave of litigation against
Purdue beginning in 2014.

417. In early March 2019, Purdue began a well-thought out and deliberate media
campaign to intimidate the litigating states, including New York, by threatening to commence

bankruptcy proceedings. “As a privately-held company, it has been Purdue Pharma’s longstanding
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policy not to comment on our financial or legal strategy,”'®! Purdue said in a statement, but less
than ten days later Purdue’s president and CEO Craig Landau spoke with The Washington Post to
double-down on the Purdue’s threat to delay scheduled trials, frustrate ongoing discovery with New
York State, and ultimately delay and otherwise limit states’ recovery against Purdue.

418. On March 13, 2019, Purdue’s Mr. Landau, “declined to discuss the pending
[opioids] litigation” but, in the same interview with The Washington Post, announced that
bankruptcy was something the company was weighing as it considers the impact of potential legal
settlements or jury verdicts that could cost tens of billions of dollars. “It is an option,” Landau said.
“We are considering it, but we’ve really made no decisions on what course of actions to pursue. A
lot depends on what unfolds in the weeks and months ahead.”!%?

419. Despite knowing that Purdue faces certain liabilities to the states, including New
York State, Purdue—at the Sackler Defendants’ direction—continued to pay the Sackler Families
hundreds of millions of dollars each year in distributions during the relevant time period for no
consideration and in bad faith. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful distributions to the Sackler
Families, assets are no longer available to satisfy Purdue’s future creditor, the State of New York.

420. According to publicly available information, annual revenue at Purdue averaged

about $3 billion, mostly due to OxyContin sales, and Purdue had made more than $35 billion since

releasing OxyContin in 1995.'% According to publicly available information, Purdue, at the

101 Mike Spector et al., OxyContin maker Purdue Pharma exploring bankruptcy, Reuters, Mar. 4, 2019, available at

https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-purduepharma-bankruptcy-exclusive/exclusive-oxycontin-maker-purdue-
pharma-exploring-bankruptcy-sources-idUSKCN1QL1KP

102 Katie Zezima, Purdue Pharma CEQ says bankruptcy is ‘an option’ as company faces opioid lawsuits, Wash. Post,
Mar. 13, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/national/purdue-pharma-ceo-says-bankruptcy-is-an-
option-as-company-faces-opioid-lawsuits/2019/03/12/6f794¢e1a-450b-11e9-9010-

Occfeec87a61 story html?utm_term=.4c0f9e37289a.

103 Ella Nilsen, AG locked in prolonged battle with drug companies, Concord Monitor, July 14, 2016, available at
https://www.concordmonitor.com/NH-attorney-general-battle-with-drug-companies-3424021.
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direction of the Sackler-controlled board, paid the Sackler Families $4 billion in profits stemming
from the sale of Purdue’s opioids. In June 2010, Purdue’s staff gave the Sackler s an updated 10-
year plan for growing Purdue’s opioid sales in which the Sacklers stood to receive at least $700
million each year from 2010 through 2020. In December 2014, Purdue’s staff told the Sacklers that
Purdue would pay their family $163 million in 2014 and projected $350 million in 2015. At board

meeting after board meeting, the Sacklers voted to have Purdue pay their families hundreds of

millions in Purdue profits from the sale of ||
|
|

I
421.  To defendant | (hc Sacklers voted to distribute the

following amounts:

$50,000,000 in April 2008;
$250,000,000 in June 2008;
$199,012,182 in September 2008;
$200,000,000 in March 2009;
$162,000,000 in June 2009;
$173,000,000 in September 2009;
$236,650,000 in February 2010 ;
$141,000,000 in April 2010;
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422.

423.

424,

425.

426.
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427. By 2014, the writing for Purdue was on the wall.

B  [sicad, as demonstrated above, Purdue and the Sackler Defendants
distributed hundreds of millions of Purdue’s opioid profits to the Sackler Families each
year. Purdue has been involved in two decades of litigation for its misconduct vis-a-vis the sale
and marketing of OxyContin. Purdue and the Sacklers thus always understood, and were aware of,
the catastrophic effect of investigations and lawsuits relating to the opioids litigation. But Purdue’s
and the Sacklers’ business as usual approach means—by Purdue’s own recent admission—that
Purdue cannot pay what it owes to plaintiffs including New York State because distributions to
Purdue’s owners (the Sacklers) continued unabated during the relevant time period.

428.  Purdue, at the direction of the Sacklers, fraudulently conveyed hundreds of millions
of dollars of Purdue’s profits from opioids to the Sackler Families each year during the relevant
time period despite Purdue’s and the Sacklers’ knowledge that they faced certain, and significant,
liabilities because of the multitude of litigations against Purdue by state attorneys general, including

New York’s Attorney General.
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429.  Purdue, at the direction of the Sacklers, distributed Purdue’s profits to ||

|
|
I o regard was given to Purdue’s ability to pay

creditors like New York, or even negotiate a settlement in good faith, given that hundreds of
millions of dollars each year was squandered by distributing those funds to members of the
Sacklers.

430. Now, when faced with the reality that Purdue—and the Sacklers—will finally be
held accountable commensurate to their misconduct, Purdue has publicly admitted that it cannot
pay these liabilities and is threatening to commence bankruptcy proceedings on the eve of a
landmark jury trial and in the middle of discovery with dozens of state attorneys general, including
New York.

431. Ultimately, the Sacklers used their ill-gotten wealth to cover up their misconduct
with a philanthropic campaign intending to whitewash their decades-long success in profiting at
New Yorkers’ expense. For example, the Sacklers made significant contributions to New York
institutions, including:

e The American Museum of Natural History’s Sackler Educational Laboratory, New
York;

e The Dia Art Foundation’s Sackler Institute, New York;
e The Guggenheim Museum’s Sackler Center for Arts Education, New York;
e The Metropolitan Museum of Art’s Sackler Wing, New York; and
e The Dr. Mortimer And Theresa Sackler Foundation’s donation of $6 million to the
New York Presbyterian Hospital in 2015.
B. Janssen

432. Janssen manufactured, marketed, sold, and/or distributed the following opioid

drugs in New York:
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Product Name Chemical Name
Nucynta Tapentadol hydrochloride, immediate release
Nucynta ER Tapentadol hydrochloride, extended release
Duragesic Fentanyl (patch)

433. In executing its methodical campaign of deceptive opioids marketing, Janssen
borrowed liberally from both its corporate parent Johnson & Johnson’s standard marketing tactics
and the Purdue opioids playbook. In particular, Janssen deployed front groups, unbranded
materials, sales representatives, and speaker programs, to spread the lies that opioids—in particular
Janssen’s Duragesic and Nucynta products—were not addictive and helped everyone, especially
vulnerable seniors, enjoy vastly better lives.

434,  Janssen’s strategy to drive sales of Nucynta—in both immediate- and extended-
release versions—was to “[b]roaden [the] future utility” of the drugs “beyond the [Schedule II]
opioid foot print and differentiate [them] from ‘traditional opioids,”” as evidenced by this excerpt

from a 2011 promotional plan:
Evolving the choice in Chronic Pain Management
beyond Traditional Opioids

Mechanism Powerful Unexpected Gl
of Action Efficacy Tolerability

)

A Different Approach fo Pain Managemer

- ) |
; J W

Low incidence o

of withdrawal Safety Profile BID/Dosing
symptoms

1. Janssen’s Misleading Marketing through Front Groups and Branded and
Unbranded Materials

435. Janssen consistently downplayed the addictiveness of opioids. For example,

Janssen’s website for its fentanyl patch, Duragesic, included a section addressing “Your Right to
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Pain Relief” and a hypothetical patient’s fear that “I’m afraid I’ll become a drug addict.” Janssen’s
response: “Addiction is relatively rare when patients take opioids appropriately.”

436. To broaden the impact of its deceptive marketing, Janssen worked closely with
established Front Groups, providing the latter almost half a million dollars in funding between 2012
and 2017 alone. As described above, these groups have a singular agenda: to downplay fears about
addiction from opioids so that prescribers will feel comfortable prescribing them early and often.

437. Front Groups served as extensions of Janssen’s own marketing department. For
example, Janssen teamed with the APF to “draft media materials and execute [a] launch plan” for
Janssen's drugs at an upcoming meeting of the AAPM. Janssen also drew on APF publications to
corroborate claims in its own marketing materials and its sales training. Janssen personnel
participated in a March 2011 call with APF's “Corporate Roundtable,” in which they worked with
APF to develop strategies to promote chronic opioid therapy.

438. Janssen worked with AAPM and AGS to create a patient education guide titled
Finding Relief: Pain Management for Older Adults (“Finding Relief”). To accompany this guide,
Janssen produced a video that was accessible through the AAPM website. Janssen also worked
with AGS to develop AGS’s CME promoting its 2009 Guidelines for the Pharmacological
Management of Persistent Pain in Older Persons.

439. Janssen frequently hid its deceptive messaging in elaborately produced, unbranded
marketing materials. Most prominent among these efforts was the Janssen website, letstalkpain.org,
which was directed at patients. Starting in 2009, Janssen financed the website and created its
content in conjunction with APF and AAPM. Although the website is no longer publicly accessible,

articles published on it remain accessible elsewhere on the internet today.
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440. Janssen exercised substantial control over the content of its Let s Talk Pain website,
internally referring to it as promoting tapentadol, the drug the company sold as Nucynta. Janssen
regarded letstalkpain.org and another website, prescriberesponsibly.com (described below) as

integral parts of Nucynta’s launch:

PRICommunication Plan for NUCYNTA ER

= Proomgte dléndcal svidence for NUCYHTA ER with dita-drbven pres releeses (Q2-04)
= PDAIRA Duste wilt b warkoun medis uving KOLs (Fop-tes madia, Social media) (3]
REUTERS B

rl-rru-'-
E PRRINCNINENS T i® |
=t ewhiish lesturing ast froen chronic pain patlents st HEP-locured PAINWeek {Tep)

= Ogher [Bogger beleling In O, Testimanlsl of chronk pain patlents, Osling medls
bflt!“!' onpain mmp'_qmnrﬁ

= kman Moves, Smart choltes

* Preseribs reipanibly 8 = %- =l
« Let's 1ok Poln mﬁ_ m o
L e

441. Janssen personnel viewed APF and AAPM as “coalition members” in the fight to

increase market share. Janssen and APF entered into a partnership to “keep pain and the importance
of responsible pain management top of mind” among prescribers and patients, working to reach
“target audiences” that included patients, pain management physicians, primary care physicians,
and KOLs. One of the roles Janssen assumed in the process was to “[r]eview, provide counsel on,
and approve materials.” Janssen did in fact review and approve material for the Let’s Talk Pain
website, as evidenced by the following edits by a Janssen executive to the transcript of a video that

was to appear on the site:
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442. Even though Janssen’s Let’s Talk Pain website was hosted by APF, consulting
agreements and internal memos confirm that Janssen had approval rights over its content. Thus, by
Janssen’s command, the final version of the video posted on the website omitted the stricken
language above.

443, The Let’s Talk Pain website misinformed consumers that “the stigma of drug
addiction and abuse” associated with the use of opioids stemmed from a “lack of understanding
about addiction.” The website also promoted the spurious concept of “pseudoaddiction,” which it
described as “patient behaviors that may occur when pain is under-treated” but differs “from true
addiction because such behaviors can be resolved with effective pain management.” The website
also misleadingly stated that the use of opioids for the treatment of chronic pain would lead to
patients regaining functionality and featured an interview claiming that opioids were what allowed
a patient to “continue to function.”

444. Janssen also produced and disseminated consumer-directed videos through its
affiliation with the Let’s Talk Pain Coalition. These videos were designed to encourage patients to
seek treatment, i.e., opioids, for chronic pain. One such video, titled “Safe Use of Opioids,” and
which is currently accessible via www.YouTube.com, overstates the benefits of chronic opioid use

and omits discussion of the risks of addiction and abuse associated with opioids.
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445.  Another Janssen-controlled unbranded marketing project was a website ironically
called prescriberesponsibly.com, which promoted the opposite of its title. This website, which was
aimed at both prescribers and patients, claimed that concerns about opioid addiction are
“overstated.” A disclaimer at the bottom of the website stated that the “site is published by Janssen
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which is solely responsible for its content.”

446. Janssen’s prescriberesponsibly.com website contains numerous articles—still
accessible to both prescribers and patients—that misrepresent, trivialize, or fail to disclose the
known risks of opioid products. For example, one article dismisses concerns about opioid addiction
as “often overestimated,” and proclaims that “true addiction occurs in only a small percentage of

patients”:

1 Angioe el Wt
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merd i woukd appear thal they are often overgstimated According ¢ chnical
cpmian pells. true addiclion occurs only in & small percan tage of pahents
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447. The same article misleadingly suggests that “with appropriate dosing and titration,
[opioids] can be effective and safe medications for the treatment of painful conditions.” It is
deceptive to describe chronic opioid therapy as “effective and safe”” with appropriate dosing and
titration while describing the risks of addiction associated with chronic opioid use as
“overestimated” and occurring in “only a small percentage” of patients.

448.  Other articles on prescriberesponsibly.com misleadingly instruct prescribers and
patients that:

121

139 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

e Addiction risk screening tools allow HCPs to identify patients predisposed to addiction,
thereby purportedly allowing prescribers to manage the risk of opioid addiction in their
patient populations.

e “In those cases when a patient expresses concern about addiction,” it is important to
have a further discussion, because if the concern turns out to fall within the technical
definition of “physical dependence,” the patient’s addiction concerns can be overcome
by “reassurance from the healthcare professional.” In other words, minimize the risk.

e Addiction might actually be “pseudoaddiction,” defined as “a syndrome that causes
patients to seek additional medications due to inadequate pharmacotherapy being
prescribed,” and “[t]ypically when the pain is treated appropriately, the inappropriate
behavior ceases.”

2. Janssen’s Misleading and Reckless Marketing to Health Care Providers
and Consumers

449. Janssen knew that distinguishing Nucynta from competitor opioids would be
crucial to the company’s ability to create market share and generate a new profit stream, so it

concocted a false narrative about the drug.

a) Janssen's False Marketing of Nucynta as Not as Addictive as
Other Opioids

450. To secure market share for Nucynta starting in 2009, Janssen had to create high
demand among patients and prescribers. Janssen’s internal business plans reveal that it sought to
create that demand by stoking dissatisfaction with other pain treatments among pain patients and
their prescribing physicians. Janssen referred to this effort as a “need to disrupt satisfaction by
highlighting an unmet need,” as a desire to “redefine pain management success,” and as an effort
to “disrupt [the] chronic [pain] market.”

451.  As early as 2009, Janssen identified as a primary “value platform” of tapentadol
(the generic form of Nucynta) the misleading concept that the drug may have “non-opioid”
properties, i.e., that it might relieve pain without interacting with the body’s opioid receptors, or

that its interaction with those receptors was less drastic than other Schedule II opioids.
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452. Evidence from preclinical studies had suggested that efficacy of tapentadol was
thought to be due to two separate actions: (a) mu-opioid receptor agonism, meaning that it activates
an opioid receptor; and (b) norepinephrine reuptake inhibition, meaning that it impacts
neurotransmitters (such as norepinephrine) that communicate between brain cells. The FDA has
warned that such preclinical studies are of limited utility and are “not a substitute for studies of
ways the drug will interact with the human body.”

453. Janssen nevertheless marketed Nucynta as having a “dual mechanism of action,”
i.e., that the drug acts as both an opioid and a norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor (“NRI”). Janssen
extensively relied on this unproven dual mechanism of action to deceptively portray Nucynta as a
mild opioid that is less addictive than other Schedule II opioids such as OxyContin. For example,
Janssen often described tapentadol as “potentiat[ing] mu-sparing properties,” or offering “mu-
receptor sparing benefits,” or having a “dual [mechanism of action that] potentiates mu-sparing
properties,” or as providing a “multi-pathway approach [that has] mu receptor sparing effects.”
Janssen also maintained that the purported dual mechanism of action allowed Nucynta to be more
effective at treating certain types of pain, with fewer side effects such as withdrawal.

454. In making these representations, Janssen routinely obscured or failed to disclose
that Nucynta’s exact mechanism of action is unknown and that the company’s representations
regarding the drug’s dual mechanism of action were supported only by limited evidence gleaned
from preclinical studies.

455. Janssen thus deceived prescribers into believing that Nucynta was not like other
highly addictive and dangerous Schedule II narcotics, but was more akin to safer, over-the-counter

pain medications. Janssen’s business plans explicitly called for marketing Nucynta as ||
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b) Janssen’s Misleading Detailing and Speakers’ Programs

456. To execute its marketing strategy, among other tactics, Janssen deployed sales
representatives to convey its Nucynta messaging directly to prescribers in their offices, often with
a free lunch, to persuade them to prescribe the drug as frequently as possible.

457.  Although Janssen knew that there was no credible scientific evidence establishing
that addiction rates were low among patients who took opioids such as Nucynta to treat chronic
pain, it concluded that one of the “drivers” to sell more Nucynta among primary care physicians
was the “[1]Jow perceived addiction and/or abuse potential” associated with the drug.

458. Janssen trained its sales force to trivialize addiction risk. A 2009 Nucynta training
module warns that physicians are reluctant to prescribe controlled substances like Nucynta because
of their fear of their patients becoming addicted, but this reluctance is unfounded because “the risks
.. . are [actually] much smaller than commonly believed.”

459. Janssen also trained its sales representatives to misrepresent the prevalence of
withdrawal symptoms associated with Nucynta. A Janssen sales training module titled “Selling
Nucynta ER and Nucynta” teaches that the purported “low incidence of opioid withdrawal

symptoms” is a “‘core message” for the detailing force. This message was touted at Janssen’s Pain
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District Hub Meetings, at which Janssen periodically gathered its sales teams to discuss strategy.

460. To incentivize aggressive sales tactics, Janssen paid its New York sales

they visited, with average bonus amounts ranging from $500 to $5,000 per quarter and the highest-
performing representatives making bonuses of over $20,000 per quarter.

461. Call notes entered by Janssen sales representatives confirm that they communicated
to New York HCPs the false and misleading message that Nucynta has a unique “mechanism of
action”—i.e., that it is milder and less addictive than other opioid<|jj  l of times.

462. Janssen’s call notes also show that Jjjilij of New York HCPs

I V< < later indicted or convicted for illegal prescribing of controlled substances.

For example:
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463. Janssen also hired, trained, and deployed HCPs as part of its speakers’ bureau to
promote Nucynta, paying them to present Janssen materials containing deceptive information about
the risks, benefits, and superiority of Nucynta. For example, a March 2011 presentation titled A
New Perspective For Moderate to Severe Acute Pain Relief: A Focus on the Balance of Efficacy
and Tolerability set out the following adverse events associated with use of Nucynta: nausea,
vomiting, constipation, diarrhea, dizziness, headache, anxiety, restlessness, insomnia, myalgia, and
bone pain. It completely omitted the risks of misuse, abuse, addiction, hyperalgesia (increased
pain), hormonal dysfunction, decline in immune function, mental clouding, confusion, and other
known, serious risks associated with chronic opioid therapy. The presentation also minimized the
risks of withdrawal by stating that “more than 82% of subjects treated with tapentadol IR (Nucynta)
reported no opioid withdrawal symptoms.”

464. Janssen’s speaker events typically occurred at upscale restaurants, with dinner and
drinks paid for by the company. An invitation to join the speakers’ bureau was both a reward for
writing Nucynta prescriptions—because speakers were well compensated by Janssen—and an
incentive to continue writing prescriptions.

3. Janssen’s Targeting of Vulnerable Elderly Patients

465. Janssen’s barrage of lies about opioids also was targeted at vulnerable elderly
people, a population more susceptible to the adverse effects of opioids, including respiratory
depression and risk of bone fracture.

466. Janssen’s patient education guide Finding Relief, which the company distributed
via its sales representatives tens of thousands of times throughout the U.S., was packed with large-
print, bold-faced lies about the risks of opioids, dismissing as “myths” the proven facts that opioids
are addictive, make functioning more difficult, and often must be prescribed in higher doses over

time:
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467. The guide falsely described as “facts” numerous unsupported claims about
improved functioning, including that opioids can make it possible for people with chronic pain to
“return to normal, e.g., to get back to work, walk or run, play sports, and participate in other
activities.” In 2008, the FDA found such statements to be deceptive if made without substantial
evidence. Until recently, Finding Relief was still available online.

468. The Janssen-sponsored AGS Guidelines falsely stated that “the risks [of addiction]
are exceedingly low in older patients with no current or past history of substance abuse,” although
the study supporting this assertion did not analyze addiction rates by age. The AGS Guidelines also
stated falsely that “[a]ll patients with moderate to severe pain . . . should be considered for opioid
therapy (low quality of evidence, strong recommendation).”

469. Janssen also sponsored, presented, or distributed studies suggesting that opioids

should be prescribed to the elderly. For example, an article published in the Journal of the American
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Geriatric Society and authored by physicians who received funding from Janssen concluded that
persistent pain in elderly populations 1s under-assessed and harmful, and recommended that “[a]ll
patients with moderate to severe pain, pain-related functional impairment, or diminished quality of

life due to pain should be considered for opioid therapy.”

470. Finally, Janssen prioritized marketing its Nucynta products _

C. Mallinckrodt

471.  Mallinckrodt is the largest U.S. supplier of opioid pain medications and among the
top ten generic pharmaceutical manufacturers in the United States, based on the number of
prescriptions. In fiscal year 2017, Mallinckrodt’s specialty generic products generated $682 million
in net U.S. sales, including $85 million of hydrocodone and $88 million of oxycodone.

472. Mallinckrodt manufactured, marketed, sold, and/or distributed the following opioid

drugs in New York:
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Product Name [ Chemical Name
Exalgo Hydromorphone hydrochloride, extended release
Xartemis XR!* | Oxycodone hydrochloride and acetaminophen (extended release)
Roxicodone!?’ Oxycodone hydrochloride
Generic Oxymorphone hydrochloride (extended release) (generic Opana)
Generic Oxycodone (extended release) (generic OxyContin)
Generic Morphine sulfate, extended release
Generic Morphine sulfate oral solution
Generic Oxycodone and acetaminophen (Percocet)
Generic Hydrocodone bitartrate and acetaminophen (Vicodin)
Generic Hydromorphone hydrochloride
Generic Hydromorphone hydrochloride, extended release (Generic Exalgo)
Generic Fentanyl transdermal system
Generic Oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate
Methadose Methadone hydrochloride
Generic Methadone hydrochloride
Generic Buprenorphine and naloxone
473.  In 2015, Mallinckrodt’s production accounted for an estimated 25% of the DEA’s

entire annual quota for controlled substances. According to IMS health data for the same year,
Mallinckrodt generic products had an approximately 23% market share of DEA Schedules II and
IIT opio1d and oral solid dose medications. A substantial portion of Mallinckrodt’s opioid products
was manufactured, packaged, and distributed from the company’s factory in Hobart, in New York’s
Catskills region.

474.  Mallinckrodt’s misleading marketing of its branded and generic opioid products
vastly expanded demand for these dangerous narcotics, fueling abnormally high levels of opioid
prescribing and unprecedented levels of diversion, addiction, and death. The impact of

Mallinckrodt’s illegal marketing was magnified by the company’s systematic and callous disregard

of obvious red flags of diversion over many years. For example, Mallinckrodt marketed its branded

104 Mallinckrodt discontinued Xartemis XR in August 2015.
105 Mallinckrodt acquired from Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals in 2012.
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opioids t N *hor it knew had an office that I
I V(allinckrodt’s misconduct was so pervasive that the DEA |
-

475. By 2006, Mallinckrodt was well aware of the scale of the opioid epidemic. Rather
than taking steps to stop the harm, it persistently goaded its distributors to sell more and more of
the company’s opioids.

476. In one exchange, an executive of a || NN
B F N § RE N RR§ gt
Mallinckrodt’s national sales manager to || R
-
I [ c Mallinckrodt executive responded: |
|

477.  After 2006, Mallinckrodt ramped up its efforts to expand the lucrative opioids

market and to grab a bigger piece of that pie. In 2011, Mallinckrodt sought to ||

I (cspite the company’s knowledge of widespread diversion.
478.  In 2012, Mallinckrodt’s five-year plan identified || AR

I A that time, Mallinckrodt considered | EG—

.

479. In its filings with the SEC, Mallinckrodt has stated that it markets its controlled
substances “principally through independent channels, including drug distributors, specialty
pharmaceutical distributors, retail pharmacy chains, food store chains with pharmacies,
pharmaceutical benefit managers that have mail order pharmacies and hospital buying groups.” In

particular, Mallinckrodt has marketed its generic opioids to Distributor Defendants McKesson,
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Cardinal, Amerisource, and Rochester Drug, causing enormous quantities of opioids to be delivered
to New York pharmacies and dispensed. Mallinckrodt marketed its extensive catalogue of opioids
on price and availability, [

480. Mallinckrodt built on Purdue’s marketing techniques by creating new front
groups—themselves composed of front groups—to amplify Mallinckrodt’s messaging and to
convince the public that it was a socially responsible company rather than just another greedy

peddler of dangerous narcotics. Mallinckrodt’s business plans, however, told another story: in

2014, for example, its five-year plan touted |G
-
|

481. Mallinckrodt’s approach to the opioids crisis is exemplified by |
-
|

-
I  Mallinckrodt opposed these common-sense reforms because it saw

reduced prescribing as a threat to its profits. The then head of Mallinckrodt’s || N

boasted to a major customer —that
1]
Mallinckrod |

1. Mallinckrodt’s Misleading Marketing through Front Groups and Branded
and Unbranded Materials

482. On its website and through other marketing channels, Mallinckrodt disseminated
misleading messages about the risks and benefits of opioids. The Mallinckrodt Policy Statement
on Opioids, for example, calls for a greater understanding of the opioid industry-created myth of

pseudoaddiction—industry code for “opioids aren’t addictive.”
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483. Mallinckrodt’s brochure “Your Guide to Taking Oxycodone Safely” describes the
side effects of oxycodone but omits meaningful discussion of the risks of addiction, simply advising
patients worried about addiction to talk to their doctor. The brochure also states that “after a while,
Oxycodone causes physical dependence,” but omits mention of physical dependence as a symptom
of addiction.

484. Mallinckrodt’s brochure “FEase your Pain—a Guide to Feeling Better” touts the
benefits of opioid medication for pain, without mentioning addiction risk at all: “Both generic and
brand-name drugs can help control pain quickly and effectively.”

485. Mallinckrodt’s website claims, without citing any clinical evidence, that “[t]he
effective pain management offered by our medicines helps enable patients to stay in the workplace,
enjoy interactions with family and friends, and remain an active member of society.”

486. A popular website founded by Mallinckrodt, pain-topics.org, featured materials
from the American Pain Foundation, relentlessly overstated the benefits and minimized the risks of
opioids, gave extensive coverage to made-up phenomena such as pseudoaddiction and opiophobia,
and peddled blatantly false statements such as “the clinical benefits of opioid treatment dwarf the
clinical risks.”

487. Mallinckrodt also has funded and controlled Front Groups such as the American
Pain Foundation, the American Academy of Pain Medicine/American Pain Society, the Academy
of Integrated Pain Medicine, and the U.S. Pain Foundation. These groups—to which Mallinckrodt
has given more than one million dollars (the majority since 2013)—have a singular agenda: to
downplay fears about addiction so that prescribers will feel comfortable prescribing higher dosages

of opioids.
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488.  After 2010, to expand the market for its opioids products, Mallinckrodt embarked
-
I by creating a new front group (itself made up of front groups) called the C.A.R.E.S.
(Collaborating and Acting Responsibly to Ensure Safety) Alliance.

489. Mallinckrodt described the C.A.R.E.S. Alliance as ““a coalition of national patient
safety, provider and drug diversion organizations that are focused on reducing opioid pain
medication abuse and increasing responsible prescribing habits.” In reality, the C.A.R.E.S.
Alliance was just another Mallinckrodt marketing project built on deception.

490. Through the C.A.R.E.S. Alliance, Mallinckrodt disseminated pro-opioid materials
via pain organization meetings, grand rounds, dinner meetings, reprints, direct mail, and the web.
These efforts were often coordinated with other front groups, as when the Alliance offered to send
doctors (for free) the APS/AAPM Clinical Guidelines for the Use of Chronic Opioid Therapy in
Chronic Noncancer Pain.

491. Mallinckrodt used the C.A.R.E.S. Alliance to promote a book titled Defeat Chronic
Pain Now, which is still available online. The false claims and misrepresentations in this book
include the fiction that “[o]nly rarely does opioid medication cause a true addiction when prescribed
appropriately to a chronic pain patient who does not have a prior history of addiction.” Mallinckrodt

distributed copies of this book and the Opioid Safe Use and Handling Guide (described below) at

492.  Mallinckrodt used the C.A.R.E.S. Alliance to
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493.  Mallinckrodt instructed its sales representatives to |||

I ic!uding the Opioid Safe Use and Handling Guide, which, is still

available, contained numerous misleading statements, including “[a]ddiction does not often develop
when taking opioid pain medicine as prescribed under the guidance of a healthcare provider, but it
can occur.” The guide, which referenced specific opioid drugs such as Exalgo, misleadingly stated
that “[p]hysical dependence is not the same as addiction” and promoted the concept of
pseudoaddiction to persuade the public that opioids are not addictive.

494. By 2014, Mallinckrodt had concluded that the C.A.R.E.S. Alliance |l
I so it launched a bigger and better front group, the Alliance
for Balanced Pain Management (“AfBPM”). AfBPM includes more than 20 groups, including

some of the members of the C.A.R.E.S. Alliance.

495.  Mallinckrodt hid from most AfBPM members that ||
I 0+ ver, Mallinckrodt was more
revealing about its true motives. In 2015, the Mallinckrodt executive in charge of the AfBPM wrote
-
|
-

496.  Lest support for “balanced” approaches ||} S too far, however, a
Mallinckrodt executive noted that |G
|

497.  Mallinckrodt retained and paid large sums of money to KOLs to serve as
consultants, advisory board members, researchers, and members of its speakers’ bureau. Dr.

Webster, whom Mallinckrodt paid millions of dollars for research and consulting fees, served on the
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company’s Advisory Board and performed a study on the allegedly abuse-deterrent effects of
Mallinckrodt’s drugs. As noted below, Dr. Webster also misleadingly promoted Xartemis on behalf
of Mallinckrodt.

498.  Mallinckrodt paid Dr. Sri Nalamachu, whom a Mallinckrodt executive referred to
s I D:. Nalamachu
was featured in a brochure published by the Institute for Patient Access (a front group affiliated
with the Alliance for Patient Access) titled “Preserving Patient Access While Curbing Abuse,” in
which he criticized efforts to restrict access to pain prescription medication due to concerns abuse
and diversion. Mallinckrodt never disclosed that it paid Dr. Nalamachu more than $300,000 from
2013 to 2017.

499. KOL Dr. Scott Fishman’s book, Responsible Opioid Prescribing, which advocates
opioid use for non-cancer pain, was disseminated by Mallinckrodt’s C.A.R.E.S. Alliance. KOL Dr.
Perry Fine served on Mallinckrodt’s Advisory Board.

2. Mallinckrodt’s Misleading Marketing to Health Care Providers and
Consumers

500. To market its branded opioid products, Mallinckrodt disseminated written materials
to HCPs and consumers and targeted New York HCPs who were high prescribers of opioid drugs.
Between 2010 and 2015, Mallinckrodt sales representatives visited the offices of and/or telephoned
I of New York HCPs a combined total of | | I of times for the specific purpose
of marketing Exalgo and Xartemis. Mallinckrodt sales representatives who convinced HCPs to

prescribe these drugs received |Jill of dollars in bonuses.

a) Mallinckrodt’'s Aggressive Sales Techniques

501.  Mallinckrodt trained its sales representatives selling Exalgo [

N . supcrvisor of
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Mallinckrodt’s New York sales representatives exhorted his team to |

-
I Mallinckrodt used free trials and coupons

extensively to stoke demand for its opioid products.
502. Mallinckrodt deployed the same motivational techniques to sell Xartemis: the
supervisor of Mallinckrodt’s New York sales representatives wrote to her team [Jjjjiij that

503. Sales representatives often conveyed the company’s misleading messages to HCPs
I  [dccd, the company spent heavily on this marketing tactic,
making hundreds of such payments, totaling almost $160,000—much of which was for food and
beverages—to New York HCPs from 2013 through 2016 alone.

504. Mallinckrodt also promoted its branded opioids to HCPs via speaker programs.

Mallinckrodt typically hired as speakers HCPs who were KOLs and/or high-volume prescribers of

its branded drugs, and its sales representatives were instructed to |||
-

505. Among the key messages that Mallinckrodt-paid speakers conveyed to HCPs
regarding Exalgo was I
After each speakers” event, I
I Onc Mallinckrodt sales
representative contacted HCPs |
-
|
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b) Mallinckrodt's False Advertising Regarding Addiction Risk and
Abuse Deterrence

506. Mallinckrodt knew that patients taking Exalgo would be receptive to these

misleading messages because |G

507. Inits branded advertising, Mallinckrodt even copied a misleading Purdue theme to
spread deceptive claims about opioids’ improvement of functioning. In a 2014 Xartemis brochure
for consumers, Mallinckrodt used a photo of a man fly fishing to misleadingly imply that Xartemis
allowed a man to go engage in strenuous activity, which was strikingly similar to a photo in a
Purdue advertisement for OxyContin that the FDA found illegal in 2003.

508. Mallinckrodt also falsely marketed Exalgo and Xartemis to HCPs as safer than
other opioids, advertising that these drugs were harder to manipulate and abuse. In fact, the FDA
specifically barred Mallinckrodt from making such claims because it lacked any scientific basis.

509. In rejecting Mallinckrodt’s request for permission to market Exalgo as “abuse
deterrent,” the FDA stated that the tablets “will increase the potential risks for overdose or abuse in
those seeking to defeat the extended-release system” and that “we predict that Exalgo will have
high levels of abuse and diversion.”

510. Despite the FDA’s findings, Mallinckrodt began marketing Exalgo as abuse-
deterrent as early as May 2011, stating: “Although once-daily hydromorphone ER can still be
misused or abused, these studies indicate that the pharmacological and physical properties of this

formulation are performing as designed to make it less susceptible to blood plasma level peaks and
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troughs and potentially difficult to manipulate.” In 2012, Mallinckrodt misleadingly stated that
“the physical properties of EXALGO may make it difficult to extract the active ingredient using
common forms of physical and chemical tampering, including chewing, crushing and dissolving.”

511. Mallinckrodt also made false abuse-deterrent claims about Xartemis, a drug for

which it projected annual revenucs G
O

512. Mallinckrodt’s main selling point for Xartemis—a claim that was rejected by the

FDA—was that Xartemis is less likely to be abused than other opioids because when the drug is

tampered! |
I

513.  In 2013, several months before FDA approval of Xartemis, Mallinckrodt began
publicizing the alleged “abuse-deterrent” features of the drug, especially through KOL Dr. Lynn
Webster. In an interview published online, Dr. Webster stated that Xartemis “has abuse deterrent
properties which mean that the new design and technology within this formulation may prevent
people who try to manipulate, alter or convert the extended release into an immediate release in
order to achieve a greater high.” Dr. Webster failed to disclose that he had been paid millions of
dollars by Mallinckrodt.

514. After reviewing scientific data provided by Mallinckrodt, the FDA rejected
Mallinckrodt’s request for abuse-deterrent labelling for Xartemis, concluding that “the results of
the studies submitted by [Mallinckrodt] do not meet the standards for [abuse-deterrent] labeling
described in the guidance,” and that “Xartemis XR is an extended-release Schedule II opioid

analgesic with no abuse-deterrent properties.”
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515. In March 2014, shortly after the FDA’s release to Mallinckrodt of scientific

findings explaining why the agency rejected abuse-deterrent labelling for Xartemis, Mallinckrodt

instructe |
I

I
516. Notwithstanding the FDA’s findings, on or about March 11, 2014, Mallinckrodt

posted a document on its public website falsely stating that Xartemis “is more resistant to simple
spoon crushing compared to Percocet” and that “XARTEMIS XR has technology that requires
abusers to exert additional effort to extract the active ingredient from the large quantity of inactive
and deterrent ingredients.”

3. Mallinckrodt’s Failure to Monitor and Report Suspicious Orders of
Opioids

517. As an entity registered with the New York Bureau of Narcotics Enforcement
(“BNE”) and the DEA as both a manufacturer and distributor, Mallinckrodt knew that it was
required to: (a) set up a system designed to detect and investigate suspicious orders of opioids; (b)
refuse to fill suspicious orders and fill orders flagged as potentially suspicious only if, after
conducting due diligence, it could determine that such orders were not likely to be diverted; and (c)
report all suspicious orders to DEA and BNE. These duties include monitoring the downstream
flow of opioid products to detect potential diversion.

518. At all relevant times, Mallinckrodt possessed ample sources of data that allowed
it to identify suspicious orders of opioids. For example, Mallinckrodt had prescribing data that
allowed it to track HCPs’ prescribing patterns over time, which it used to identify candidates to
target for marketing and to monitor its own and competitors’ sales. Mallinckrodt sales

representatives also regularly visited pharmacies and HCPs, which allowed them to observe red

139

157 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

flags of diversion.

519. Mallinckrodt also obtained detailed data showing drug orders delivered to
specific pharmacies that allowed it to precisely monitor the flow of its opioids.!® Distributors
provide manufacturers such as Mallinckrodt with this data to receive “chargebacks,” which are
payments from a drug manufacturer to a distributor, in which the manufacturer reimburses the
distributor for the difference between the full price paid by the distributor for the drug and the

price received by the distributor from a pharmacy for the drug.

a) Mallinckrodt's Suspicious Order Monitoring System was Deficient
as Written and in Operation

520. Mallinckrodt purported to discharge its anti-diversion duties through its

suspicious order monitoring program (“SOMP”’), which was touted on its website as state-of-the-

7 In reality, though, the company’s SOMP was

art and “exceeding” DEA requirements.'”
egregiously deficient.

521.

106 Mallinckrodt ~ MOA  with ~ DEA,  available at  https://www.justice.gov/usao-edmi/press-
release/file/986026/download; John J. Coleman, The supply chain of medicinal controlled substances. addressing the
Achilles heel of drug diversion, 26 J. Pain & Palliative Care Pharmacotherapy 233-50 (Sept. 2012), available at
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22973912.

107 Responsible Use of  Opioid  Pain  Medications ~ (Mar. 7, 2014), available  at
http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:1a9jmY qD5-cJ:phx.corporate-
ir.net/External.File%3Fitem%3DUGFyZWS0SUQINTM10TA4fENoaWxkSUQIMjIOMDAZfFR5cGUIMQ%3D
%3D%26t%3D1+&cd=1&hl=en&ct=cInk&gl=us.

140

158 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

.
-
|

522. From 2008 through 2010, Mallinckrodt ||
|

523. By lJuly 2010 at the latest, Mallinckrodt knew that its opioids were widely diverted

across the United States.'™ |

108 L enny Bernstein & Scott Higham, The Government’s Struggle to Hold Opioid Manufacturers Accountable, Wash.
Post, Apr. 2, 2017, available at  https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/investigations/dea-
mallinckrodt/?noredirect=on&utm_term=.74f8e44b8d48.
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524.  Mallinckrodt’s internal reviews of ||
I (2llinckrodt staff; its front line against

diversion, routinely went through the motions and rubber-stamped orders, including very large

ones. For example, |G
|
-
-
|

525.  On the very rare occasions when the company || NG
;. |
|
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526.  Another flaw in Mallinckrodt’s SOMP was that the company failed to require JJjj

|
|
|
I

527. Starting in 2010, Mallinckrodt revised its SOMP to include review of data it
possessed in its chargeback system, including |l
-
|
Because chargeback data allows visibility into pharmacies’ orders, || R
|
I

528.  Since 2010, Mallinckrodt has occasionally sent letters to its distributors stating that
it would not pay chargebacks on orders shipped to certain pharmacies that the company suspected
of engaging in diversion. In New York, however, this occasional practice has done nothing
meaningful to prevent diversion.

529. New York has nearly 5,500 pharmacies, and over the past nine years, Mallinckrodt
has chargeback restricted only Jjjj of them, and [Jjjjij of those restrictions were later lifted.
Moreover, merely restricting chargebacks did nothing to prevent diversion even at those
pharmacies, since Mallinckrodt continued shipping their distributors opioids, and when pharmacies
were cut off by one distributor, they could still order from another.

b) Mallinckrodt Shipped Suspicious Orders to New York Pharmacies

530.  Mallinckrodt also knew that its oxycodone pills were || R

and that 1ts oxycodone pills . ut
I 20 that its oxycodone pills G
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despite possessing detailed information about pharmacies ||

B M allinckrodt did not stop shipments it knew were destined for New York pharmacies
that were likely engaged in diversion.

531.  For example, Mallinckrodt received a report on Pharmacy A, which noted that Jjj

Y 1l inckrod
also knew that the pharmacy’s top prescriber of oxycodone pills |

532.  With respect to the tiny number of New York pharmacies for which Mallinckrodt

I  [or cxample, Mallinckrodt delayed restricting chargebacks on

shipments to the following pharmacies:

e Pharmacy B: A report on this Manhattan pharmacy noted that || N

e Pharmacy C: A report on this Manhattan pharmacy noted that

e Pharmacy D: A report on this Staten Island pharmacy noted that
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¢) Mallinckrodt Marketed Opioids to Pill Mill HCPs

533. Mallinckrodt not only failed to cut off supply from customers most likely to be
servicing suspicious HCPs, it actually aggressively targeted those overprescribers in New York,
including a number of whom were later indicted or convicted. Because Mallinckrodt carefully
tracked their prescribing patterns using detailed pharmacy-level data, at a minimum the company
knew that these HCPs were potentially engaged in diversion. Nevertheless, Mallinckrodt sales

representatives repeatedly visited their offices and bought meals for dozens of them, including:

534.
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Yet Mallinckrodt marketed its branded opioids to |l cven

after the company learned that he was likely engaged in illegal diversion. On || RN
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I |\ otwithstanding this report, Mallinckrodt kept sending

sales representatives to his office.

d) Mallinckrodt's 2017 Settlement with the Federal Government
Confirmed the Deficiencies of its SOMP

535. The deficiencies in Mallinckrodt’s SOMP were confirmed by the July 2017
Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) between Mallinckrodt and DEA and DOJ, in which
Mallinckrodt agreed to pay fines of $35 million to resolve an investigation of Mallinckrodt that
began in 2011.

536. In the MOA, Mallinckrodt agreed that “at certain times during the Covered Time
Period prior to January 1, 2012, certain aspects of Mallinckrodt’s system to monitor and detect
suspicious orders did not meet the standards outlined in letters from the DEA Deputy Administrator,
Office of Diversion Control, to registrants dated September 27, 2006 and December 27, 2007,” and
that “at certain times during the Covered Time Period, at Mallinckrodt’s Hobart plant, certain of
Mallinckrodt’s recordkeeping and physical security practices at that facility were, in some respects,
not consistent with DEA regulation.”

537. At the company’s Hobart plant, located in New York’s Catskills region, an
employee was able to steal oxycodone powder because the plant lacked adequate security protocols,
and sold the powder to a drug dealer who supplied 95% of the oxycodone powder in Delaware
County. Local authorities seized five ounces of oxycodone—with an estimated street value of
$50,000—from the employee when he was arrested.

538. The oxycodone theft enabled by Mallinckrodt’s lax security at the plant worsened
the opioid epidemic in central New York. The area also experienced increased criminal activity
after the theft, as felony drug arrests in Delaware County more than doubled from 2011 to 2013.

Neighboring Schoharie and Otsego Counties also saw large increases in felony drug arrests.
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D. Endo

540. Endo manufactured, marketed, sold, and/or distributed the following opioid drugs

i New York:
Product Chemical Name
Opana ER Oxymorphone hydrochloride, extended release
Opana Oxymorphone hydrochloride
Percodan Oxymorphone hydrochloride and aspirin
Percocet Oxymorphone hydrochloride and acetaminophen
Generic Oxycodone
Generic Oxymorphone
Generic Hydromorphone
Generic Hydrocodone

541. Endo also implemented and maintained a sustained campaign of deceptive
marketing of opioids, i particular using Front Groups, egregious misrepresentations, and
aggressive detailing. An earlier investigation by the OAG of limited aspects of Endo’s opioid-
related marketing resulted in a narrow 2016 settlement agreement, the terms of which do not
encompass or preclude relief for this misconduct, described below.

1. Endo’s Misrepresentations Regarding Opioids

542. Like the other Manufacturer Defendants, Endo promoted its opioid products, and
opioids generally, in New York through a multitude of marketing channels—including detailing,
Front Groups, and unbranded promotional materials—in an effort to influence prescriber and
patient decisions.

543.  Opioid products accounted for roughly $403 million of Endo’s overall revenues of
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$3 billion in 2012, representing over 10 percent of Endo’s total revenue. Endo’s branded Opana
ER line produced revenue of $1.15 billion from 2010 to 2013. Endo also manufactures and sells
generic opioids, both directly and through its subsidiaries, Par Pharmaceutical and Qualitest
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including generic oxycodone, oxymorphone, hydromorphone, and
hydrocodone products.

544. Endo’s quarterly promotional spending increased from the $2 million to $4 million
range in 2000 to 2004 to more than $10 million following the launch of Opana ER in mid-2006
(and more than $38 million for the year in 2007). When it launched the reformulated version of
Opana in 2012, Endo’s quarterly spending was more than $8 million (and nearly $34 million for
the year).

545. In the first quarter of 2010 alone, Endo’s sales representatives made nearly 72,000
visits to prescribers nationwide to detail Opana ER. From 2009 through 2013, Endo detailed its
sales representatives to New York providers on over 164,000 occasions. Endo improperly
instructed these sales representatives to diminish and distort the risk of addiction associated with
opioids and Opana ER. Endo’s training materials for its sales representatives in 2011, for example,
prompted sales representatives to answer “true” to the statement that addiction to opioids is not
common.

546.  One of the Front Groups with which Endo worked most closely was the American
Pain Foundation (“APF”). Endo funded, provided substantial assistance to, and developed and
exercised editorial control over, the deceptive and misleading messages that APF conveyed through
its National Initiative on Pain Control (“NIPC”) and its website www.painknowledge.com. Endo
provided substantial financial support to NPIC and selected APF to manage NPIC, even as Endo

obscured its involvement with NIPC.
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547. Endo made numerous false representations regarding addiction through NPIC and
painknowledge.com. NIPC and the painknowledge.com claimed, for example, that “[p]eople who
take opioids as prescribed usually do not become addicted.”

548. A brochure available on painknowledge.com titled “Pain: Opioid Facts” stated that
“people who have no history of drug abuse, including tobacco, and use their opioid medication as
directed will probably not become addicted.” Endo repeated this deceptive message in numerous
other patient materials.

549.  Also posted on painknowledge.com was a patient education guide entitled “Pain:
Opioid Therapy,” which omitted the material fact that addiction was one of the “common risks” of

opioids, as shown below:

As with any medication, there are some side effects that are associated with
opioid therapy. The most common side affects that oceur with opioid use
include the following:

Constipation
Drowsinass
Confusion

¥

'

]

¢ Mausea
» ltching

» LhzZiness
¥

Shortness of braath

Your healthcaré provider can help 1o addrass and. in SOmMa casas, prevent side
effects that may occur as a rasult of opioid treatment. Less severe side affects,
=r'4:i!Hi:'*.-g;| nausea, inching. or drowsiness, typically g0 away within a few days with-
out the nead for further treatment. If you expera@nce any side effects, you should
et yvour healthcare provider know immediately

550. Painknowledge.com also falsely claimed that with opioids, “your level of function
should improve; you may find you are now able to participate in activities of daily living, such as
work and hobbies, that you were not able to enjoy when your pain was worse.” In addition to
“improved function,” the website misleadingly touted improved quality of life as a benefit of opioid
therapy. The grant request that Endo approved for this project specifically indicated NIPC’s intent

to make claims of functional improvement.
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551.  Endo projected that it would be able to reach tens of thousands of prescribers
nationwide through the distribution of NIPC materials. By September 14, 2010,
painknowledge.com had 10,426 registrants, 86,881 visits, 60,010 visitors, and 364,241 page views.

552.  Another NIPC initiative that Endo sponsored was a series of CMEs titled Persistent
Pain in the Older Patient, which misleadingly claimed that chronic opioid therapy has been “shown
to reduce pain and improve depressive symptoms and cognitive functioning.” The CME was
available via webcast to New York physicians.

553. Endo commissioned a supplement available for CME credit in the Journal of
Family Practice called “Pain Management Dilemmas in Primary Care: Use of Opioids,” in which
it deceptively minimized the risk of addiction by emphasizing the effectiveness of risk screening
tools, falsely claiming that with the use of such tools, even patients at high risk of addiction could
safely receive chronic opioid therapy. Endo distributed 96,000 copies of this CME nationwide,
including to prescribers within New York.

554.  Endo co-sponsored and distributed copies of the FSMB’s Responsible Opioid
Prescribing, which taught that behaviors such as “requesting drugs by name,” “demanding or
manipulative behavior,” seeing more than one doctor to obtain opioids, and hoarding, which are
signs of genuine addiction, were all really signs of “pseudoaddiction.”

555. In a patient education pamphlet titled “Understanding Your Pain: Taking Oral
Opioid Analgesics,” Endo deceptively minimized the risks of addiction by stating, “[a]ddicts take
opioids for other reasons, such as unbearable emotional problems. Taking opioids as prescribed
for pain relief is not addiction.” New Yorkers can still access this publication online.

556. Endo sponsored and distributed in New York an article published in Pain Medicine

News, entitled “Case Challenges in Pain Management: Opioid Therapy for Chronic Pain.” The
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article asserted that “[o]pioids represent a highly effective but controversial and often
misunderstood class of analgesic medications,” and then focused on and emphasized the risks of
extended use of NSAIDs as an alternative to opioids, but omitted the same detail concerning the
serious side effects associated with opioids. Endo distributed the publication to 116,000 prescribers
in 2007, including primary care physicians.

557. Endo distributed or facilitated the distribution of these messages with the intent that
prescribers and consumers in New York and elsewhere would rely on them in choosing to use
opioids, and Endo’s opioids in particular, to treat chronic pain. Endo tracked the breadth and depth
of its marketing and messaging efforts, and confirmed that its marketing efforts were translating
directly into increased prescriptions for its opioids.

558. The FDA requested that Endo remove Opana ER from the market in June 2017 due
to its risk of abuse. The product was removed in July 2017.

2. New York’s Settlement with Endo

559. In March 2016, the OAG closed an investigation and entered into an Assurance of
Discontinuance (the “Endo AOD”) with Endo Health Solutions Inc. and Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc.
The Endo AOD covered certain misrepresentations that the OAG alleged that Endo had made
regarding Opana ER, and the company’s failure to prevent its sales staff from detailing providers
who may have been involved in the abuse and illegal diversion of opioids. The AOD covered the
following specific conduct:

e Endo’s marketing of reformulated Opana ER as “designed to be crush resistant”;

e A statement on www.opana.com that patients who take Opana ER “usually do not
become addicted”;

e Endo’s use of the term “pseudoaddiction” in certain training materials for its sales
representatives;

e Statements Endo made in certain marketing materials and by Endo’s sales
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representatives that patients taking Opana ER require less “rescue medication” than

patients taking OxyContin;

This statement in certain Endo materials: “Most doctors who treat patients with pain
agree that patients treated with prolonged opioid medicines usually do not become

addicted”;

An Opana ER advertisement featuring construction workers and chefs;

Endo’s statements and omissions in certain marketing materials regarding Opana ER

studies; and

Endo’s lack of an effective program to detect abuse and diversion among health care

providers it detailed.

The Endo AOD expressly stated that nothing in it “in any way limits the OAG’s

ability to investigate or take other action with respect to any noncompliance at any time by Endo

with respect to this Assurance, or Endo’s noncompliance with any applicable law with respect to

any matters that are not part of the Covered Conduct.”

E. Teva
561. Teva manufactured, marketed, sold, and/or distributed the following opioid drugs
in New York:
Product Chemical Name
Actiq Fentanyl citrate (lollypop)
Fentora Fentanyl citrate (buccal tablet/lozenge)
Generic Oxycodone hydrochloride (generic OxyContin)
Generic Oxycodone
Generic Oxymorphone
Generic Hydrocodone
Generic Fentanyl
1. Teva’s Misrepresentations Regarding its Fentanyl Drugs
562. Teva, including its Cephalon unit, has engaged in deceptive marketing of opioids

and other illegal conduct for more than a decade, and now owns the former generic opioids unit of

Allergan, which has a similarly tainted legacy.
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563. Teva’s annual promotional spending on opioids steadily climbed from under $4
million in 2000 to more than $13 million in 2014, including a peak, coinciding with the launch of
Fentora, of more than $27 million in 2007.

564. Teva’s branded opioid products, Actiq and Fentora, are extremely powerful and
dangerous rapid onset fentanyl drugs—up to 100 times stronger than morphine—and approved only
for the treatment of “breakthrough” cancer pain in patients. Moreover, the drugs are approved for
use only by cancer patients who are already receiving and who are tolerant to around-the-clock
opioids for their underlying cancer pain. Actiq and Fentora carry the strictest warning required by
the FDA, which includes information about the risk of fatal respiratory depression when used by
non-opioid tolerant patients.

565. Despite the potentially fatal consequences of inappropriately prescribing these
fentanyl-based drugs, Teva deployed its sales force to promote the drugs off-label in New York,
beyond the patient types and indications for which they were approved, in order to claim its piece
of the broader chronic non-cancer pain market. This campaign was deceptive because it represented
that Actiq and Fentora were safe, effective, and approved for patients and uses for which they were
not.

566. Teva also promoted off-label through Front Groups and KOLs. For example, at an
AAPM annual meeting held in February 2006, Teva sponsored a presentation by Dr. Webster and
others that purported to show good safety results from fentanyl buccal tablets in patients with
chronic pain and “breakthrough pain.” At the time, however, Teva’s product was the only fentanyl
buccal tablet on the market. Because the drug was not approved for chronic pain and non-cancer

breakthrough pain, the CME was nothing but thinly veiled deceptive off-label promotion.
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567. A Teva executive explicitly acknowledged that if Teva were able to expand its
approved indications, “the opportunity that Fentora represents is enormous.” Teva did in fact seek
FDA approval for a broader indication for Fentora in 2008, but did not receive it. Nevertheless, it
continued its relentless pursuit of sales and profits, disregarding the safety of New Yorkers.

568. Indeed, Teva employed its deceptive and dangerous marketing strategy despite
knowing that people were dying when taking these powerful fentanyl drugs.

569. In September 2008, Teva paid a $425 million federal fine to resolve allegations of
off-label marketing of Actiq, because Teva promoted the drug for non-cancer patients, and for
patients who were not opioid tolerant.

570. Undeterred, Teva continued its deceptive marketing of opioids. In 2009, it received
a warning letter from the FDA that its materials for Fentora were deceptive because they broadened
the indication for the drug beyond cancer patients with breakthrough pain.

571. Despite the repeated warnings of the dangers associated with the use of the drugs
beyond their limited indication, in 2012, Teva published an insert in Pharmacy Times regarding
Actiq and Fentora. The first sentence of the insert states: “It is well recognized that the judicious
use of opioids can facilitate effective and safe management of chronic pain.”

572. Teva paid to have a CME it sponsored, Opioid-Based Management of Persistent
and Breakthrough Pain, published in a supplement of Pain Medicine News. It is still available
online to New Yorkers and nationwide. The CME instructed doctors that “clinically, broad
classification of pain syndromes as either cancer- or noncancer-related has limited utility” and

recommended Actiq and Fentora for patients with chronic pain.
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573. Teva tracked its prescriptions and was well aware that its drugs were being written
off-label, as was intended by its promotion of the drugs. The company’s sales increased
exponentially throughout the period it detailed its drugs.

2. Teva’s Misrepresentations Regarding Opioids

574. Teva’s deceptive conduct in marketing Actiq and Fentora was an extension of, and
reaped the benefits of, Teva’s generally deceptive promotion of opioids for chronic pain in New
York.

575.  Like the other Manufacturer Defendants, Teva directly engaged in misleading and
deceptive marketing of opioids through not only its sales force, but also using Front Groups,
physician speakers, promotional materials, KOLs, and CMEs. Through these vehicles, Teva
intentionally misrepresented the risk of addiction as modest, manageable, and outweighed by the
benefits of opioid use.

576. For example, Teva sponsored and facilitated the development of a guidebook,
Opioid Medications and REMS: A Patient’s Guide, which included misleading claims that “patients
without a history of abuse or a family history of abuse do not commonly become addicted to
opioids.”

577. Teva sponsored APF’s Treatment Options: A Guide for People Living with Pain,
which included numerous false or misleading statements, including that opioids have “no ceiling
dose” and therefore are safer than NSAIDs. It also taught that addiction is rare and involves
unauthorized dose escalations, obtaining opioids from multiple sources, or theft.

578. If patients did not exhibit those behaviors, Teva represented that they were merely
exhibiting signs of “pseudoaddiction:” Teva co-sponsored and distributed FSMB’s Responsible
Opioid Prescribing, which taught that behaviors such as “requesting drugs by name,” “demanding

or manipulative behavior,” seeing more than one doctor to obtain opioids, and hoarding, were not
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signs of addiction but were all really signs of “pseudoaddiction.” Teva spent $150,000 to purchase
copies of the publication and used its sales force to distribute these copies to 10,000 prescribers and
5,000 pharmacists nationwide, including in New York.

579. A final example of Teva’s repeated and persistent deceptive conduct is a CME
presentation it sponsored titled Pharmacologic Management of Breakthrough or Incident Pain,
which is posted on Medscape and still available online. The CME teaches prescribers that
“[C]hronic pain is often undertreated, particularly in the noncancer patient population,” discusses
the “stigmatization of opioids™ as a barrier to effective treatment, and further claims that the “[t]he
concern about patients with chronic pain becoming addicted to opioids during long-term opioid
therapy may stem from confusion between physical dependence (tolerance) and psychological
dependence (addiction) that manifests as drug abuse.”

F. Allergan

580. Allergan manufactured, marketed, sold, and/or distributed in the following opioid

drugs in New York:
Product Name Chemical Name
Kadian Morphine sulfate, extended release
Kadian (generic) Morphine sulfate, extended release
Norco Hydrocodone bitartrate and acetominophen
Generic Oxymorphone hydrochloride, extended release (generic Opana ER)
Generic Oxymorphone hydrochloride
Generic Oxycodone
Generic Fentanyl patch (generic Duragesic)
Maxidone Hydrocodone and acetominophen
Reprexain Hydrocodone bitartrate and ibuprofen
Combunox Oxycodone/ibuprofen
Fiorinal with Codeine Butalbital, aspirin, caffeine, and codeine phosphate

581.  Allergan engaged in deceptive marketing of these opioids for more than a decade.

Allergan has vied with Mallinckrodt for the top spot among manufacturers of generic opioids.
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Because Allergan lacked a meaningful suspicious order monitoring program, its opioids flooded
the market without pause, worsening the opioids epidemic.

1. Allergan’s Misrepresentations Regarding Opioids

582. Allergan’s deceptive and misleading representations followed the opioid marketing
playbook, and included such messages as: (i) minimizing the risk of addiction from opioids
generally; (i1) minimizing the risk of addiction due to the “abuse-deterrent” features of Allergan
products; (iii) promoting the spurious concept of “pseudoaddiction” to assuage prescribers’
concerns about addiction; (iv) claiming that opioid use improves functioning; and (v) exaggerating
the risks of alternative pain treatments.

583.  Allergan’s promotional spending on opioids, which was virtually nonexistent in the
2004-2008 period, began to sharply rise in 2009, when it began marketing Kadian. The third quarter
of 2011 saw a peak of $3 million and nearly $7 million for the year.

584. To ensure that these messages reached individual physicians, Allergan deployed
sales representatives to visit HCPs in New York and across the country. Between 2009 and 2012,
Allergan sales representatives visited the offices of New York health care providers 2,866 times to
push Allergan opioid drugs. Allergan chose its detailing targets based on the likelihood of higher
numbers of prescriptions at higher doses, with no consideration as to the risk of misuse. Allergan
carefully tracked the prescription trends of the HCPs whom it detailed.

585. Allergan also promoted opioids in New York and nationwide through Front
Groups, using a combination of CMEs, websites, and purportedly educational and other materials
that Allergan directed, sponsored, reviewed, and/or approved. Allergan’s marketing plan
recognized that “[d]irect-to-consumer marketing affects prescribing decisions,” and so it put its
relationships with Front Groups to work to spread deceptive messages about opioids and the

treatment of pain.
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586. For example, Allergan advertised that its extended-release morphine drug Kadian
could allow chronic pain patients to return to work, relieve “stress on your body and your mental
health,” and otherwise enjoy their lives. In 2010, the FDA warned Allergan that its claims were
misleading and there was insufficient evidence to show that the drug “results in any overall positive
impact on a patient’s work, physical and mental functioning, daily activities, or enjoyment of life.”

587. Through its “Learn more about customized pain control with Kadian” patient
material, Allergan claimed that while it is possible to become addicted to drugs like Kadian, it is
“less likely” to happen in those who “have never had an addiction problem,” suggesting the
addiction risk was de minimis. The piece went on to advise that a need for a “dose adjustment” is
the result of tolerance, and “not addiction.”

588. Allergan’s “Kadian Marketing Update,” and the “HCP Detail” aid contained

I (121 other opioids, the

implication of which was that Kadian did not produce a euphoric effect, and therefore was less
addictive and less likely to be abused. In a separate presentation, Allergan also falsely trumpeted
Kadian as safer than other opioids when taken with alcohol.

589. These and other themes were repeated in a guide for prescribers under Allergan’s
copyright, which deceptively represented that Kadian is more difficult to abuse and less addictive

than other opioids. The guide included the following statements: 1) |GGG

I - d 2) Kadian may be less likely to be abused because of |Jiil]
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I [hcsc statements, which are unsupported by substantial clinical

evidence, convey both that (a) Kadian does not cause euphoria and therefore is less addictive and
that (b) Kadian is less prone to tampering and abuse, even though the FDA did not approve Kadian
as an abuse deterrent formulation.

590. When Kadian was first approved in 1996, it was indicated for the “management of
moderate to severe pain when a continuous, around-the-clock opioid analgesic is needed for an
extended period of time.” But by 2014, after years of Kadian’s deceptive marketing, the FDA
changed the indication to use only for “management of pain severe enough to require daily, around-
the-clock, long-term opioid treatment and for which alternative treatment options are inadequate.”

591. Allergan trained its sales representatives to deceptively minimize the risk of
addiction by: (1) attributing addiction to ||
I (i) cmphasizing the difference between substance dependence and substance
abuse; and (iii) promoting the unsupported term “pseudoaddiction.”

592.  Allergan misleadingly instructed its sales team that opioid doses could be escalated
during long-term opioid therapy, without hitting a dose ceiling, which purportedly made them safer
than other forms of therapy such as acetaminophen or NSAIDs.

593.  Allergan intended for prescribers to rely on its deceptive messages and surveyed its

prescribers to ensure that happened. Allergan conducted market studies on prescribers’ impressions

of promotional pieces and other marketing efforts, observing that ||
-

2. Allergan’s Impact on the Generic Market

594.  Allergan actively marketed not only its branded drugs but its generic drugs. Prior
to the sale of its generic business to Teva, Allergan’s marketing strategy included promotion of its

generic opioids, including generic Kadian (morphine sulfate), directly to New York HCPs. Allergan
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sales representatives received bonuses for both branded and generic Kadian sales, and used the
same selling points for both versions of the drug. Indeed, Allergan explicitly adopted the deceptive

Kadian promotional campaign when it instructed its sales staff that its messaging should be:

595. Allergan also promoted its generic Opana ER (oxymorphone ER). Allergan saw a

Il Allergan also paid bonuses to its sales team bonuses for meeting sales goals for generic Opana
ER.109

596. Allergan also promoted its generics through direct mail and email campaigns and
journal advertisingand aggressively marketed its generic opioids through its distributors, in
particular |- o promote Allergan’s generic oxymorphone ER,
oxycodone, and generic morphine sulfate, |l deployed a variety of tactics, including

notifying pharmacies about the products using Allergan talking points and posting sell sheets on its

website. [l had an incentive to maximize Allergan’s |

19 In December 2012, Endo sued Actavis Inc., arguing that Actavis was deceptively marketing generic Opana ER by
piggybacking on Endo’s allegedly “abuse deterrent” reformulation. Endo alleged that Actavis described the tablets
as being “crush-resistant tablets.”” Endo claimed this constituted deceptive marketing because “[w]holesale
distributors, prescribing physicians, dispensing pharmacies and patients are likely to rely on and have relied on
Actavis's misrepresentations in distributing, prescribing, dispensing and purchasing the Generic Oxymorphone ER
Tablets.” Indeed, describing generic Opana ER as crush-resistant is facially deceptive (as was Endo’s campaign to
market its drug as “designed to be crush-resistant”), and as Endo acknowledged, a company’s customers rely on
marketing messages in their decisions to purchase, prescribe, dispense, and take a company’s drugs.
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597. Allergan similarly collaborated with |

I (o promote Allergan’s generic opioids through targeted telemarketing and direct mail
campaigns aimed at pharmacies. Allergan collaborated with Amerisource in an initiative to drive
generic conversion at a faster rate than what would normally occur without its intervention.

598.  Allergan also worked with |l to send a letter to patients who had filled a
prescription for Opana ER within the prior year, informing them that although Endo no longer
manufactured certain dosages of Opana ER, a generic was now available from Allergan.

3. Allergan’s Failure to Maintain Effective Controls against Diversion

599. Through its misleading marketing, Allergan expanded the market for opioids in
New York. Not only did Allergan deceptively promote opioids, it compounded this harm by failing
to put in place appropriate procedures to ensure that suspicious orders—orders of unusual size,
frequency, or those deviating from a normal pattern—would be reported to governmental
authorities as required by law. Instead, Allergan continued to supply far more opioids than were
justified, flooding the New Y ork market.

600. As an entity registered with the DEA and BNE, Allergan knew it was required to
maintain effective controls against diversion of opioids and to report suspicious orders.

601. Allergan possessed ample sources of data that allowed it to detect and report
suspicious orders of opioids, both from its direct and indirect customers. The company’s sales
representatives regularly visited pharmacies and HCPs to promote Allergan’s products, which
allowed them to observe red flags of diversion.

602. Despite these available sources of information regarding potential diversion,
Allergan failed to properly design and operate a system that would be capable of detecting
suspicious opioid orders. Prior to 2011, any process that Allergan had that could be considered an

opioid order monitoring system was not even properly automated. After 2011, Allergan finally
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began to acknowledge its responsibility to create an opioid order monitoring system, but the
procedures it put in place were severely lacking, and were focused on approving—not restricting—
orders of excessive quantities of opioids.

603. To the extent Allergan established thresholds to detect suspicious orders, they were
wholly inadequate. Allergan also adjusted and otherwise manipulated its thresholds so that it could
ship its opioid products without any obstacles.

604. Allergan failed to perform appropriate due diligence on its customers, both
generally and at the time it should have been alerted to a suspicious order. Instead of independently
investigating customers and the reasons behind suspicious orders, Allergan reached out to
customers and simply asked them to provide a justification for large orders. Allergan even required
customers to provide a reason for reduced orders.

605. Allergan failed to stop shipments after it knew or should have known that opioid
orders remained suspicious, had no requirement to stop shipments on suspicious indirect sales, and
failed to report suspicious orders to BNE or the DEA. Eventually, Allergan ceased operating any
suspicious order monitoring program at all, when it ||| | R

606. Finally, Allergan failed to discontinue detailing HCPs who were suspected of
diversion. On the contrary, Allergan chose its detailing targets based on the likelihood of higher
numbers of prescriptions.

I1I. Specific Misconduct of Each of the Distributor Defendants

607. While the Manufacturer Defendants created the initial surge in demand for opioids,
and maintained it with their ongoing fraudulent conduct, the explosion in opioid overuse in New
York could not have been perpetuated and expanded over the past decade to such devastating effect

without the grossly negligent and/or willful misconduct of the Distributor Defendants.
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608. New York has entrusted pharmaceutical distributors, through the duties enshrined
in the NYCSA, with an essential role in cutting off the flow of controlled substances from
manufacturers to pharmacies when there are warning signs of potential misuse. As a practical
consequence, pharmaceutical distributors who do business in New York have to accept the costs of
both implementing effective compliance functions and losing prospective but noncompliant sales
to pharmacies that are successfully blocked by those functions.

609. The Distributor Defendants refused this legally-required bargain, choosing instead
to profiteer by repeatedly and continuously violating the NYCSA over the past decade, enabling
lucrative sales of massive volumes of opioid products to pharmacies displaying even the brightest
red flags of misuse.

610. Even if Plaintiff could point to no articulable injury resulting from the Distributor
Defendants’ routine, everyday violations of the NYCSA, they would still be liable to pay the
penalties sought here for each such violation, which serve as New York’s primary deterrent against
well-resourced corporations being tempted to skimp on (or ignore) their duty to provide robust
compliance mechanisms.

611. But the Distributor Defendants have injured the State and its residents. Their
pervasive and persistent course of misconduct enabled and perpetuated vast increases in opioid
over-prescription, caused numerous false medical-cost payment claims to be made to (and fulfilled
by) the State, and exponentially multiplied the toll of death, destruction, and suffering that the State
and its residents have already endured, and will still face for years to come.

612.  The Distributor Defendants knew they were doing this at all relevant times, yet they
not only failed to fix the yawning holes in their compliance systems, but also lied to the State about

those systems in order to maintain their licenses and their ability to profit from the misery of New
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York residents. The Distributors’ ongoing, slow-motion compliance train wreck was so apparent
from within these companies, and the injuries it would inevitably inflict were so entirely
foreseeable, that if the Distributor Defendants did not actually know and intend their misconduct
and its results, it could have only been because they deliberately blinded themselves to those
realities as they clawed for profits and competitive advantage in a race to the regulatory-compliance
bottom.

613. Even at this preliminary stage of Plaintiff’s investigation, Plaintiff can identify
glaring examples of each Distributor Defendant’s violations of its duties.

A. Cardinal

614. Cardinal was New York’s leading distributor of opioid drugs between 2010 and
2018, selling nearly 780 million oxycodone pills to its customers in New York in that period.'!°

615. Of particular importance to New York, Cardinal’s business in the State during this
time vastly expanded through its acquisition of smaller pharmaceutical distributors including its
2006 purchase of ParMed Pharmaceuticals, and its November 2010 purchase of Kinray, which is
based out of Whitestone, New York and focuses primarily on customers in New York State and
some surrounding areas.

1. Cardinal’s Flawed Written Policies Enabled Opioid Diversion

616.  Cardinal’s written policies for compliance with the NYCSA were and are contained
in Standard Operating Procedures (“SOPs”) that apply to its various operating and sales
departments. These SOPs were first implemented in December 2008 and have since undergone

several revisions.

110 Unless otherwise specified below, information concerning shipments and prescriptions are derived from
Manufacturers and Distributors of Controlled Substances (MADOCS) shipment data, prescription data, and related
opioid data provided by DOH. Suspicious order reporting figures are derived from DOH and DEA data.
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617. These policies were fundamentally flawed in that they were not coordinated within
the context of a consistent, unified umbrella policy to prevent the diversion of controlled substances,
resulting in employees governed by one of the SOPs being unaware of the obligations imposed by
other SOPs on other employees, even when effective anti-diversion measures required that
understanding and coordination. Furthermore, these documents are not readily available even to
the employees charged with implementing them.

618. Inaddition, Cardinal’s SOPs and policies contained numerous gaps that would have
prevented them from effectively preventing diversion, even if enforced. For example, these
policies:

e Allowed compliance staff to approve onboarding new accounts with no formal mechanism
to ensure review and approval by a supervisor;

e Allowed onboarding of new accounts even where customers failed to provide requested
information about other suppliers, dispensing data, and top prescriber information;

o Allowed staff to |
]

e Allowed compliance staff to release a customer’s first order in excess of its monthly

threshold, regardless of whether the customer made other orders in excess of the same drug
threshold at the same time; and

* Allowed compliance staff to G
1}

2. Cardinal’s Failure to Effectively Prevent Diversion in Practice

619. At all relevant times, Cardinal failed to employ qualified compliance staff to
implement these policies, failed to adequately train those compliance staff or its sales
representatives concerning Cardinal’s anti-diversion duties, and failed to enforce even the defective

policies it had in place.
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620. Cardinal failed to install qualified personnel in key compliance positions. For
example, Cardinal’s front-line “New Account Specialists” and “Analysts,” responsible for
onboarding new customers and monitoring existing customers, respectively, were routinely
recruited from the ranks of the company’s existing pool of administrative assistants. These
employees, who had no experience in regulatory compliance, were generally supervised by
pharmacists or other professionals with no prior experience in supervising investigative functions.

621. Moreover, Cardinal failed to provide meaningful training to either these unqualified
compliance personnel or sales representatives. Instead, Cardinal expected the compliance staff to
“learn on the job” through informal in-person “team meetings.” Due to the lack of proper training
and clear guidelines, compliance staff did not fully understand critical components of their jobs and
often developed their own procedures and benchmarks for reviewing customers.

622.  Unsurprisingly, these unqualified and untrained staff routinely failed to follow even
the most basic procedures required under the company’s various SOPs.

623. For example, while Cardinal’s SOP for onboarding new customers called for their

New Account Specialists to |G

624. Moreover, even when a New Account Specialist provided information about [Jjij

Indeed, even where the New Account Specialist indicated that
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625.  Finally, even when a New Account Specialist ||

626. Illustrative examples of New York pharmacies that were allowed to become

Cardinal customers in this way include:

627.
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account onboarding process despite having compliance red flags. In or around June 2012, for

example, a Nassau County pharmacy that had
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628. Even to staff charged with investigations and anti-diversion, the message was clear:
without sales, there is no Cardinal. Indeed, many of Cardinal’s policies and practices have
prioritized sales over regulatory obligations.

629. In 2012 and 2013, Cardinal took significant steps to renew focus on increased sales
at the cost of a robust and responsible compliance structure, thereby keeping as customers
pharmacies that it knew or should have known were high risk for diversion of opioids. For example,

Cardinal:

e Continuously reduced the due diligence information collected from prospective and
existing customers, diluting the customer questionnaire, removing the requirements
to collect photos of the pharmacies, and ceasing to ask about top prescribers;

e Expanded the geographic scope of investigators with essential regional knowledge
of, for example, top prescribers and their locations relative to the pharmacies where
their prescriptions were being filled, thus reducing the investigators’ efficacy;

e Restricted the information reviewed from site visits by first removing the
investigator comment section and for a time eliminating written reports entirely;
and

e Demoted, moved to non-compliance functions, or let go several staff members who
articulated an interest in expanding the company’s compliance functions,
aggressively scrutinizing pharmacy customers, and/or terminating problematic
customers.

630. Cardinal was known by its competitors to ||

631. As to existing customers, Cardinal routinely failed to follow the SOP’s procedures

for detecting, monitoring, and reporting suspicious orders.
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632. For one, Cardinal’s compliance staff routinely released orders in excess of a
customer’s threshold without conducting the follow-up investigation and providing the detailed

written justification called for by the SOPs. Indeed, Cardinal regularly |

As another example, in the five months between July and November 2015, Cardinal || NN
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634. In addition, in several instances, occurring at least as recently as 2017, Cardinal

635. Even where Cardinal did block customers’ orders and report them as suspicious to
the DEA, it routinely took no steps to suspend or terminate those customers pending further
investigation, and instead allowed them to continue receiving their threshold amount of opioids
month after month thereafter, regardless of whether the customer continued to make additional
suspicious orders.

636. Between 2012 and 2017, for example, Cardinal reported twelve or more opioid-

related suspicious orders for at least one year—the equivalent of one per month—for 195 separate
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pharmacies in New York. For nearly half of these pharmacies, Cardinal reported an average of one
opioid-related suspicious order per month for two or more years.

637. Those pharmacies had several known red flags in their shipment orders and
prescription data. More than half of these pharmacies: (a) exceeded the 90th percentile in the State
in terms of opioid volume shipped; (b) exceeded the 90th percentile in the State in terms of
oxycodone volume shipped; and (c) exceeded the 90th percentile in the State in terms of median
strength of opioids prescribed per day.

638. After the first year in which Cardinal reported twelve or more opioid-related
suspicious orders for one of these pharmacies, Cardinal continued to ship opioids, on average, for
more than three years. In fact, as of 2018, it appears that Cardinal was still shipping opioids to 149
of these pharmacies, or 76% of the group.

639. Moreover, as of 2018, 85% of this group of pharmacies had filled prescriptions by
at least one prescriber who was subsequently indicted or convicted on opioid-related prescribing
and distribution charges.

640.  Within this group of suspect pharmacies that Cardinal did nothing to control, five
stand out as particularly egregious. In each case, Cardinal reported more than 50 opioid-related
suspicious orders per year—the equivalent of one suspicious order per week to either the New York
State Department of Health (“DOH”) or the Drug Enforcement Agency (“DEA”)—for three or
more consecutive years. This, despite the fact that all five pharmacies separately exhibited
numerous known indicators of illicit activity.

641. Some examples of these pharmacies include:

e Cardinal Exemplar Pharmacy 1 was the number-one pharmacy in
terms of opioid volume in Suffolk County and in the 99th percentile

for the State from 2011 through the first quarter of 2018. Its median
MME per day exceeded the 95th percentile for the entire State for
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all of 2013 to 2017. Cardinal reported an average of 85 suspicious
orders per year for five years, the equivalent of more than once a
week, yet as of 2018, this pharmacy continued to receive opioids
from Cardinal.
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Cardinal Exemplar Pharmacy 2 located in Greene County, with a
population of about 50,000, exceeded the 95th percentile in terms of
opioid and oxycodone volume shipped, relative to all other
pharmacies in the State in at least one year. From 2012 to 2018,
Cardinal shipped more than 20,000 grams of opioids to this
pharmacy, the equivalent of about thirteen 30mg oxycodone pills for
every person in the county. As of 2018, it was the largest pharmacy
in the county in terms of opioid volume, oxycodone volume,
oxycodone orders, and percentage of oxycodone volume relative to
all controlled substances. For 2013 to 2017, an average of 20% of
customers filled prescriptions from three or more prescribers per
year (likely “doctor-shoppers”). From 2015 to 2017, Cardinal wrote
a total of 993 Suspicious Order Reports (“SORs”)—the equivalent
of three every single day for three years—193 of which were opioid-
related. Yet as of 2018, Cardinal has continued to ship opioids to
this pharmacy.
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642. In many other instances, however, Cardinal simply failed to block suspicious orders
at all, despite overwhelming and telltale signs of suspicious activity. For these pharmacies, rather
than file a single opioid-related SOR, Cardinal shipped opioids for years on end.

643. For example, Cardinal had 70 pharmacy customers as to which other distributors
reported at least six opioid-related suspicious orders per year, the equivalent of one every other
month, while Cardinal did not report a single opioid-related suspicious order.

644. Most of these pharmacies exhibited one or more known “red flags” indicating
suspicious activity:

e Exceeded 90th percentile in county in terms of opioid orders;
e Exceeded 90th percentile in county in terms of opioid volume;
e Exceeded 90th percentile in county in terms of oxycodone volume;

e Exceeded 90th percentile in State in terms of oxycodone volume;
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More than 20% of customers filled opioid prescriptions at three or
more pharmacies in a single calendar year, the 90th percentile of
pharmacies visited by a single customer;

More than 20% of customers filled opioid prescriptions written by
three or more different prescribers in a single calendar year, the 90th
percentile of providers visited by a single patient; and

Opioid prescriptions written by a provider who was subsequently
indicted or convicted on opioid-related prescribing and distribution
charges.

Some of these pharmacies exhibited several red flags. Two examples stand out:

Cardinal Exemplar Pharmacy 3 located in Erie County, exceeded
the 90th percentile in the state for number of opioid orders and total
opioid volume from 2010 to 2018. Its median MME per day for
prescriptions exceeded the 90th percentile for the state for 2013-
2016. More than 20% of its customers have received opioid
prescriptions by three or more doctors in the same period. Between
2010 and 2014, McKesson, another supplier, || S 2~d
issued 223 SORs. Yet Cardinal appears to have continued shipping
opioids to the pharmacy until 2015. In 2016, the pharmacy settled
with the State for charges related to Medicaid fraud.

Cardinal Exemplar Pharmacy 4 located in Nassau County, had a
median MME per day that exceeded the 90th percentile from 2013
to 2017. For five consecutive years, it exceeded the 90th percentile
in terms of number of oxycodone orders and oxycodone volume
shipped, relative to all other pharmacies in the State. Despite these
signs, Cardinal issued only two opioid-related SORs, which
occurred in 2016. By this point, McKesson, another supplier, had
issued 57 SORs, 24 of which were opioid-related.

In still other instances, neither Cardinal nor other distributors reported numerous

suspicious orders, but almost certainly should have, given that a handful of prescribers were

responsible for writing an unusually high percentage of the pharmacy’s opioid prescriptions. By

itself, having a high concentration of opioid prescriptions written by a small number of providers

is a known red flag for opioid diversion. Subsequently, these pharmacies had among the highest

percentage of prescriptions written by providers who were indicted or convicted on opioid-related

prescribing and distribution charges. Some examples of these pharmacies include:
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Cardinal Exemplar Pharmacy 5 located on Staten Island: In 2016
and 2017, approximately 60% of prescriptions were written by
prescribers who were later indicted or convicted. The median MME
per day was about 170, nearly twice the CDC’s recommended
maximum of 90 MME per day. About 60% of prescriptions were
paid for in cash in 2016 and 2017. This pharmacy is in the 98th
percentile in oxycodone shipped as a percentage of all controlled
substances for 2016. All of these indicators are significant outliers
when compared with other pharmacies. Cardinal had yet to issue a
single SOR related to this pharmacy as of December 2017.
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Cardinal Exemplar Pharmacy 6 located in Queens County:
Between 2014 and 2016, approximately 45% of prescriptions were
written by prescribers who were later indicted or convicted on
opioid-related prescribing or distribution charges; its prescriptions
had a high median MME per day of 135; and it ranked in the 97th
percentile in the State terms of opioids volume as a percentage of all
controlled substances. Cardinal has only issued one SOR for this
pharmacy.
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e Cardinal Exemplar Pharmacy 7 located in New York County: In
2013, 89% of prescriptions were written by prescribers who were
later indicted or convicted, and 92% of payments were made in cash.
Median MME per day was at or exceeded 135 for 2013-2015 and
was as high as 180 in 2017. Cardinal had yet to issue a single SOR
or stop shipping to this pharmacy as of 2018.

647. Finally, even if Cardinal had conducted due diligence to investigate its high-volume
opioids customers in New York, Cardinal’s failure to implement any system to store and share
information about their suspicious customers and/or suspicious prescribers would have
compromised the effectiveness of any such investigation.

648. Due to these flaws, Cardinal routinely continued to supply pharmacies that filled

prescriptions for prescribers that had been flagged in its own (infrequent) investigations of other

pharmacies as likely sources of diversion. For example, Cardinal || R AR
-
I But because this
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information was not made available through the retention of a shared list of suspect prescribers,

Cardinal continued to supply other pharmacies that ||
I V(i just months before Dr. Cubangbang was arrested in 2018 on opioid-related

charges.

649.

Cardinal’s acquisitions of ParMed and Kinray led to substantial additional

violations. Cardinal took on these new subsidiaries’ customers despite their deficient new customer

screening, conflicting policies, and faulty anti-diversion measures. The integration process itself

also created gaps that allowed controlled substances to process through the system without adhering

to Cardinal’s suspicious order monitoring policies. For example:

In 2017, Cardinal staff discovered that several ParMed customers
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In one example of Kinray new customer onboarding, a pharmacy in
Ulster County

Dr.
convicted in early 2013 for improperly dispensing drugs, including
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at least one
Cardinal compliance staff member has since acknowledged that
practice as inappropriate.

650. In addition to numerous instances, including those cited above, in which Cardinal’s
own employees acknowledged failures in its compliance systems, the company was explicitly put
on notice on multiple occasions by government agencies that it was not fulfilling its duties,
including those it owed to Plaintiff.

651. For example, in 2007 and 2008, the DEA issued suspension orders against four of
Cardinal’s distribution centers for failure to maintain effective anti-diversion controls, and alleged
that such failures occurred at three additional Cardinal distribution centers. Cardinal entered into
a settlement with the DEA in 2008 agreeing to reform its policies and practices and pay a total of
$34 million in penalties to seven states.

652. Notwithstanding this settlement and Cardinal’s agreement to maintain effective
controls, the DEA issued another suspension order in 2012 against another Cardinal distribution
center, based on the company’s continuing failure to maintain effective anti-diversion controls.
Cardinal settled this matter with the DEA first in 2012 by agreeing to maintain an effective
compliance program; that agreement included specific requirements, some of which were not
formalized into Cardinal’s SOPs until 2016. In 2016, Cardinal entered into yet another settlement
with the DEA, agreeing to pay a $44 million fine and to implement better policies and procedures.

653. Also in 2012, the State of West Virginia sued Cardinal, alleging that the mere
volume of opioid pills the company shipped into the state over the preceding five years was prima
facie evidence that Cardinal did not have effective policies and procedures for preventing diversion.
In 2016, Cardinal settled that case for $20 million.

654. Despite knowing of the broad failures of its compliance policies, both as written

and as actually enforced, and knowing of numerous instances in which those failures had led to
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individual instances in which the company improperly distributed opioids in New York and other
states, Cardinal never took meaningful steps towards adjusting its program to better prevent
diversion, never told New York (as it was required to) that violations had occurred, and instead,
lied in its licensing applications as to the efficacy of its systems and the absence of violations.

B. McKesson

655.  McKesson has been the second-leading distributor of opioids into New York over
the last decade, dumping more than 540 million oxycodone pills into pharmacy dispensaries in the

State from 2010 to 2018 alone.

1. McKesson's Flawed Written Policies Enabled Opioid Diversion

656. The inadequacy of McKesson’s compliance policies was aptly summarized by a

high-level McKesson compliance officer [
-

657. Indeed, prior to 2007, in complete violation of its obligations under the NYCSA,
McKesson had no written policies specifically dedicated to preventing the diversion of opioids.

658. In 2008, McKesson entered into a settlement agreement with the DEA, wherein the
company admitted to failure to maintain adequate controls against diversion; failure to report thefts
and losses of controlled substances; and failure to detect and report suspicious orders of controlled
substances. McKesson also paid $13.25 million in civil penalties.

659. Pursuant to this settlement agreement, in 2008, McKesson finally established an
anti-diversion policy for all controlled substances—the “Controlled Substances Monitoring
Program” (“CSMP”). McKesson continued to update the program through the years, through

modifications to the CSMP and other guidance, culminating in the current CSMP.
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660. McKesson’s CSMPs were riddled with flaws and loopholes that rendered them
substantially ineffective. Specifically, the CSMPs at various points:

e Directed that customers’ monthly threshold limits be set by reference to
customers’ prior ordering volumes, without requiring investigation of those
volumes’ appropriateness, effectively building all prior diversion activity
into the company’s future shipments of opioids to those customers;

e Allowed customers to resolve investigations into orders in excess of their
monthly threshold and into requests to increase monthly thresholds

(“TCRs”) by self-reporting the answers to three yes or no questions, without
requiring validation of those answers;

e Failed to require key indicators of diversion as part of the company’s due
diligence of pharmacies, including but not limited to obtaining prescriber-
level information;

e Exempted some customers from scrutiny who consistently placed orders in
excess of their threshold;

e Alerted customers when they were nearing their monthly threshold limit for
opioid products;

e Failed to adequately design and operate a system to disclose suspicious
orders to the DEA; and

e Required little to no diligence on chain pharmacy orders, so as to maintain
these large customer accounts regardless of the consequences.

661. These and other deficiencies resulted in the unexamined and unrestrained flow of
opioids to New York residents. McKesson’s failure to establish effective controls against diversion
is illustrated by its decision not to require, and later, a directive not to obtain, prescriber information.
McKesson never required pharmacies to provide prescriber-level dispensing data when granting
threshold increases or investigating suspicious orders, despitce i IIIE
I - V(0reover, when
compliance staff did receive prescriber-level data and identified suspicions about particular

pharmacies based on doctors for whom they filled prescriptions, the company lacked any system
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by which it could identify other pharmacies that filled prescriptions for the same physicians.

Finally, by late 2013, McKesson |

—deliberately blinding itself to that key data—resulting in continued shipments of

opioids to many New York pharmacies that the company should have scrutinized due to the
dominance of suspicious prescribers whose prescriptions were being filled in those locations.

662. Another McKesson policy was to avoid performing any diligence on customers that

I M cKesson continued to ship opioids to these high-risk pharmacies

I . continuing to fill their orders up to their thresholds

without any diligence at all. One New Y ork pharmacy, for example, || N

663. McKesson also employed the practice of alerting customers when they were
approaching their thresholds, which had a natural tendency to encourage the manipulation of the

compliance system. Indeed, it appears to have originally been designed for that purpose—jjjiil]
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664. As a result of this advance-warning practice, McKesson’s highest-volume opioid
customers in New York, including pharmacies that were later suspended, terminated, or disciplined,
were proactively contacted by McKesson’s compliance department and distribution center and sales
staff so that those customers could structure their orders and justify threshold increase requests, and

thereby avoid suspicious order reporting and any additional scrutiny. McKesson itself later

665. Finally, McKesson’s system for identifying and reporting suspicious orders swung
from inadequate to inscrutable. Between 2008 and 2013, McKesson reported virtually no
suspicious orders to the DEA or the State. Specifically, of the 1.6 million orders for controlled
substances processed between 2008 and 2013 by its Aurora, Colorado Distribution Center,
McKesson reported only sixteen as suspicious.

666. Then in 2013, McKesson began to report every order placed in excess of a
customer’s threshold as a suspicious order. In 2015, for example, McKesson provided the DEA
with over 230,000 suspicious order reports, or over 630 per day from McKesson alone.
McKesson’s automatic submission of every order in excess of a threshold without any review
thereby shifted the burden to the DEA to determine whether the order was in fact suspicious.
Indeed, McKesson was well aware that this was not an adequate system to disclose suspicious
orders to the DEA, as McKesson had previously reported every order in excess of a specified
quantity before its 2008 settlement, and at that time, was informed that “inundating local DEA

office[s]” was not useful.
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667. With respect to its chain pharmacy customers, McKesson did almost no due

diligence at all, |
1
I . | his reliance proved to be

misplaced, as chain pharmacies’ outlets also contributed to the massive flow of opioids to New
York residents, filling the prescriptions of doctors charged with running pill mills, and other
suspicious activities.

668.  McKesson adopted this “hands-off” approach to its largest customers for one

reason only—fear of losing the large chains’ business. When debating whether to subject its largest

chain customer, CVS, to the operation of its CSMP, | NG
I A rd that is exactly what McKesson
did: |
|
|
e

2. McKesson's Failure to Effectively Prevent Diversion in Practice
669. In addition to adopting ineffective (indeed, counterproductive) anti-diversion
policies, McKesson vastly under-resourced its compliance department, assigned unqualified and
untrained personnel to implement these policies, routinely ignored these policies in practice, and
otherwise failed to take reasonable steps to prevent diversion.
670. McKesson’s lack of attention to its compliance and anti-diversion obligations is
evidenced by the de minimis resources the company invested in regulatory staff. From 2008 to

2012, implementation of the CSMP for all McKesson pharmacy customers across the country was
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left to four regional Directors of Regulatory Affairs (“DRAs”). Each of these four DRAs—a
number that grew to six in 2012—was responsible for onboarding new pharmacy customers,
reviewing and increasing thresholds, and conducting all due diligence for all of the pharmacies

across their region, with no other dedicated regulatory staff.

671. The DRAs themselves regularly |
-
I Upon lcaning in 2008 that a
competing distributor had increased its regulatory department to at least 30 employees, a DRA
suggested that I - o such
position was created until five years later, in 2013. The DRAs did not receive any designated
regulatory staff to assist them until 2014, and the training eventually provided to that staff was
inadequate to allow them to perform their jobs effectively.

672. Also in 2014, supervision over regulatory affairs shifted from the senior vice
president of distribution operations, for whom the CSMP had been just one of many responsibilities,

to a new head of regulatory affairs, for whom oversight of the CSMP was a full-time job. McKesson

itself acknowledged its failure to |G
I
I

673. In the absence of a dedicated regulatory staff, McKesson assigned virtually all of
its front-line compliance functions for New York customers to operations and sales staff and
administrative assistants with no experience with controlled substance regulations, or indeed any
corporate compliance experience at all. These operations and administrative staff reported directly

to the East Region’s DRA, who himself had never had a specialized role in regulatory compliance
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prior to being given that job. Sales staff reported to sales management, and rarely interacted with
compliance personnel at all.

674. Moreover, McKesson provided minimal training to these operations,
administrative, and sales personnel with respect to their roles in ensuring the company’s compliance
with state and federal controlled substances laws and regulations, including the NYCSA. Senior
regulatory staff also did not do audits or even ask for feedback on the CSMPs from these front-line
sales personnel.

675. Finally, as discussed above, McKesson’s policies tasked sales staff with front-line
compliance duties, without providing any mechanism to ensure that these employees’ responsibility
and incentive to promote sales did not compromise their ability and/or willingness to perform their
compliance-related functions, when doing so could result in the loss of those sales. Not
surprisingy,
I o McKesson management recognized this inherent problem, |
-
.

676. McKesson’s under-resourced, under-qualified, and untrained staff routinely
bypassed critical procedures set forth in the CSMPs and frequently failed to obtain and maintain
the records called for by its CSMPs in the due diligence files of its customers.

677. For example, McKesson employees regularly failed to ensure completion of even

the minimal, three-question form used to resolve inquiries into orders in excess of the customer’s

threshold. |
|
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678.  When customers requested increases in their threshold allowance for opioid orders,
McKesson routinely approved those increases within days, hours, or even minutes, before any
independent, diligent investigation could possibly have been conducted, and without being

provided any reasonable justification. On many occasions, McKesson uncritically and immediately

accepted the most perfunctory explanations from its customers, ||

679. Moreover, McKesson made it a practice to ||

680. Even though McKesson’s CSMP required it to keep records of each request for a

threshold change, McKesson routinely failed to complete and maintain those records. | N

681. When McKesson did conduct any more searching due diligence investigations than
the perfunctory steps discussed above, it routinely failed to identify obvious red flags of diversion,

such as:

e A pharmacy that obtained an increase in its opioids threshold || NG
and who would

all later be arrested for diversion, one of whom was indicted two months after the threshold
increase was granted;

e A pharmacy located in ||| I that sought an increase of over || N
1, 2nd

e A pharmacy whose pharmacist was previously disciplined for dispensing without a

prescription, and which |G
I
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682. In the cases where McKesson’s compliance staff did identify issues with a
particular pharmacy, the company lacked any mechanism to ensure the retention and sharing of
information to identify other customers with related red flags.

683. For example, when McKesson identified suspicions about particular pharmacies
based on doctors for whom they filled prescriptions, the company lacked any system by which it
could identify other pharmacies that filled prescriptions for the same physician. As a result,
McKesson continued to sell opioids to pharmacies that were filling prescriptions for || N
|
until both were eventually indicted in 2018. McKesson’s head of compliance had explicitly
recognized this |G
I but the company did nothing to remedy
this key failure in its compliance system. Moreover, as discussed above, McKesson |
I I fully blinding itself to key evidence of
diversion.

684. Finally, even when McKesson actually did identify customers’ obvious red flags,

it frequently failed to implement suspensions or terminations. Examples of such customers include:

e A pharmacy that submitted a request to increase its ||
e
e

I VM cKesson continued to service the pharmacy for at least four more

years. Subsequently another distributor ||
I b still McK esson took no action;

« A pharmacy that |
N . i M cK csson

maintaining the pharmacy as a customer;

e A pharmacy N . |2 cr indicted, I
I | cK csson took no action;
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A pharmacy that had exceeded its threshold of |
.
e
I D¢ McKesson took no such action;

e A pharmacy that ordered only G
I 2 d yet continued as a McKesson customer;

e A pharmacy that sought to |G

I Vo were both later arrested, and continued as a McKesson customer;
and

e A pharmacy that was identified as suspicious because || NN
e

the doctor was later
sentenced to seven years in prison for illegally prescribing opioids. One of this
doctor’s patients, who died of an overdose, was a New York resident.

685. Even where McKesson did block customers’ orders and report them as suspicious
to the DEA, it routinely took no steps to suspend or terminate those customers pending further
investigation, and instead simply allowed them to continue receiving their threshold amount of
opioids month after month thereafter, regardless of whether the customer continued to make
additional suspicious orders.

686. For example, between 2011 and 2017, McKesson submitted twelve or more opioid-
related SORs for at least one year for 245 distinct pharmacies, representing one opioid-related SOR
every month for more than ten percent of its New York State pharmacies. Of these pharmacies,
McKesson submitted opioid-related SORs roughly twice a month for a full year (24 SORs in total
per year) for 133 distinct pharmacies. During the first year in which McKesson sent at least two
opioid-related SORs per month, those pharmacies exhibited several telltale red flags.

687. Specifically, more than half of those pharmacies: (a) exceeded the 90th percentile
in the (entire) state in terms of volume of oxycodone shipped; (b) exceeded the 90" percentile in

the (entire) state in terms of number of oxycodone orders; and (c) filled over one hundred opioid
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prescriptions in a year—in other words, more than two opioid prescriptions per week—by one or
more prescribers later indicted or convicted by law enforcement of medically unnecessary
prescribing, opioid diversion, or related crimes.

688. Following the first year in which McKesson submitted 24 or more opioid-related
SORs for a year, McKesson continued to ship to these pharmacies, on average, for nearly three
years. In fact, as of 2018, it appears that McKesson is still shipping to 116 of these pharmacies, or
77% of the group.

689. Moreover, as of 2018, 67% of these pharmacies had filled prescriptions by one or
more prescribers later indicted or convicted of opioid-related crimes. Indeed, some of these
pharmacies had a majority of their opioid prescriptions written by prescribers who were later
indicted or convicted.

690. Even worse than its record in dealing with pharmacies it did identify suspicious
orders for, though, is McKesson’s pattern of failing to even identify and block as suspicious any
orders at all for pharmacies that persistently displayed red flags of diversion.

691. For example, between 2008 and 2013, McKesson shipped to 145 pharmacies that
exceeded their monthly threshold for an opioid order at least twelve times in a year, while failing
to identify a single suspicious order. McKesson continued to ship to these pharmacies for, on
average, more than six years.

692. Three examples from this group of McKesson’s most at-risk pharmacies stand out:

e McKesson Exemplar Pharmacy 1, located in New York County,
received concurrent opioid shipments from the top four distributors
between 2010 and 2017, with shipments from McKesson beginning
in 2012. Between 2010 and 2015, it consistently exceeded the 90th
percentile in the State for number of opioid orders and volume
shipped, with oxycodone-specific orders and volumes surpassing

the 97th percentile. In fact, it was the top pharmacy for oxycodone
shipments (relative to all controlled substances) in New York
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County in 2011, though no SORs were issued by any of the
distributors at the time. While McKesson did eventually issue 507
SORs for this pharmacy between 2013 and 2016, in each of these
years, the pharmacy’s median MME per day for prescriptions
exceeded the 96th percentile for the State, with a median MME per
day volume ranging from 90-144 MME per day.
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McKesson Exemplar Pharmacy 2, located in Suffolk County,
received opioid shipments from both McKesson and Cardinal
between 2012 and 2017, frequently exceeding the 95™ percentile for
volume of shipments of oxycodone in New York State. Between
2013 and 2017, the median MME per day for these prescriptions
exceeded the 97th percentile, with an MME ranging from 90 to 135.
Furthermore, cash payments exceeded the 87th percentile in the
State with yearly totals as high as 38% of total payments. While
McKesson did issuc [Jjj order omits in the first four years, it
continued to ship over 12,000 grams of opioids in subsequent years.
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McKesson Exemplar Pharmacy 3 is located in Oswego County.
Between 2011 and 2017, McKesson issued [Jjjj omits and 496
opioid-related SORs for this pharmacy, yet continued to ship opioids
to the pharmacy. In fact, for several years, this pharmacy received
the largest number (100" percentile) of orders and volume of
shipments for both all opioids and oxycodone-specific orders and
shipments in the county; meanwhile, it exceeded the 98™ percentile
for statewide orders. In 2016 and 2017, doctor shopping reached the
9214 percentile, with 60% of patients having filled prescriptions with
three or more doctors.
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McKesson Exemplar Pharmacy 3, Oswego County
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693. In each of these cases, instead of suspending or terminating these pharmacies,
McKesson continued to supply them with high volumes of opioids, in many cases for years after
the risk of diversion they posed should have been obvious.

694. The company was explicitly put on notice on multiple occasions by government
agencies that it was not fulfilling its duties, including those it owed to Plaintiff.

695. In 2008, McKesson entered into a settlement with the DEA based on that agency’s

investigation of the company’s compliance failures. Shortly thereafter, |G
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696. In2017, after almost a decade of not fulfilling the agreement it made with the DEA,
McKesson made yet another settlement with the DEA wherein it agreed to pay a $150 million civil
penalty for violation of the 2008 settlement, as well as its failure to identify and report suspicious
orders at multiple distribution centers, following the DEA’s finding that McKesson “failed to
properly monitor its sales of controlled substances and/or report suspicious orders to DEA, in
accordance with [its] obligations.”

697. Despite knowing of the broad failures of its compliance policies, both as written
and as actually enforced, and knowing of numerous instances in which those failures had led to
individual instances in which the company improperly distributed opioids in New York and other
states, McKesson never reported any of that information to the State as it was required to by the
NYCSA.

C. Amerisource

698.  Amerisource is the nation’s third largest drug distributor in the country and in New
York. Since 2010, Amerisource has sold nearly 275 million oxycodone pills in the State.

699. A significant portion of Amerisource’s activity in New York is generated through
Bellco Health (“Bellco”), a pharmaceutical distributor acquired by Amerisource in 2007. Bellco is
based in North Amityville, New York, and is comprised of Bellco Drug Corporation (“Bellco
Drug”), which primarily serves independent retail pharmacies in New York and New Jersey, and

Bellco Generics (“BG”), with customers throughout the country.

192

210 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

700. Though Amerisource has represented that Bellco integration was complete as of
September 30, 2008, Bellco employees and accounts were separate from those of Amerisource until

in or around November 2015.

1. Amerisource’'s Flawed Written Policies Enabled Opioid Diversion

701.  Amerisource’s written policies for compliance with the NYCSA were and are
contained within its Diversion Control Program and its Order Monitoring Program (“OMP”). The
programs are administered by Amerisource’s Corporate Security and Regulatory Affairs (“CSRA”)
staff. From 2007 to 2015, the program’s specifics were scattered through a series of policy and
procedure documents, which were not uniform for Bellco and Amerisource. Amerisource
implemented a revised Diversion Control Program in 2015 and into 2016.

702.  Amerisource compliance policies are flawed from the point of initial new customer
onboarding. Since 2007, Amerisource has generally required a customer questionnaire, a site visit,
license verification, and online investigation as part of its new customer due diligence process. A

central component of Amerisource’s new customer procedure is its Retail Pharmacy Questionnaire

(4590 Form"”), |
I  'he form asks for information about other distributors,

disciplinary history, customer payment methods, percentages of controlled substances, usage
numbers for specific high risk drugs, and top prescribers of opioids, among other questions. Though
the form requests information about prescribing physicians, it is not Amerisource’s policy to
perform news searches on those prescribers as part of the new customer procedure.

703. Staff reviewing the form have high benchmarks for these numbers before

considering them red flags. For example, cash payments could comprise up to JJjjjij of payments
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and controlled substances could account for up to [Jjjij of prescriptions dispensed before triggering
additional investigation.

704.  Amerisource does not require new customers to provide usage reports or dispensing
data as part of the onboarding process. By relying on these customers to self-report without any
documented verification, Amerisource does not fulfill its obligation of truly knowing its customers’
business practices.

705.  Both prior to and after program revision, Amerisource’s policies have allowed for
frequent threshold manipulation to avoid orders being held for review, rejected from shipment, or
reported as suspicious. For example:

e In and around 2011,

.
I csuring that thresholds were only hit for orders that were
far from the norm;

e Prior to 2012, Amerisource policy allowed [l 0 0E B T
e D
I

e  During the same time period, G
I 2 cd with such information, they were free to order exactly
to their limit, preemptively request an increase, and/or purchase those products
from another provider;

e As of January 2010, Amerisource sales and/or customer care employees || N

presumably to ensure an increased
threshold and avoid held orders going forward; and

e Today’s OMP system includes [ EG—G—

thus relying on a
customer’s high sales of a product to justify further increased sales.

706. Today, Amerisource’s current OMP uses a complex, automated approach that, in
essence, increases ordering flexibility for its customers rather than limits it.

707. The OMP has three defined parameters for specific product groups for any given

customer: |
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N 2 the il Safc”, I
L

To be held for further review, an order must exceed either both of the first two parameters or the
Fail Safe. This criteria does not fulfill Amerisource’s obligations under the NYCSA, which broadly
defines suspicious orders to include “orders of unusual size, orders deviating substantially from a
normal pattern, and orders of unusual frequency”—benchmarks that are disjunctive. By limiting
the orders even held for review, Amerisource’s policy does not fulfill its obligation to identify even

orders of interest, much less suspicious orders.

708, N
I con process the order, reject it as an error, reject and report it as
suspicious, or escalate it to the Diversion Control Team. |G
-
|
-

2. Amerisource’s Failure to Effectively Prevent Diversion in Practice
709.  Atall relevant times, Amerisource failed to employ sufficient numbers of qualified
compliance staff to implement these policies, failed to ensure those compliance staff were meeting
Amerisource’s anti-diversion duties, and failed to enforce even the defective policies it had in place.
710.  Among other deficiencies, Amerisource failed to sufficiently staff its compliance
departments. For example, from 2007 to 2015, Bellco had only two employees dedicated to front-
line diversion control, a clerk and a supervisor. Together, these staff members were responsible for
performing due diligence on all prospective new customers, setting new customers at the

appropriate tolerance level, doing monthly reviews of current customers, monitoring and reviewing
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flagged orders of existing customers, responding to threshold issues and adjustment requests, and
executing a portion of site visits, as required. During this period, the Bellco arm of Amerisource
served over ] customers nationwide, including over ] in New York alone. With a team of
only two responsible for thousands of customers, it is unsurprising that Bellco failed in its anti-
diversion obligations.

711.  Since the integration of Bellco into Amerisource and the revamp of its Diversion
Control Program in 2015, the company has increased anti-diversion staffing, but has not
significantly increased the number of fully trained ground level employees. Since that time,
Amerisource has maintained only five to seven front-line employees on its Diversion Control Team,

responsible for reviewing new customers and monitoring its existing [Jjjiij customers.

712, In a 2015 review I

713.  Many of Amerisource’s compliance violations begin with its new customer policy.
The process relies heavily on the customer 590 Form, given that Amerisource only requests
dispensing information from new customers when it already knows of potential issues. For
example, dispensing data was requested recently in considering customers moving from distributor
Morris & Dickson Company—including customers that prompted a DEA investigation because of

their high-volume opioid purchasing.
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714.  Despite the 590 Form being so critical to understanding its customers and ensuring
it can fulfill its regulatory obligations, and despite numerous other Amerisource procedures relying
on reviewing or updating this form, Amerisource has had significant issues related to failing to

perform even this baseline screening.

715.  In May 2016, the company began a project ||
I A merisource ultimately
discovered |

716.  As another example, Bellco Generics customers regularly completed the 590 Form

independently, submitted it to Bellco, and were onboarded thereafter without receiving a site visit.

717.  Disjunction between Amerisource and Bellco has led to additional failures. Until
system integration in or around November 2015, staff had no systematic way of identifying dual
customers. Though diversion staff at Bellco would reach out to counterparts at Amerisource when
onboarding a new customer or reviewing a held order, and vice versa, these staff members did not

have direct access to the customer’s history, thus preventing a proper review and evaluation of the
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customer’s likelihood of diversion. The external 2015 review |

718.  The lack of an integrated system also meant that thresholds were not coordinated
between Amerisource and Bellco at any point. As a result, a dual customer could have high
thresholds set with both, could be exceeding both thresholds, or even having its threshold
periodically increased with both, without detection.

719. Inoraround April 2013, Amerisource implemented a policy for dual customers that
prevented both Amerisource and Bellco from supplying controlled substances to the same

customer. Implementation, however, was problematic. In one example, a New York City pharmacy

720.  Evennow, Bellco accounts remain particularly problematic because || SN EEEE

721.  When an order is triggered for review, Amerisource’s Diversion Control Team can

make three possible adjudications: |G

In practice, under

Amerisource’s system, only a small percentage of orders flagged for review are cancelled, and even

fewer are deemed suspicious.
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722.  In 2017, Amerisource flagged il of its placed orders for additional review,
accounting for |l of its total orders. Of those, JJil] Were released to the customer, and
I v crc reported.  Amerisource essentially represents that, of orders exceeding its already
broad parameters, it receives more than || for cvery one suspicious order.

Diversion employees recognize the holes in Amerisource’s program. In preparing for a meeting

it |

I  Sccming to recognize that they looked poor—{i

723.  Amerisource has a high tolerance for compliance issues before it will terminate a

customer. Prior to 2015, the company had a regular practice || NN
I T 02y i

still lacks an internal rule or policy that requires investigation of a customer based on a specific

number of suspicious order reports.

724. A pharmacy in Manhattan, for example, || R
-

199

217 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

I /s rocently as January 2018, I
|
-
|

725. Within the [ orc New
York pharmacies that have been supplied by Amerisource || NN
I/ merisource did not implement
a system to identify and review G
-
|

726. Even when customers were restricted, blocked, or terminated, Amerisource’s

system failed to ensure their accounts were de-activated. In November 2017, a compliance staff

member |
N |
.
|
|
N Dut continued

receiving shipments through 2016; the owner was charged the following year with conspiracy to
distribute oxycodone and pled guilty.

727. The one area in which Amerisource has consistently stood out as compared to its
major competitors is its unwillingness to identify suspicious orders, even among customers that

regularly exceeded their thresholds and presented multiple red flags of diversion.
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728.  Specifically, Amerisource shipped opioids to approximately 2,430 pharmacies in
New York from 2010 to 2018. Between 2014 and 2017, Amerisource appears to have identified
I < ycar, but reported only | of them as
suspicious. In 2017, that rate fell to less than
729. During this time, numerous Amerisource opioid customers exhibited several
common indicators of suspicious activity for multiple years. These flags included:
e Scoring above the 90th percentile in the county for opioid order volume;
e Scoring above the 90th percentile in the county for total opioid orders;
e Scoring above the 90th percentile in the county for oxycodone order volume;
e Scoring above the 90th percentile in the county for total oxycodone orders;

e Scoring above the 90th percentile in the state for the percentage of oxycodone volume
shipped out of all controlled substances shipped;

¢ Filling prescriptions by prescribers who were later indicted or convicted on opioid-related
prescribing and distribution charges;

e Scoring above the 90th percentile in terms of percentage of patient doctor-shoppers;

e Scoring above the 90th percentile in terms of percentage of cash payments; and

e Scoring above the 90th percentile in terms of the median MME prescribed per day.
730. Three examples of such pharmacies are:

e Amerisource Exemplar Pharmacy 1, located in Orange County
(about 300,000 people), was consistently at or above both the 99th
percentile in the State in terms of both number of opioid orders and
total opioid weight. Between 2014 and 2016, more than 10% of its
prescriptions were written by prescribers who were later indicted or
convicted of opioid-related prescribing and distribution charges.
And while Amerisource reported 105 SORs for this pharmacy in
2013 and 83 in 2014, that number dwindled to || ] over the
next three years, and as of 2018, Amerisource was still serving as
this pharmacy’s primary opioid distributor.
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Amerisource Exemplar Pharmacy 1, Orange County
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e Amerisource Exemplar Pharmacy 2, located in Queens County,
is a customer of Amerisource’s Bellco Drug subdivision. Between
2013 and 2017, 77% of its prescriptions, on average, were written
by prescribers who were later indicted or convicted, including
Rogelio Lucas and Moshe Mirilashvili. In 2014 specifically, 90%
of prescriptions filled by this pharmacy were made by prescribers
who were later indicted or convicted. Amerisource appears to have
only stopped shipping in 2017—Amerisource itself only identified
Il SORs for this pharmacy between 2013 and 2017.
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Amerisource Exemplar Pharmacy 3, located in Bronx County,
exceeded the 95" percentile for the percentage of oxycodone
volume shipped for five years straight (2012 to 2016). On average,
58% of its opioid prescriptions were paid in cash (99 percentile in
the State). For three consecutive years (2013 to 2015),
approximately half of all opioid scripts were filled by prescribers
who were later convicted, including Robert Terdiman and Rogelio
Lucas. Amerisource reported two SORs in 2010 and |
I /s of 2018, this pharmacy was still

a customer of Amerisource.
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731.  Amerisource’s deficiencies and failures did not go undetected. The company was
explicitly put on notice on multiple occasions by government agencies that it was not fulfilling its
duties, including those it owed to Plaintiff.

732.  For example, in 2007, the DEA issued a Suspension Order against Amerisource’s
distribution center in Florida, alleging that the company failed to maintain effective anti-diversion
controls. Amerisource settled that matter by accepting a suspension of the distribution center’s
DEA registration.

733. Later that year, when Amerisource acquired Bellco, it was forced to acknowledge
in a press release that the reduced price it was paying for Bellco was due to the costs associated
with Bellco’s failure to report more than 2,000 suspicious opioid orders to the DEA over the prior
three years, and its $800,000 fine from that agency.

734. In 2012, the State of West Virginia sued Amerisource, alleging that the more than

100 million opioid pills the company shipped into the state over the preceding five years was prima
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facie evidence that Amerisource did not have effective policies and procedures for preventing
diversion. In 2016, Amerisource settled that case for $16 million.

735. Despite knowing of the broad failures of its compliance program, both as written
and as executed, and knowing of numerous instances in which those failures led to individual
instances of improper distribution of opioids in New York and other states, Amerisource never
reported any of that information to the State as it was required to by the NYCSA.

D. Rochester Drug

736. Rochester Drug is among the nation’s ten largest drug wholesalers, and the fourth
largest distributor in the State. Between 2010 and 2018, Rochester Drug sold more than 143 million
oxycodone pills to its customers in New York.

737. Rochester Drug is unique among the Distributor Defendants in that it is a
cooperative business organization whose members include many of its own pharmacy customers.
Rochester Drug’s business model gives rise to an inherent conflict with its compliance obligations,
in that its members have direct financial interests in limiting both pharmacy-level compliance costs
and Rochester Drug’s own compliance costs, and corresponding interests in obtaining from
Rochester Drug all the opioid products it can sell.

1. Rochester Drug’s Flawed Written Policies (or Lack Thereof) Enabled
Diversion

738.  Prior to 2015, Rochester Drug did not have any formal written standard operating
procedures governing its compliance with its anti-diversion duties.

739. Before 2015, Rochester Drug relied on a series of vaguely articulated policies,
including those found in letters to customers and the DEA. In a 2009 letter to the DEA, Rochester
Drug stated that it established a program to monitor its sales of controlled substances. Under this

program, Rochester Drug stated that it would establish monthly usage thresholds and prepare a
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“DEA Month End Orders of Suspicion Report” for orders it identified as suspicious. Rochester
Drug also told the DEA that it would hold and investigate any “Orders of Interest,” which it defined
as those exceeding a customer’s monthly usage limit.

740. Notwithstanding Rochester Drug’s 2009 commitments to the DEA, none of these
inadequate policies were actually memorialized in a written policy of standard operating procedures
made available to the company’s employees.

741. In any event, the system described in Rochester Drug’s 2009 letter to the DEA was
riddled with flaws that enabled diversion. For example, Rochester Drug set monthly usage
thresholds for its customers by averaging a customer’s purchases over a twelve-month period and
then multiplying that amount by an arbitrary number that varied based on the particular category of
controlled substances. For Schedule II drugs, such as the opioids at issue here, that arbitrary number
was three for several years. As such, the thresholds set by Rochester Drug’s “policy” were
invariably so high that customers could not reach them unless their order volumes tripled from their
historical purchasing patterns, rendering the system virtually useless at detecting many suspicious
orders. In 2009, Rochester Drug had told the DEA that its threshold monitoring system would
provide its customers with “room for growth,” and at least on this issue, Rochester Drug was not
understating the situation.

742. In 2012, Rochester Drug told the DEA that it would hold all “Orders of Interest”
until it received “proper information” from its customers, and that if those orders were not released
because of “insufficient information” from the pharmacy they would be reported to the DEA as
suspicious.

743.  Again, Rochester Drug’s 2012 update to its policies was not actually memorialized

in a formal written policy.
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744. In 2014, Rochester Drug informally implemented a change to its threshold
procedures, applying an arbitrary multiplier of two, instead of three, to its customers’ historical
purchasing patterns of Schedule II prescription opioids. This still left customers “room to grow”
their monthly opioid orders by double their normal volumes before even qualifying for scrutiny.

745. At the time, Rochester Drug’s head of compliance acknowledged major
deficiencies in its order monitoring system, writing in an email that the company had lowered its
factor multipliers “to force better cooperation from our customers” while referencing “not receiving
our loyal pharmacies dispensing records the way we require them.”

746. In 2015, Rochester Drug finally enacted a written Standard Operating Procedure
(“SOP”) governing its anti-diversion compliance mechanisms. Rochester Drug’s 2015 SOP,
among other things, required the company to: (i) obtain and review pharmacy dispensing data prior
to selling controlled substances to that pharmacy; (ii) verify customers’ DEA registrations; (iii)
obtain a completed customer questionnaire requesting information that could disclose red flags of
potential diversion; (iv) investigate and hold Orders of Interest; and (v) “assess whether each
prospective and current customer dispenses controlled substances for legitimate medical purposes.”

747. The 2015 SOP remained fundamentally flawed. For one thing, the SOP did not
effectively reform Rochester Drug’s arbitrary and enabling procedures for setting customers’
monthly thresholds; nor did Rochester Drug endeavor to conduct any investigation into the
appropriateness of its customers’ prior average ordering volumes, a failure which effectively rolled
all prior diversion activity into the company’s future shipments of opioids to those customers.
Instead, under the SOP, the arbitrary multiplier for Schedule II drugs was simply cut from two to
one and half—again, meaning that customers had to increase their monthly opioid volumes by 50%

before they would even trigger a compliance check by Rochester Drug.
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748. In addition, the 2015 SOP did not require compliance employees to review
dispensing data prior to releasing orders of interest or provide guidance on acceptable justifications
for releasing an order of interest or raising a purchase threshold.

749.  Further, under the 2015 SOP, Rochester Drug continued its longstanding practice
of warning customers that they were approaching their monthly purchase limits, including when
their purchases “reached 75% of their threshold.”

750. Moreover, although the 2015 SOP defined suspicious orders as those orders of
interest that the company decided not to ship and specified that these orders must be reported to the
DEA, it was entirely silent on whether, when, or how suspicious orders should be reported to any
State authorities. Nevertheless, even pursuant the 2015 SOP, Rochester Drug failed to adequately
design and operate a system to disclose suspicious orders.

751. Finally, as Rochester Drug struggled to implement any meaningful compliance
program, it also faltered in its mandatory Automation of Reports and Consolidated Orders System
(“ARCOS”) reporting obligations.

752. In 2013, a DEA audit concluded that Rochester Drug had underreported thousands
of drug sales made to its customers throughout the Northeast. Following the audit, Rochester Drug
assured the DEA that it was implementing a new electronic order system that would address any
concerns with its order reporting. In June 2014, however, when the DEA reexamined Rochester
Drug’s compliance systems, it discovered that Rochester Drug had not implemented the promised
new system, and had instead simply failed to enter any of its orders into ARCOS for the entire
preceding year.

753.  In July 2015, the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York brought a

civil complaint against Rochester Drug for its failure to report orders in ARCOS, and for failing to
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report the loss and/or theft of controlled substances, both in violation of the federal Controlled
Substances Act.

754. Shortly thereafter, Rochester Drug entered into a settlement agreement with the
U.S. Attorney. See Consent Order, United States v. Rochester Drug Cooperative, Case No. 15 Civ.
5219 (S.D.N.Y.) (ECF No. 2; filed July 8, 2015). As part of the agreement, Rochester Drug
admitted to its failures to report orders and lost/stolen drugs, agreed to pay a $360,000 fine, and

provided the DEA with reconstructed ARCOS data for the preceding five years.

2. Rochester Drug’s Failure to Effectively Prevent Diversion in Practice

755.  Prior to the end of 2013, Rochester Drug’s compliance staff consisted of just two
individuals. One of these employees handled customer service; the other held the dual
responsibilities of managing compliance and operations at Rochester Drug’s distribution facility—
a conflicting and time-competitive function.

756.  From approximately 2013 to 2016, Rochester Drug spent only about $150,000 on
compliance per year.

757. While the compliance department expanded gradually from 2013 to the present,
Rochester Drug continued to rely on only a handful of front-line staff to review orders of interest
and other due diligence materials for the entirety of its growing customer base—and even after the
company expanded to open a second distribution facility.

758.  On several occasions, Rochester Drug’s senior management expressed frustration
to compliance employees regarding the costs and the length of time of due diligence reviews. For
example, in a 2014 email discussing the hiring of an outside compliance consultant, Rochester
Drug’s then-CEO stated that it was “making me ill as to how much this is going to cost us.” In

another email, Rochester Drug’s then-CEO stated “we are wasting a lot of energy and pissing
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people off,” referring to the compliance program and the minimal burden that program placed on
Rochester Drug’s sales staff.

759. Rochester Drug also failed to provide its compliance employees with meaningful
training and supervision on how to perform various due diligence tasks. And it allowed untrained
front-line compliance employees to onboard customers, change purchase thresholds, and even
release orders that hit those thresholds without any further review by other staff.

760.  As noted above, before 2015, Rochester Drug had no written policies governing
compliance procedures for onboarding new pharmacy customers. In the absence of such policies,
Rochester Drug failed to conduct any meaningful due diligence of new customers until at least
2013, when it finally began requiring prospective customers to submit historical dispensing data.

761. Even after adopting the SOP in 2015, on several occasions, Rochester Drug
approved new customers for the sale of prescription opioids despite the presence of conspicuous
red flags.

e For example, in March 2016, Rochester Drug approved the
onboarding for the sale of controlled substances to a Queens, NY
pharmacy whose dispensing data a compliance employee identified
as showing a high percentage of cash purchasers, several out of state
prescribers, and prescriptions from a doctor who had been arrested
earlier that year on charges stemming from his oxycodone
prescribing practices.

e Similarly, in June 2016, Rochester Drug approved the onboarding
of another Queens, NY pharmacy despite acknowledging that the
pharmacy’s dispensing information showed that it had: (i) high
levels of cash payments for controlled substances in violation of the
pharmacy’s own due diligence policy; (i) filled controlled
substances prescriptions from “prescriber[s] practicing medicine
outside the scope of their documented medical specialty”; and (iii)
filled prescriptions written for large amounts of highly diverted

drugs, including “high amounts of Oxycodone [prescriptions] for a
number of Physicians [sic] Assistants and Nurse practitioners.”
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762. In 2016, Rochester Drug’s management directed an override of the SOP instituted
only the year before by allowing new customers to purchase prescription opioids and other
controlled substances before Rochester Drug’s compliance team reviewed those customers’
dispensing reports, as called for by the SOP. At the time, the company’s then-CEO justified the
change by stating, “I do not want to slow this down” in referring to the customer onboarding
process.

763. Rochester Drug not only failed to train its sales employees on how to effectively
screen new accounts, it actually incentivized those employees to sign up new customers (regardless
of the diversion risk they posed) by offering bonuses of up to $1,000 for each new account they
opened.

764. Despite setting its customers’ monthly thresholds at unreasonably high levels,
customers still frequently exceeded them. By 2016, for example, Rochester Drug had allowed some
customers to double their orders for oxycodone and Subsys fentanyl within a year.

765. Rochester Drug did not conduct due diligence before filling these increasing orders.
For example:

e InFebruary 2015, Rochester Drug noted that it had released an order
for OxyContin to a Hudson Valley pharmacy without first reviewing
the pharmacy’s dispensing data. At the time, a compliance
employee noted that the order had been released “in good faith”
based on the promise that the pharmacy would provide updated
dispensing data that evening, which it did not. In fact, the pharmacy
had not provided any dispensing data to the company since 2012,
and it was further noted that the pharmacy was “loaded” with “Oxy
scripts” from an out-of-area doctor that Rochester Drug’s
compliance team was concerned about (the prescriber was, years
later, indicted on charges related to his opioid prescribing practices).

e In May 2015, Rochester Drug released an order of the dangerous
opioid Subsys fentanyl to a Queens pharmacy even though the

pharmacy’s orders for that drug for the current month were double
the pharmacy’s average over the previous twelve months. Just prior
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to that order of interest, a compliance employee had even raised the
pharmacy’s threshold. Rochester Drug released the Subsys order
within hours of it being made without updated dispensing data and
despite the fact that the order placed the pharmacy over the recently-
raised threshold for that drug.

e In July 2015, when a Bronx pharmacy’s order of oxycodone hit its
purchase threshold, Rochester Drug released the order despite
acknowledging that in the past the customer had promised to submit
dispensing data and had not, and based its approval of the order on
a summary report which did not allow the company to view
prescriber information or information indicating method of
payment—Xkey indicators of potential diversion.

766. On several occasions, Rochester Drug even took measures to raise customers’
thresholds for opioids without first consulting current dispensing data or documenting justifications
for the change. Even when Rochester Drug did block a customer’s order that hit a threshold, it
routinely took no steps to suspend or terminate those customers pending further investigation, and
instead allowed the customer to continue receiving its threshold amount of opioids month after
month thereafter.

767. In the four years between 2012 and 2016, Rochester Drug consistently
underreported suspicious orders to the DEA, reporting at most just four orders during that time
period. Rochester Drug also failed to report suspicious orders to New York as required by the
NYCSA during this same time period. Indeed, a Rochester Drug compliance manager who has
been with the company since 2013 stated that she could not recall any reporting to New York State
prior to some period in 2016 or 2017 and that she did not think that Rochester Drug had ‘“an
understanding or knowledge” of the New York reporting requirement until recently.

768. Even in instances where the company’s minimal compliance efforts identified

customers whose opioid dispensing demonstrated red flags Rochester Drug knew were indicative

of diversion, the company failed to report those customers’ orders to the DEA or the State as
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suspicious, let alone terminate, suspend those customers, or refuse to ship opioids to those

customers. For example:

769.

In 2013, Rochester discovered that two Manhattan pharmacy
customers were filling a high percentage of cash prescriptions for
high dosage oxycodone and other opioids written by a pediatric
physician who news reports described as operating an alleged “pill
mill.” Rochester Drug’s compliance consultant even noted at the
time that the average quantities of opioids dispensed by the
pharmacies was “like a stick of dynamite waiting for DEA to light
the fuse.” Rochester Drug did not file suspicious order reports
regarding these pharmacies’ orders at the time, and it continued to
ship prescription opioids to the pharmacies.

In June 2014, Rochester Drug’s permissive due diligence system
allowed a Hudson Valley customer to order oxycodone five times
over its already inflated threshold for that drug despite the fact that
a year before the company had become aware of red flags associated
with the customer, including that it was filling prescriptions for out-
of-area patients up to 150 miles away. Rochester Drug continued to
ship to the customer; and even released orders of interest initially
held when the customer hit its threshold without first reviewing or
obtaining any dispensing or other information to justify those orders.

In November 2015, Rochester Drug compliance employees noted
that a Manhattan pharmacy had demonstrated a “disturbing” pattern
of dispensing oxycodone, including a “staggering” increase in the
prior month’s order, in which the customer ordered 28,600 units of
oxycodone, which nearly doubled the previous six months’ ordering
average of 15,380 units. The compliance employee also identified
high percentages of cash purchases and prescriptions filled by
“multiple prescribers using inactive/not found” or otherwise
inaccurate DEA registration numbers, out-of-state prescribers and
doctors Rochester discovered had been “restricted from practicing
medicine in NY State”, and multiple doctors on a Rochester Drug-
identified “Watch list.” Despite these red flags of diversion,
Rochester Drug continued to ship prescription opioids to this
customer for more than two years without reporting any of the orders
it flagged as suspicious to federal and State authorities.

As another example, Rochester Drug continued to ship massive amounts of

prescription opioids, including the highly addictive fentanyl drug Subsys, to a mail order pharmacy

in Nassau County, despite numerous red flags and indicia of diversion. Indeed, in 2013, Rochester
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Drug shipped approximately 70,000 grams of opioids to this pharmacy, which represented a more

than 400% increase in opioids shipped to the pharmacy when compared to Rochester Drug’s

shipments for the prior year. In addition:

In 2013, because of the increased shipments to the pharmacy,
Rochester Drug engaged an outside consultant to review the
pharmacy’s due diligence efforts. Following a review, the consultant
recommended that Rochester Drug ensure that the pharmacy
provide it with regular dispensing reports, among other
recommendations—and in March of 2013, in response to a report
from the consultant, the pharmacy certified in writing that it would
provide Rochester Drug with “quarterly dispensing reports.” But
Rochester Drug failed to hold the pharmacy to that promise,
depriving its front-line compliance employees of critical due
diligence information. At one point a compliance employee even
commented that it appeared ‘“very very suspicious” that the
pharmacy had delayed producing updated dispensing information
by demanding to review the data prior to its submission. In another
instance, despite its history with this pharmacy, Rochester Drug did
not notice that it lacked dispensing data from the pharmacy for the
entire year of 2016 until late-October 2016.

Rochester Drug identified other red flags at this pharmacy, including
multiple high-risk prescribers, but continued to ship it opioids. For
instance, in 2014, the pharmacy provided Rochester Drug with
dispensing data showing that it had filled cash prescriptions for
doctors Rochester Drug knew were on a “watch list” due to their
prescribing practices.

On other occasions, instead of fulfilling its compliance obligations,
Rochester Drug went out of its way to accommodate the pharmacy’s
large orders and ignore red flags. In 2014, for example, a Rochester
Drug brand relationship manager emailed one of the pharmacy’s
executives to warn the pharmacy to “slow down” on its orders of
Fentora, a fentanyl product, “or give a valid reason that we can
share” with the product’s manufacturer, noting that Rochester Drug
had “already sold [it] more than a normal month usage to all
customers” for that month and that its ordering was “going to cause
red flags.”

The amount of opioids shipped to this pharmacy was within the 99th
percentile in the State during the time it was a Rochester Drug

customer (2012-2017).
I bu( Rochester Drug did ot
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770.  And in the few cases where Rochester Drug decided to stop shipping or otherwise

limit its sales of controlled substances to customers following a due diligence investigation, it failed

to report the orders of controlled substances that it had already—and very recently—shipped to

those customers, despite the suspicions acknowledged internally about those customers’ ordering

patterns.

e For example, in 2013, Rochester Drug discovered that a number
of Bronx pharmacies sharing common ownership were filling cash
prescriptions and large amounts of prescriptions for oxycodone,
including for a prescriber who did not have an active DEA registration.
Indeed, a company sales employee even described how Rochester
Drug’s compliance consultant admitted that, in referring to his site visit
to one of the pharmacies, had his visit been a “real DEA audit” the
agency would have “gone after their DEA license.” Although Rochester
Drug limited the customer’s ability to purchase oxycodone, it did not
report the suspicious orders—which it had already shipped to the
pharmacy—to the DEA or State authorities. In fact, Rochester Drug
never submitted a suspicious order report regarding this customer to the
DEA or State authorities.
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e In addition, in November 2015, Rochester Drug cut off two
related New York, NY pharmacies due to concerns that the pharmacies
were filling high percentages of cash prescriptions for controlled
substances from doctors not in the “correct field of Pain Management”
and for numerous doctors on a Rochester Drug “watch list.” Although
the two pharmacies had been on Rochester Drug’s radar for months
leading up to the termination—and the company had warned the
customer about specific red flags regarding its dispensing in the spring
of 2015—Rochester Drug never reported any of the pharmacies’ orders
as suspicious prior to or in conjunction with the termination.

IV. Defendants’ Misconduct Has Injured Plaintiff
A. The Statutory Duties Owed to Plaintiff by Drug Manufacturers and Distributors

771.  While any individual or corporation doing business in New York has a duty not to
injure the State or its residents through fraud, willful misconduct, gross negligence, deceptive
business practices, or false advertising, the Defendants here also took on special, additional duties
when they elected to participate in the State’s highly-regulated system for allowing the limited use
of controlled substances for medically-necessary purposes.

772. Indeed, New York’s most essential means of defense against the misuse of these
drugs, and particularly opioids, are the identical regimes of compliance duties imposed on
pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors by the NYCSA. These duties consist of both a series
of affirmative obligations and one critical prohibition.

773. In terms of affirmative obligations, the NYSCA requires any pharmaceutical
manufacturer or distributor selling controlled substances in New York to:

(a) At the time of obtaining its initial license:

(1)  Provide evidence that it is “able to maintain effective control

against diversion of...controlled substances”;'!!

MINLY. PHL § 3312(1)(c).
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Provide evidence that it is “able to comply with all applicable

state...laws™;''? and

State, under penalty of perjury, whether or not it, or any of its
employees, subsidiaries, managing officers, or directors
“failed to comply with the...laws of any State relating to
controlled substances,” and if so, to submit a statement and
explanatory documentation;''

(b) At the time of renewing its license:

(@)

(ii)

Report “any material change in the circumstances or factors”
relevant to its initial license application;''* and

Report all known governmental investigations of incidents
involving the theft, loss, or possible diversion of controlled
substances it distributed, or into its compliance with...state
controlled-substances laws;!'?

(c) At all times:

(@)

(i)

(111)

“[R]eport...any change in facts or circumstances...or any
newly discovered or occurring fact or circumstance which is
required to be included” in its applications for an initial and/or
renewal license; '

“[N]otify the [state] of any incident involving the theft, loss
or possible diversion of controlled substances...distributed

by the licensee”;'!”

“[E]stablish and operate a system to disclose to the license[e]
suspicious orders for controlled substances and inform the
[New York State Department of Health] of such suspicious
orders. Suspicious orders shall include, but not be limited to,
orders of unusual size, orders deviating substantially from a
normal pattern, and orders of unusual frequency.”!!®

12Ny, PHL § 3312(1)(d).
113 License Application to Engage in a Controlled Substance Activity, N.Y. Department of Health Form 4330.
14 NLY. PHL § 3315(2)(a).
15 N.Y. PHL § 3315(2)(b).
U6 NLY. PHL §§ 3312(3), 3315(3).

7 N.Y. PHL § 3322(3).
118 10 NYCRR § 80.22.
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774. These affirmative obligations are complemented by one critical prohibition,
contained within the very first operative subsection of the NYCSA: “It shall be unlawful for any
person to...manufacture, sell, distribute...or transport a controlled substance except as expressly
allowed by this article.”!®

775. In order to deter and remedy violations of these duties, and ensure that
manufacturers and distributors fulfill their crucial role in preventing the improper use of controlled

substances, New York law requires that any distributor who “violates, disobeys, or disregards” any

provision of the NYSCA be assessed a separate and substantial civil penalty “for every such

violation.””'??

776.  That penalty is set at an minimum amount of $2,000 per violation,'?! but can be
increased to $5,000 for any subsequent violation within twelve months of the first where both

99122

violations “were a serious threat to the health and safety of an individual or individuals,”"~* and to

$10,000 for each violation that “directly results in serious physical harm to any patient or
patients.”!??

777. Companies subject to the NYCSA are expected to develop and enforce specific
written policies to ensure compliance, which are sometimes referred to as controlled substance
monitoring programs (“CSMPs”) or order monitoring programs (“OMPs”). These policies are

supposed to explain for compliance staff how the company determines what a suspicious order is

and how suspicious order reports (“SORs”) to the State and other regulators are to be made.

19 NY. PHL § 3304(1).
120N.Y. PHL § 3396(2) (emphasis added).
121 N'Y. PHL § 12(1)(a).
122Ny, PHL § 12(1)(b).
123 NY. PHL § 12(1)(c).
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778. The NYCSA, as noted above, includes a non-exclusive list of factors to be
considered in monitoring potentially-suspicious orders. But companies subject to the NYCSA,
including all of the Defendants here, typically have (or should have) a wealth of additional data to
rely on, including their customers’ relative reliance on cash payments, prior business with suspect
prescribers, and the number and frequency of times that their customers have exceeded periodic
limits (usually 30-day limits called “thresholds”) for ordering controlled substances, or made
requests for increases in those thresholds (“threshold change requests™).

B. General Categories of Injury

779. As a result of the foregoing patterns of misconduct, and regardless of variations
between the Manufacturer and Distributor Defendants as groups, and individual variations within
those groups, the Defendants caused identical categories of injuries to Plaintiff.

780.  First, the Defendants all contributed significantly to the presently-existing public
nuisance posed by the massive and continuing overprescription and oversupply of opioid drugs to
the New York pharmaceutical market. The Distributor Defendants effectively acted as gasoline
poured on the opioid misuse epidemic in New York that was initially sparked by the fraudulent
practices of the Manufacturer Defendants; expanding, accelerating, and perpetuating the flow of
opioid drugs into the State. As a result, the Defendants are all jointly and severally responsible for
abating the continuing injury caused by the present distortion of the New York pharmaceutical
market by the overprescription and oversupply of opioids.

781. Second, the Defendants have all injured Plaintiff by repeatedly violating the
NYCSA and the General Business Law. These are per se injuries that do not require quantification,
and are instead subject to the mandatory penalties provided by the NYCSA and the New York

General Business Law (“GBL”) for each such violation.
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782. Third, the Defendants have all caused quantifiable past economic injuries to
Plaintiff by: (i) causing the State to pay false claims for payments related to inappropriately
prescribed opioid products; (ii) depriving the State of the productivity and/or service of its
employees who were inappropriately prescribed opioids and who became addicted and/or died as a
result; and (ii1) requiring the State to expend additional resources to address the public health and
safety dangers created by the epidemic of opioid overprescription.

783.  Fourth, Defendants have all caused injury not readily capable of quantification to
the State and its residents, which can only be addressed through equitable remedies such as
disgorgement and restitution.

C. Facts Particular to False Claims

1. The Defendants’ False and Misleading Marketing and Improper
Distribution of Opioids Caused Increased Expenditures by New York State
Health Care Programs

784.  The State, which continues to experience an epidemic of opioid addiction, has been
damaged in many ways, including through: (a) a sharp rise since 2008 in false claims for opioid
prescriptions to its Medicaid program, its employee and retiree health plans, and its Workers’
Compensation Program; and (b) additional claims for medications and services to treat the physical
and behavioral health conditions that accompany opioid use disorder, including inpatient and
outpatient treatment for substance use disorder (including medication-assisted treatment), opioid
overdose, neonatal abstinence syndrome, hepatitis ¢, and other conditions.

a) The New York Medicaid Program

785.  The State provides comprehensive health care benefits, including prescription drug
coverage, to low- and moderate-income residents through the New York Medicaid Program
(“Medicaid”). Medicaid is a joint state and federal program administered by the New York State
Department of Health (“DOH”), and approximately 6.5 million New York residents were enrolled
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in Medicaid as of July 2018. The majority received services through health plans provided by a
Medicaid Managed Care Organization (“MCQO”), under contract with the State. Currently, nineteen
different insurance companies run MCOs in New York. To administer drug benefits to enrollees,
all of the largest MCOs contract with a pharmacy benefit manager (“PBM”).

786.  Through regulations, provider manuals and policy manuals, and periodic Medicaid
Updates, DOH sets the rules and regulations for reimbursement requests that are applicable to all
Medicaid providers statewide. In particular, New York law establishes certain “unacceptable
practice[s]” that “constitute[] fraud or abuse” against Medicaid; this expressly includes “submitting
or causing to be submitted, a claim or claims for... medical care, services or supplies provided at a

frequency or in an amount not medically necessary....” I8 NYCRR § 515.2(b)(1)(i)(c).

b) New York State Employee and Retiree Health Plans

787.  The Department of Civil Service (“DCS”’) administers the New York State Health
Insurance Program (“NYSHIP”’), which was established in 1957 and has provided health insurance
coverage to active and retired State, participating public authority, local government, and school
district employees, retirees, and their eligible dependents. NYSHIP provides health insurance
benefits to approximately 1.1 million individuals and is one of the largest public employer health
insurance programs in the nation. NYSHIP offers coverage through its own preferred provider
organization health plan, called The Empire Plan (“the Plan), and through HMOs located around
New York State, the Excelsior Plan and the Student Employee Health Plan (“SEHP”’), which is a
health insurance plan for graduate student employees of the State University system and certain
CUNY graduate students. DCS has contracted with a number of vendors to administer the

prescription drug benefit portion of the Plan, the Empire Plan Prescription Drug Program, and based
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on these contracts DCS reimburses the vendor for claims paid by either the vendor or its
subcontractor.

788.  The Empire Plan explicitly disclaims coverage for non-medically necessary drugs.
See Empire Plan Certificate PA/2014, at 114 (“charges for the following items are not covered
expenses: ... V. Any non-medically necessary drugs™). Thus, DCS’s 2014 contract with the PBM
for the Empire Plan defined a “medically necessary drug” as any drug which is: (i) provided for the
diagnosis or treatment of a medical condition; (ii) appropriate for the symptoms, diagnosis, or
treatment of a medical condition; (iii) within the standards of generally accepted health care
practice; and (iv) not used for cosmetic purposes.” Contract § 1.56.0.

¢) The New York Workers’ Compensation Program

789. The New York State Insurance Fund (“NYSIF”) serves two roles for the State of
New York. NYSIF was created in 1914 pursuant to New York Workers” Compensation Law
Section 76 as a self-sustaining fund for the purpose of insuring employers against liability for
personal injuries or death sustained by their employees. NYSIF also administers claims of
employees of the State of New York with respect to injuries or deaths from accidents arising out of
and in the course of employment in accordance with New York Workers’ Compensation Law
Section 88-c. NYSIF contracts with a PBM to distribute and accept payment for prescribed

medication, including opioids. NYSIF covers only medically necessary treatment.'**

124 See  Medical Treatment  Guidelines, New York State Workers’ Compensation Board,
http://www.wcb.ny.gov/content/main/hcpp/Medical TreatmentGuidelines/MTGOverview.jsp (last visited Mar. 25,
2019).
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2. Defendants Caused False Claims to be Submitted to State-Funded Health
Plans

790. The State’s requirement that medical treatments be medically necessary—a
condition of coverage for any medical treatment under the State’s health plans and Workers’
Compensation Program—mnecessarily includes the requirement that each prescription or procedure
for which reimbursement is sought be the result of untainted and independent medical judgment
that adequately assesses the risks and benefits of that product or procedure for the particular patient.
But because each Manufacturer Defendant’s marketing practices flooded the State with fraudulent
and deceptive information, including misrepresentations regarding whether patients were likely to
become addicted to opioids, would be able to resume life activities, and would experience long-
term relief, prescribers of opioids were rendered unable to accurately assess the risks and benefits
of opioids. Because the Manufacturer Defendants’ misrepresentations rendered prescribers unable
to assess the risks and benefits of opioids, they necessarily rendered false those prescribers’
certifications that opioid prescriptions were medically necessary. Moreover, the use of opioids in
those circumstances was not supported by substantial scientific evidence about the benefits and was
outweighed by potential harms including the risk of addiction. In addition, New York does not
allow claims for drug supplies distributed by unlicensed companies, and classifies controlled
substances distributed in violation of the NYCSA as illegal contraband, and a public nuisance.

a) The Manufacturer Defendants Caused False Claims by Making it

Impossible for Prescribers to Accurately Assess the Risks and
Benefits of Opioids

791. The Manufacturer Defendants engaged in a marketing campaign designed to
encourage prescribers to use opioids as the first line of treatment for chronic pain while inundating
them with false information that rendered those prescribers unable to adequately assess the risks

and benefits of prescribing opioids. In doing so, each Manufacturer Defendant caused prescribers
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or health care providers (“HCPs”) and pharmacies to submit, and the State to cover claims for New
York Medicaid, New York employee and retiree health plans, and New York’s Workers’
Compensation Program that were false by:

a. Causing prescribers to write prescriptions for opioid therapy based on each
Manufacturer Defendant’s deceptive, false, and incomplete representations
regarding the risks, benefits, and superiority of those drugs; and

b. Causing HCPs to certify that these prescriptions and associated services were
medically necessary, when, in fact, the prescriptions were not supported by
substantial scientific evidence because prescribing physicians were unable to
adequately assess whether the risks associated with the drugs were outweighed
by the benefits.

792. A substantial number of medically unnecessary claims for opioid prescriptions paid
under State health programs were induced and caused by Defendants’ violations of laws, including
misleading marketing and violations of their obligations under State laws governing the distribution
of controlled substances. In particular, many claims for opioid prescriptions for non-cancer and
non-palliative care were not medically necessary because they were not based on an adequate
evaluation of the risks and benefits of the prescription.

793.  The State would not knowingly have allowed the Medicaid program to reimburse
claims for prescription drugs that were not eligible for coverage. A New York regulation, 18
N.Y.C.R.R. 515.2(b)(1)(1)(c), “Unacceptable Practices under the Medical Assistance Program”,
states in pertinent part that “[a]n unacceptable practice is conduct which constitutes fraud or abuse
and includes...False claims [defined to include] causing to be submitted...claims for medical care,
services or supplies provided at a frequency or in an amount not medically necessary.” Whether a
service is “medically necessary” is the primary check against loss to the public fisc and primary

check to ensure the health and safety of Medicaid recipients. An “unacceptable practice” by any

person is grounds for both sanctions (exclusion, censure, or conditional participation) and
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“repayment of overpayment determined to have been made as the result of an unacceptable
practice.” 18 NYCRR 515.3(a) and (b). New York Medicaid unwittingly reimbursed claims for
opioid prescriptions that were not medically necessary, including the following claims for
excessive, long-term dosages of opioids prescribed for non-cancer patients by practitioners who,
because of their repeated and direct exposure to the Manufacturing Defendants’ misleading
marketing, were incapable of adequately assessing the risks and benefits of these prescriptions:

a) Purdue. As described above, Purdue repeatedly and persistently made false and
misleading statements downplaying the risks and overstating the benefits of
opioids, including OxyContin, through unbranded and branded marketing that was
targeted at and did reach New York HCPs. Purdue’s detailing of, and payments to,
specific New York HCPs caused those HCPs to write medically unnecessary
prescriptions for OxyContin—by starting new patients on the drug, keeping
patients on the drug, and prescribing the drug at higher dosages. For example:

1. New York Medicaid Patient A, who was diagnosed with a herniated disc,
chronic fatigue syndrome and a rotator cuff sprain, received 98
prescriptions for OxyContin—totaling a 2,932-day supply—between
September 2008 and April 2013, at a cost of $90,785 in claims paid under

the State’s Medicaid program. These prescriptions, which called for at least
570 MMEs per day of OxyContin during this five-year period, were written
by Dr. William Gibbs, who was detailed by |

Dr. Gibbs’s New York State medical license was suspended
in April 2013 due to his federal conviction for health care fraud.

ii.  New York Medicaid Patient B, who was diagnosed with a herniated disc,
chronic fatigue syndrome, and shoulder tendinitis, received 96 prescriptions
for OxyContin—totaling a 2,880-day supply—between July 2009 and April
2013, at a cost of $67,749 in claims paid under the State’s Medicaid
program. These prescriptions, which called for at least 540 MMEs per day
of OxyContin during the majority of this five-year period, were written by
Dr. William Gibbs.

iii.  New York Medicaid Patient C, who was diagnosed with chronic fatigue
syndrome and osteoarthrosis, received 21 prescriptions for OxyContin—
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totaling a 630-day supply—between July 2011 and March 2013, at a cost of
$38,068 in claims paid by the State’s Medicaid program. These
prescriptions, which called for at least 480 MMEs per day of OxyContin
during the entire period, and at least 720 MMEs per day of OxyContin for
eight months during that period, were written by Dr. William Gibbs.

b) Janssen. As described above, Janssen repeatedly and persistently made false and
misleading statements downplaying the risks and overstating the benefits of
opioids, including Nucynta, through unbranded and branded marketing that was
targeted at and did reach New York HCPs. Janssen’s detailing of, and payments
to, specific New York HCPs caused those HCPs to write medically unnecessary
prescriptions for Nucynta—by starting new patients on the drug, keeping patients
on the drug, and prescribing the drug at higher dosages. For example:

i. New York Medicaid Patient D, who was diagnosed with a degenerated disc
and lumbago (lower back pain), received 58 prescriptions for Nucynta—
totaling a 1,598-day supply—between November 2011 and February 2014,
at a cost of $18,054 in claims paid under the State’s Medicaid program.
These prescriptions, which called for at least 240 MMEs per day of Nucynta
during the vast majority of the period, were written by Practitioner A, who

was detailed by Janssen G

i1. New York Medicaid Patient E, who was diagnosed with a degenerated disc,
received 35 prescriptions for Nucynta—totaling a 777-day supply—
between November 2011 and June 2014, at a cost of $22,897 in claims paid
under the State’s Medicaid program. These prescriptions, which called for
at least 320 MMEs per day of Nucynta during the vast majority of the
period, were written by Practitioner A.

1ii. New York Medicaid Patient F, who was diagnosed with radiculitis,
unspecified, received 35 prescriptions for Nucynta—totaling a 1,040-day
supply—between November 2011 and September 2013, at a cost of $13,101
in claims paid under the State’s Medicaid program. These prescriptions,
which called for at least 240 MMEs per day of Nucynta during the vast
majority of the period, were written by Practitioner A.

c) Allergan. As described above, Allergan repeatedly and persistently made false and

misleading statements downplaying the risks and overstating the benefits of
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opioids, including Kadian, through unbranded and branded marketing that was

targeted at and did reach New York HCPs. Allergan’s detailing of, and payments

to, specific New York HCPs caused those HCPs to write medically unnecessary

prescriptions for Kadian—by starting new patients on the drug, keeping patients on

the drug, and prescribing the drug at higher dosages. For example:

1.  New York Medicaid Patient G, who was diagnosed with displacement of
lumbar intervertebral disc without myelopathy, received 14 prescriptions
for Kadian—totaling a 420-day supply—between January 2011 and
November 2011, at a cost of $21,431 in claims that were paid under the
State’s Medicaid program. These prescriptions, which called for at least
300 MMEs per day of Kadian during this entire period, and more than 400
MME:s per day for the majority of the period, were written by Practitioner

B, who was detailed by Allergan | R

ii. New York Medicaid Patient H, who was diagnosed with thoracic or
lumbosacral neuritis or radiculitis, unspecified, received 66 prescriptions
for Kadian—totaling a 1925-day supply—between February 2008 and
October 2014, at a cost of $228,198 in claims that were paid under the
State’s Medicaid program. These prescriptions, which called for at least
400 MMEs per day of Kadian during this entire period, and at least 600
MME per day during the majority of the period, were written by Practitioner

C, whom Allergan detailed | -

d) Mallinckrodt. As described above, Mallinckrodt repeatedly and persistently made

false and misleading statements downplaying the risks and overstating the benefits

of opioids, including Exalgo, through unbranded and branded marketing that was

targeted at and did reach New York HCPs. Mallinckrodt’s detailing of, and

payments to, specific New York HCPs caused those HCPs to write medically

unnecessary prescriptions for Exalgo—by starting new patients on the drug,

keeping patients on the drug, and prescribing the drug at higher dosages. For

example:

1.  New York Medicaid Patient I, who was diagnosed with thoracic or
lumbosacral neuritis or radiculitis, unspecified, received 22 prescriptions
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for Exalgo—totaling a 660-day supply—between January 2011 and March
2014, at a cost of $40,155 in claims that were paid under the State’s
Medicaid program. These prescriptions, which called for at least 190
MMEs per day of Exalgo during the vast majority of this period, were

written by Practitioner D, who was detailed by ||
I V21linckrodt paid Practitioner D— |
@ |
I s Dot of its speakers’ bureau. In 2013,

Mallinckrodt’s |
-
—

ii.  New York Medicaid Patient J, who was diagnosed with postlaminectomy
syndrome, lumbar region, received 19 prescriptions for Exalgo—totaling a
540-day supply—between July 2011 and May 2013, at a cost of $30,550 in
claims that were paid under the State’s Medicaid program. These
prescriptions, which called for at least 190 MMEs per day of Exalgo during
the majority of the period, were written by Practitioner D.

iii.  New York Medicaid Patient K, who was diagnosed with thoracic or
lumbosacral neuritis or radiculitis, unspecified and lumbago, received 20
prescriptions for Exalgo—totaling a 585-day supply—between May 2010
(several weeks after the first detailing visit to this HCP) and August 2013,
at a cost of $38,266 in claims paid under the State’s Medicaid program.
These prescriptions, which called for at least 190 MMEs per day of Exalgo
during the vast majority of this period, were written by Practitioner D.

e) Endo. As described above, Endo repeatedly and persistently made false and
misleading statements downplaying the risks and overstating the benefits of
opioids, including Opana, through unbranded and branded marketing that was
targeted at and did reach New York HCPs. Endo’s detailing of, and payments to,
specific New York HCPs caused those HCPs to write medically unnecessary
prescriptions for Opana—>by starting new patients on the drug, keeping patients on
the drug, and prescribing the drug at higher dosages. For example:

1.  New York Medicaid Patient L, who was diagnosed with thoracic or
lumbosacral neuritis or radiculitis, unspecified, received 24 prescriptions
for Opana—totaling a 714-day supply—between October 2009 and

September 2011, at a cost of $21,473 in claims paid under the State’s
Medicaid program. These prescriptions, which called for at least 240
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MMEs per day of Opana during the vast majority of the period, and more
than 360 MMEs per day during the majority of the period, were written by

Practitioner E, who was detailed by Endo ||
I

ii. New York Medicaid Patient M, who was diagnosed with lumbago, and
postlaminectomy syndrome, lumbar region, and thoracic or lumbosacral
neuritis or radiculitis, unspecified, received 38 prescriptions for Opana—
totaling a 1,119-day supply—between November 2009 and December
2012, at a cost of $37,912 in claims paid under the State’s Medicaid
program. These prescriptions, which called for at least 240 MMEs per day
of Opana during the vast majority of the period, and at least 360 MMEs per
day during the majority of the period, were written by Practitioner E.

iii.  New York Medicaid Patient N was diagnosed with thoracic or lumbosacral
neuritis or radiculitis, unspecified, and received 24 prescriptions for
Opana—totaling a 618-day supply—between February 2011 and May
2012, at a cost of $24,140 in claims paid under the State’s Medicaid
program. These prescriptions, which called for at least 240 MME:s per day
of Opana during the entire period, and at least 360 MMEs per day during
the vast majority of the period, were written by Practitioner E.

f) Teva. As described above, Teva repeatedly and persistently made false and
misleading statements downplaying the risks and overstating the benefits of
opioids, including Fentora, through unbranded and branded marketing that was
targeted at and did reach New York HCPs. Teva’s detailing of, and payments to,
specific New York HCPs caused those HCPs to write medically unnecessary
prescriptions for Teva—by starting new patients on the drug, keeping patients on
the drug, and prescribing the drug at higher dosages. For example:

1. New York Medicaid Patient O was diagnosed with generalized anxiety
disorder and abdominal pain, and received 70 prescriptions for Fentora—
totaling a 1,759-day supply—between October 2008 and March 2018, at a
cost of $1,991,837 in claims paid under the State’s Medicaid program.
These prescriptions, which called for at least 400 MMEs per day of Fentora
for the vast majority of the period, were written by Dr. Gordon Freedman,
a Manhattan pain management physician whom Teva detailed extensively,
at least as early as 2006, and paid thousands of dollars for Fentora speaker

programs, including after 2012. In March 2018, the U.S. Attorney for the
Southern District of New York charged Dr. Freedman with violations of the
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federal anti-kickback statute, participation in an anti-kickback conspiracy,
and honest services fraud, in connection with his involvement with Insys,
the maker of a sublingual fentanyl spray.

ii.  New York Medicaid Patient P was diagnosed with an ulcerated lower limb
and received 16 prescriptions for Fentora—totaling a 244-day supply—
between July 2010 and November 2010, at a cost of $82,343 in claims paid
under the State’s Medicaid program. These prescriptions, which called for

least 1250 MMEs per day of Fentora for the entire period, were written by
Dr. Gordon Freedman.

b) All of the Defendants Induced False Claims Based on Illegally-
Sourced Opioid Drugs

794. In each of the above specific cases, the prescribed opioid medication was provided
by one of the Manufacturer Defendants, who sold the drugs in question to one of the Defendant
Distributors, who then, in turn, sold the drugs in question to the licensed dispensaries that ultimately
provided the drugs to the relevant patients. But as shown in Part V.D, below, at the time of those
claims, all of the Defendants had made false statements to the State as to their prior and ongoing
compliance with the NYCSA.

795. These false statements to the State regarding the Defendants’ eligibility for licenses
to conduct Controlled-Substance Activity in New York rendered false each relevant HCP’s express
and/or or implied certification that the supplies being paid for were supplied in compliance with
applicable State law.

796. In addition, or alternatively, these false statements rendered each relevant HCP’s
claims factually false, because drugs actually supplied to each patient through each specific chain
of relevant Manufacturer Defendant and Distributor Defendant were illegal contraband (and a
statutorily-defined public nuisance) pursuant to Public Health Law § 3387, and thus not the

“genuine article” represented as the item for which reimbursement was sought.
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¢) The Defendants’ Misrepresentations Foreseeably Caused the
State’s Decision to Cover False Claims for Opioid Drug
Prescriptions

797.  Each Manufacturer Defendant’s marketing scheme was designed to achieve the
basic goal of inducing as many prescriptions as possible for its opioid products, spending millions
of dollars to carry out that scheme. A foreseeable—and largely inevitable—consequence of that
scheme was that the State would ultimately pay for opioids prescribed by HCPs who were not able
to properly assess the significant risks and limited benefits of opioids.

798. Each Manufacturer Defendant’s misrepresentations caused HCPs to submit claims
that contained false express or implied certifications that the treatments provided were medically
necessary. In addition and/or in the alternative, each Manufacturer Defendant’s misrepresentations
constituted false statements that were material to evaluation of the HCP’s claims.

799.  Under either alternative, the false claims or false statements relating to those claims
were material, because they had a natural tendency to affect the State’s evaluation of whether its
core requirement that medical treatments be medically necessary—a condition of coverage for any
medical treatment under the State’s health plans and Workers” Compensation Program—had been
met as to each claim.

800. In addition and/or in the alternative, each Defendant’s false statements on their
Applications to Engage in Controlled-Substance Activity caused HCPs to falsely claim supplies
were provided in compliance with the CSA, and/or related to the evaluation of the HCP’s claims in
a material fashion. Again, these false claims and/or false statements were material because they
had a natural tendency to affect the State’s decision whether to: (a) not license each such Defendant
to engage in controlled-substance activity in New York, precluding payments for their opioid drugs;
and/or (b) decline to pay specific claims that were medically unnecessary on the separate grounds

that the drug supplies themselves were illegally provided.
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801. The State not only paid these medically-unnecessary claims for illegally-sourced
opioids but also subsequently bore the consequential costs in treating overdose, addiction, and other
side effects of opioid use.

D. Facts Specific to Defendants’ Illegally-Obtained Licenses to Engage in Controlled-
Substance Activity in New York State

802. Each Defendant except Janssen has submitted Applications to Engage in Controlled
Substance Activity to the New York State Department of Health in order to acquire and/or renew
their licenses to do such business in the State.

803.  Since 2006, these applications have required all applicants to swear, under penalty
of perjury: (i) that they were ‘“knowledgeable concerning...and shall comply with [the]
requirements” of the NYCSA; and (i) that they would “promptly report to the Department of Health
each incident or alleged incident or...possible diversion of...controlled substances.”

804. Since 2016, these applications have also required all applicants to truthfully
disclose, under penalty of perjury, whether any of their “employees, subsidiaries, managing
officers, or directors” had “failed to comply with the provisions” of the NYCSA in the past.

805.  Each such Defendant procured their initial license and/or a renewal of their license
by swearing falsely in response to one or more of these requirements.

806. Specifically, each such Defendant falsely swore averment of the two
acknowledgements required since 2006, when it knew that it: (i) did not comprehend the
requirements of the NYCSA, had not complied with them in the past and would not comply with
them in the future, and/or willfully blinded themselves to and/or recklessly disregarded those facts;
and (ii) had not made and would not make the required reports of “alleged incidence of possible

diversion,” and/or willfully blinded themselves to and/or recklessly disregarded that fact.
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807. Moreover, Actavis, Cardinal, Endo, Mallinckrodt, McKesson, Purdue, Rochester
and Teva have each submitted false responses to the disclosure requirement instituted in 2016, in
that each of them falsely swore that neither they nor any of their “employees, subsidiaries, managing
officers, or directors” had “failed to comply with the provisions” of the NYCSA in the past, when
they knew that they had in fact so failed, and/or willfully blinded themselves to and/or recklessly
disregarded that fact.

808. As a result of the foregoing false averments, statements, and/or omissions on its
Applications to Engage in Controlled-Substance Activity, each license that each such Defendant
procured allowing it to deal in controlled substances in the State was void ab initio.

809. As such, each separate instance in which such a Defendant manufactured, sold,
possessed, transported and/or distributed controlled substances in New York during any period of
non-licensure constituted a separate violation of Public Health Law §§ 3300 ef seg. punishable by
a separate civil penalty pursuant to Public Health Law § 12.

V. Any Statute of Limitations is Tolled

810. Any applicable statute of limitations is tolled because: (a) each Defendant is
engaged in a continuing violation; and (b) each Defendant fraudulently concealed its misconduct.

A. Each Defendant is Engaged in a Continuing Violation

811. As detailed above, each Defendant’s misconduct has continued to the present,
through its continued failures to:
e Make public corrections to its various false and misleading
statements in connection with its marketing of opioids and its
Applications to Engage in Controlled Substance Activity;

e Maintain effective controls to prevent the diversion of opioids;

e Identify, block, and report suspicious orders to the New York State
Department of Health;
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e Report changes in its ability to: (i) maintain effective controls to
prevent the diversion of opioids; and/or (ii) identify, block, and
report suspicious orders to the New York State Department of
Health;

e Refrain from engaging in an ongoing public nuisance; and/or

e Refrain from engaging in a persistent and ongoing fraud or
illegality.

B. Fraudulent Concealment

812. Each Manufacturer Defendant fraudulently concealed the deceptive, misleading,
and fraudulent nature of their advertising, marketing, and promotional activities. Each purposefully
hid behind the KOLs and Front Group organizations to avoid regulatory scrutiny and to prevent
HCPs and the public from discounting their messages. And while each of them was also listed as
a sponsor in one or more of the deceptive publications cited herein, they never disclosed their role
in shaping, editing, and exerting final approval over those publications’ content.

813. Each Defendant fraudulently concealed from the State that statements and/or
omissions contained in its Applications to Engage in Controlled Substance Activity were false, in
order to ensure that it would be granted initial or renewal licenses allowing it to deal in controlled

substances in New York.
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Public Nuisance

(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

814. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

815. Residents of the State of New York enjoy common rights, including, without
limitation: (i) an honest and effective marketplace for healthcare treatment; (ii) the maintenance of
a well-regulated system for the manufacture, distribution, and sale of controlled substances for
medically-necessary purposes; (ii1) public safety and public order, unburdened by the introduction
of foreseeable dangers such as those caused by the over-prescription and oversupply of controlled
substances.

816. Each Defendant owed a duty to the public not to offend, interfere with, or cause
damage to such common rights through illegal actions and omissions in violation of applicable laws
and regulations.

817. Each Defendant engaged in such actions and omissions which offend, interfere
with, and/or cause damage to the public in the exercise of rights common to all in violation of said
duties, in a manner such as to endanger or injure the property, health, safety, or comfort of a
considerable number of persons in the State of New York, in the course of their manufacture,
promotion, marketing, and/or distribution of opioids.

818. Each Defendant knew, or should have foreseen, that its actions and omissions
would result in offense, interference, and/or damage to the public in the exercise of common rights.

819. The offense, interference, and/or damage to the public in the exercise of common

rights caused by Defendants’ collective actions and omissions remain unabated.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of State Finance Law § 189(1)(a)
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

820. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

821. Each Defendant caused third-party health care providers to present false claims for
payment of public money by Plaintiff, its political subdivisions, and/or their agents, in violation of
State Finance Law §189(1)(a) on multiple and continuous occasions over the past decade.

822. Specifically, in the course of presenting each claim for reimbursement of opioid
drugs prescribed to patients, HCPs made express and/or implied certifications that the opioid drug
prescriptions being reimbursed were medically necessary, and that the services and drugs in
question were otherwise provided in accordance with applicable State law, including, without
limitation, Public Health Law §§ 3300 et seq. (the New York Controlled Substances Act or
“NYCSA”).

823. Each Manufacturer Defendant, through its fraudulent marketing, caused HCPs to
present legally false certifications that prescriptions were medically necessary, when they were not.

824. Each Manufacturer Defendant and each Distributor Defendant, through its
violations of the NYCSA, caused HCPs to present legally and/or factually false certifications that
the opioid drug supplies being reimbursed had been supplied in compliance with the NYCSA.

825. The falsity of these claims was material, in that such falsity would have a natural
tendency to affect whether the State would determine that the claims would be deemed permissible.

826. At the time each Defendant caused these false claims to be presented by third-party

health care providers, it had actual knowledge and/or acted in deliberate ignorance of the truth or
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falsity of the information, and/or recklessly disregarded that they were causing those claims to be
legally and/or factually false.

827. As aresult of each Defendant causing such false claims to be submitted by HCPs
in violation of State Finance Law § 189(1)(a), Plaintiff suffered damages, including, without
limitation, the amount of the claims paid, and the consequential injuries resulting from patients’
receipt of improperly prescribed and/or supplied opioid drugs.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of State Finance Law § 189(1)(b)
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

828. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

829. Each Defendant has made false statements and/or records that were material to
claims presented by HCPs for payment of public money by Plaintiff, its political subdivisions,
and/or their agents, in violation of State Finance Law §189(1)(b) on multiple and continuous
occasions over the past decade.

830. Specifically, in the course of presenting each claim for reimbursement of opioid
drugs prescribed to patients, HCPs made express and/or implied certifications that the opioid drug
prescriptions being reimbursed were medically necessary, and that the services and drugs in
question were otherwise provided in accordance with applicable State law, including, without
limitation, Public Health Law §§ 3300 et seq. (the New York Controlled Substances Act or
“NYCSA”).

831. Each Manufacturer Defendant, in the course of its fraudulent marketing, made false
statements and/or records material to each claim presented by HCPs that asserted that prescriptions

were medically necessary, when they were not.

237

255 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

832. Each Manufacturer Defendant and each Distributor Defendant made false
statements and/or records concerning its compliance with the NYCSA that were material to each
claim presented by HCPs that certified that the supplies being reimbursed had been provided in
compliance with the NYCSA.

833. At the time each Defendant made these false statements, it had actual knowledge
and/or acted in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information, and/or recklessly
disregarded that they were causing those claims to be legally and/or factually false.

834. The falsity of these statements and/or records was material, in that such falsity
would have a natural tendency to affect whether the State would determine that the claims would
be deemed permissible.

835. Asaresult of each Defendant making such false statements and/or records material
to claims presented by third-party health care providers in violation of State Finance Law §
189(1)(a), Plaintiff suffered damages, including, without limitation, the amount of the claims paid,
and the consequential injuries resulting from patients’ receipt of improperly prescribed and/or
supplied opioid drugs.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of State Finance Law § 189(1)(c)
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

836. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

837. Each Defendant knowingly agreed, explicitly in communications exclusively in the
possession of Defendants, and/or implicitly as evidenced by the acts set forth above, that

collectively they would violate State Finance Law §§ 189(1)(a) and/or (b).
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838. Each Defendant committed at least one overt act in furtherance of this conspiracy,
as set forth above.

839. As a result of Defendants’ conspiracy to violate State Finance Law §§ 189(1)(a)
and/or (b), Plaintiff suffered has damages, including, without limitation, the amount of the claims
paid, and the consequential injuries resulting from patients’ receipt of improperly prescribed and/or
supplied opioid drugs.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of N.Y. Social Services Law § 145-b
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

840. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

841. [Each Defendant knowingly made one or more false statements and/or
representations, or deliberately concealed at least one material fact, or otherwise conducted a
fraudulent scheme or device, attempting to obtain or obtaining payment, on behalf of itself or others,
from public funds for services or supplies furnished or purportedly furnished pursuant to Chapter
55 of the Social Services Law, in violation of SSL § 145-b.

842. By reason of each Defendant’s violation(s) of SSL § 145-b, Plaintiff has been
damaged through the payments of public funds each such Defendant falsely induced the State of
New York and/or its local social services districts to make to third-party health care providers.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of N.Y. General Business Law § 349
(All Manufacturer Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

843.  Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the

paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.
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844. Each Manufacturer Defendant engaged in deceptive practices in the conduct of
business, trade and/or commerce in New York State, in violation of GBL § 349(a) in the course of
manufacturing, selling, distributing, promoting, and/or marketing opioid drugs, as set forth above.

845. The Attorney General timely provided each Manufacturer Defendant with the pre-
litigation notice required by GBL § 349(c).

846. Each Manufacturer Defendant has damaged Plaintiff and numerous other
individuals and entities resident in New York through its deceptive practices in violation of GBL §
349(a).

847. Each Manufacturer Defendant has wrongfully obtained money and/or property,
directly and/or indirectly, by these deceptive practices from Plaintiff and numerous other
individuals and entities resident in New York.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of N.Y. General Business Law § 350
(All Manufacturer Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

848. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

849. Each Manufacturer Defendant made representations and/or omissions of fact that
were materially misleading, and thereby made false advertisements in the conduct of business, trade
and/or commerce in New York State, in violation of GBL § 350, in the course of manufacturing,

selling, distributing, promoting, and/or marketing opioid drugs, as set forth above.
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850. The Attorney General timely provided each Manufacturer Defendant with the pre-
litigation notice required by GBL § 349(c).

851. Each Manufacturer Defendant has damaged Plaintiff and numerous other
individuals and entities resident in New York through its false advertisements in violation of GBL

§ 350.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of the New York Controlled Substance Act (Public Health Law §§ 3300 ef seq.)
(All Defendants except the Sackler Defendants)

852. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

853. Each Defendant is strictly liable for violating the NYCSA in each separate instance
in which it: (i) failed to maintain effective controls to prevent the diversion of controlled substances;
(i1) failed to report suspicious orders for controlled substances; (iii) failed to report actual or alleged
incidents of known or possible diversion of controlled substances; (iv) failed to provide truthful
statements in its licensing filings with New Y ork authorities; (v) and/or failed to notify New York
authorities when its actions and/or omissions caused it to violate the NYCSA.

854. In addition and/or in the alternative, each Defendant is strictly liable for violating
the NYCSA in each and every one of the instances in which it manufactured, sold, possessed,
transported and/or distributed opioids in New York, due to the ongoing nature of the above
violations, and/or its lack of a valid license to manufacture and/or distribute controlled substances
in New York.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Repeated and Persistent Fraud in Violation of N.Y. Executive Law § 63(12)
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)
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855. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

856. Each Defendant engaged in repeated and/or persistent fraud in violation of
Executive Law § 63(12) in the course of its manufacture, promotion, marketing, and/or distribution
of opioids in New York State.

857. Each Manufacturer Defendant engaged in repeated and/or persistent fraud in
violation of Executive Law § 63(12) through its: (i) fraudulent scheme to promote and market
opioids described above; and/or (ii) false statements and/or omissions to the State on each of its
Applications to Engage in a Controlled Substance Activity.

858.  Each Distributor Defendant engaged in repeated and/or persistent fraud in violation
of Executive Law § 63(12) through its false statements and/or omissions to the State on each of its
Applications to Engage in a Controlled Substance Activity.

859. Each Defendant damaged Plaintiff and numerous other individuals and entities
resident in New York, and obtained ill-gotten profits, through its repeated and persistent fraud in
violation of Executive Law § 63(12).

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Repeated and Persistent Illegality in Violation of N.Y. Executive Law § 63(12)
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

860. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

861. Each Defendant engaged in repeated and/or persistent illegality in violation of
Executive Law § 63(12) in the course of its manufacture, promotion, marketing, and/or distribution

of opioids in New York State.
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862. Each Manufacturer Defendant engaged in repeated and/or persistent illegality in
violation of Executive Law § 63(12) through its violations of: (i) State Finance Law § 189; (i1)
Social Services Law § 145-b; (iii) General Business Law § 349; (iv) General Business Law § 350;
and/or (v) Public Health Law §§ 3300 et seq. (the New York Controlled Substances Act or
“NYCSA”).

863. Each Distributor Defendant engaged in repeated and/or persistent illegality in
violation of Executive Law § 63(12) through its violations of: (i) State Finance Law § 189; (i1)
Social Services Law § 145-b; and/or (iii) Public Health Law §§ 3300 et seq. (the New York
Controlled Substances Act or “NYCSA”).

864. Each Defendant damaged Plaintiff and numerous other individuals and entities
resident in New York, and obtained ill-gotten profits, through its repeated and persistent illegality
in violation of Executive Law § 63(12).

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Common-Law Fraud
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

865. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

866. Each Defendant knowingly made material misrepresentations and/or omissions of
facts to Plaintiff, its agents and employees, and third parties, in order to induce them to license them
to do business, and/or purchase, administer, and consume opioids, as set forth in detail above.

867. Each Defendant knew at the time that it made these misrepresentations and/or
omissions that they were false, or alternatively, recklessly disregarded their falsity.

868. Each Defendant intended that Plaintiff, HCP’s, patients, and/or others would rely

on its misrepresentations and/or omissions.
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869. Numerous agents of Plaintiff, as well as HCPs, patients, and others did in fact
reasonably rely upon each Defendant’s misrepresentations and/or omissions.
870. By reason of their reliance on each Defendant’s misrepresentations and omissions
of material fact, Plaintiff suffered direct and consequential economic injuries.
871. Each Defendant’s fraudulent conduct was egregious, directed at the public
generally, and involved a high degree of moral culpability.
TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Common-Law Gross Negligence
(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

872. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

873. Each Defendant had a duty of care to Plaintiff and residents of New York to conduct
its business of manufacturing, promoting, marketing, and/or distributing opioids in compliance with
applicable State law.

874. Each of the Defendants breached its duties through its false and misleading
statements and omissions, and/or its violations of the New York Controlled Substances Act, in the
course of its manufacture, distribution, sale, and/or marketing of opioid drugs within the State.

875. As a foreseeable consequence of each Defendant’s breaches of its duties, Plaintiff
suffered direct and consequential economic injuries.

876. Each Defendant’s breaches of its duties involved an indifference to duty amounting
to recklessness and actions outside the bounds of reason, so as to constitute gross negligence.

877. Each Defendant’s gross negligence was egregious, directed at the public generally,
and involved a high degree of moral culpability.

THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Common-Law Willful Misconduct
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(All Defendants except the Sackler Entities)

878. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

879. Each Defendant committed intentional acts of an unreasonable character in
disregard of known or obvious risks so great as to make it highly probable that harm would result
in the course of its manufacture, distribution, sale, and/or marketing of opioid drugs within the
State.

880. As a consequence of each such intentional act, Plaintiff suffered direct and
consequential economic injuries.

881. Each Defendant’s willful misconduct was egregious, directed at the public
generally, and involved a high degree of moral culpability.

FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Unjust Enrichment
(All Defendants)

882.  Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

883.  As an expected and intended result of each Defendants’ conscious and continuing
wrongdoing, each has unjustly enriched itself at Plaintiff’s expense.

884. It is against equity and good conscience to permit Defendants to retain the benefits
they received as a result of its wrongful and continuing acts, practices, and omissions.

FIFTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Intentionally Fraudulent Conveyances

in Violation of Debtor and Creditor Law § 276
(Purdue and Sackler Defendants)

885. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the

paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

245

263 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

886. Plaintiff’s litigation against Purdue constitutes a claim against Purdue rendering the
State a creditor of Purdue within the meaning of DCL § 270.

887.  All of the transfers of assets from Purdue to the Sackler Defendants described above
constituted conveyances, and were made with actual intent to hinder delay, and/or defraud present
and/or future creditors of Purdue, including the State.

888.  Accordingly, pursuant to DCL §§ 276, 276-a, and 279, Plaintiff is entitled to a
judgment: (a) restraining all of the Sackler Defendants from disposing of any property; (b) setting
aside the transfers of Purdue assets and profits to the Sackler Defendants; and (c) ordering
defendants to return the assets transferred or equivalent value, together with an award of reasonable
attorney’s fees.

SIXTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Constructively Fraudulent Conveyances

in Violation of Debtor and Creditor Law §§ 273, 273-a, 274, and/or 275
(Purdue and Sackler Defendants)

889. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

890. Plaintiff’s litigation against the Purdue constitutes a claim against Purdue rendering
the State a creditor of Purdue within the meaning of DCL § 270.

891. All of the transfers of assets from Purdue to the Sackler Defendants described above
constituted conveyances, and were made without fair consideration.

892. At the time those conveyances were made, Purdue: (a) was insolvent or would
thereby be rendered insolvent; (b) was a defendant in an action for money damages brought by
Plaintiff; (c) was engaged or about to engage in a business or transaction for which the property
remaining in its hands after the conveyance was an unreasonably small capital; and/or (d) intended

or believed that it would incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they matured.

246

264 of 269



[FTCED._SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 037287 2019 09: 23 AV | NDEX NO. 400016/ 2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 15 RECEI VED NYSCEF: 03/28/2019

893.  In addition and/or in the alternative, those conveyances were made at a time when
Purdue was insolvent, nearing insolvency or such conveyances rendered the company insolvent
because Purdue’s conduct relating to the sale and marketing of Purdue’s opioids was fraudulent
from day one; at no point did Purdue and the Sacklers conduct their business within the boundaries
of the law.

894. The distributions of Purdue’s opioids profits left Purdue with unreasonably small
capital to pay off its certain creditors in the opioids litigation, including plaintiff New York State.

895.  Accordingly, pursuant to DCL §§ 273, 273-a, 274, 275, and 279, Plaintiff is entitled
to a judgment: (a) restraining all of the Sackler Defendants from disposing of any property; and (b)
setting aside the transfers of Purdue assets to the Sackler Defendants; and (c) ordering defendants
to return the assets transferred or equivalent value, together with an award of reasonable attorney’s
fees.

SEVENTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Declaratory Judgment Pursuant to CPLR § 3301
(All Defendants Except Janssen and the Sackler Defendants)

896. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation in the
paragraphs above as if the same were fully set forth herein.

897.  Plaintiff seeks relief under CLPR § 3301 in order to declare and settle the rights
and obligations of the parties.

898. Each Defendant, except for Janssen, obtained one or more initial and/or renewal
licenses from the New York State Department of Health, which authorized it to manufacture,

distribute, import, and/or export controlled substances within, into, and/or from the State.
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899. Each such Defendant procured each such initial and/or renewal license under false
pretenses through false and/or misleading statements and/or omissions contained in each such
Defendant’s Applications to Engage in a Controlled Substance Activity, as set forth above.

900. As a result, Plaintiff seeks a judgment declaring that each of such Defendant’s
licenses to manufacture, distribute, import, and/or export controlled substances within, into, or from

the State was void ab initio.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, The People of the State of New York, respectfully requests that

a judgment and order be entered that:

1.

Directs the Defendants jointly and severally to endow an abatement fund with sufficient
capital to eliminate the public nuisance they are responsible for creating, exacerbating,
and/or perpetuating;

Enjoins each Defendant, pursuant to Executive Law § 63(12):

a. From manufacturing, distributing, selling, or marketing opioids within the State
unless it complies with heightened, independently-monitored safeguards against the
recurrence of its fraudulent, illegal, and/or unlawful practices, which are to be set
forth in a compliance plan reviewed and approved by Plaintiff and the Court; and

b. To issue public corrective statements regarding their false and misleading public
statements and omissions;

Awards Plaintiff, pursuant to State Finance Law § 189:

a. Treble damages, including consequential damages, caused by each Defendant’s
violations of that statute, in an amount to be determined at trial; and

b. Civil penalties from each Defendant in the amount of $12,000 for each separate
instance in which it violated that statute;

Awards Plaintiff, pursuant to Social Services Law § 145-b, treble damages caused by each
Defendant’s violations of that statute, in an amount to be determined at trial;

Awards Plaintiff, pursuant to General Business Law § 350-d, civil penalties from each
Manufacturer Defendant in the amount of $5,000 for each separate instance in which it
employed a deceptive or unlawful act or practice in violation of GBL Article 22-A;

Awards Plaintiff, pursuant to General Business Law § 349-c, additional civil penalties from
each Manufacturer Defendant in the amount of $10,000 for each such violation of GBL
Article 22-A it perpetrated against the elderly;

Awards Plaintiff, pursuant to Public Health Law § 12(1), civil penalties from each
Defendant for each separate instance in which it violated the New York Controlled
Substance Act, Public Health Law §§ 3300 ef seq., in the amount of:

a. $2,000 for every such violation;

b. $5,000 for every subsequent instance of the same violation within twelve months of
the first, in instances where the violations were a serious threat to the health and safety
of an individual or individuals; and

c. $10,000 for every violation that directly resulted in serious physical harm to any
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patient or patients.

8.  Awards Plaintiff, pursuant to common law:

a. Direct and consequential damages from each Defendant caused by its fraud, gross
negligence, and/or willful misconduct, in an amount to be determined at trial;

b. Punitive damages from each Defendant on account of the egregiousness, publicly-
directed nature, and high moral culpability of its fraud, gross negligence, and/or
willful misconduct, in an amount to be determined at trial; and

c. Equitable disgorgement from each Defendant of all benefits it wrongfully received.

9.  Directs each Defendant, pursuant to Executive Law § 63(12), to:

a. Pay restitution and damages for its fraudulent and/or illegal practices that violated
that statute and caused compensable injuries to Plaintiff or any other person; and

b. Disgorge all profits it wrongfully obtained as a result of its fraudulent and/or illegal
practices in violation of that statute;

10. Directs each Manufacturer Defendant, pursuant to General Business Law § 349, to pay
restitution of all money or property it directly or indirectly obtained by its unlawful acts or
practices in violation of that statute;

11. Requires, pursuant to Debtor and Creditor Law §§ 273, 273-a, 274, 275, 276 and 279, that:

a. The Sackler Defendants refrain from disposing of any property; and

b. The Sackler Defendants to return the assets transferred or equivalent value.

c. All fraudulent conveyances of any Purdue assets to the Sackler Defendants be set
aside; and

d. Purdue and the Sackler Defendants jointly and severally pay Plaintiff its reasonable
attorneys’ fees relating to any fraudulent conveyances from Purdue to the Sackler
Defendants.

12. Declares that each license each Defendant obtained to manufacture, distribute, import
and/or export controlled substances within, into, and/or from the State was void ab initio
on the grounds that each such license was procured under false pretenses through false
and/or misleading statements and/or omissions contained in each such Defendant’s
Applications to Engage in a Controlled Substance Activity;

13. Awards Plaintiff its costs; and

14. Grants such other relief the Court may deem just.
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